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Agenda

Agenda of the Ordinary General Meeting

1

2.

10.

11.

12.

13.

To approve the minutes of the past AGM of the Bank dated 21 March 2021.

To consider and acknowledge the Report of the Auditors concerning the Consolidated Financial
Statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

To discuss and approve the Report of the Board of Directors about the activities of the Bank for the
financial year ended 31 December 2021.

To discuss and approve the Consolidated Financial Statements for the financial year ended
31 December 2021

To approve the recommendation of the Board of Directors for the appropriation of profits for the
financial year ended 31 December 2021 as follows:

5.1 The transfer of US$9.96 million to the legal reserve.

5.2 Cash payment of 1% dividend or US$0.01 cent for each outstanding share (net of treasury shares)
for approximately a total of US$31 million. The Cum-Dividend Date is 24 March 2022, Ex-Dividend
Date is 27 March 2022, Record Date is 28 March 2022, Payment Date is 11 April 2022.

5.3 Transfer of the remaining balance of approximately U5$58.67 million to the retained earnings.

To discuss and approve the Corporate Governance Report for the year 2021, as per the Central Bank
of Bahrain requirements.

Update on the remuneration of the Members of the Board of Directors for the year 2021.
To absolve the Directors from liability for the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

Subject to the approval of the Central Bank of Bahrain, to re-appoint Messrs Ernst & Young as
auditors of the Bank for the financial year ending 31 December 2022, and to authorise the Board of
Directors to fix their remuneration.

To ratify the appointment of Ms. Huda Al Mousa (Kuwait Investment Authority’s representative) to
the Board of Directors of the Bank.

To elect Members for the Board of Directors on its Fourteenth Term for a new three-year term.

Update on related party transactions pursuant to Article 189 (c) of the Commercial Companies Law
and as set out in note 27 of the Consolidated Financial Statements for the financial year ended
31 December 2021.

Any other business under article 207 of the Commercial Companies Law.



Agenda of the Extraordinary General Meeting
1. Amending of the Articles of Association of Bank ABC

11 to approve the amendment of Articles 39 (a) and 42 (c) of the Articles of Association of Bank ABC,
subject to the approval of the Ministry of Industry, Commerce and Tourism and the Central Bank
of Bahrain to read as follows:

Article 39 (a)

Invitations to attend the ordinary and extraordinary general meetings shall be sent to
shareholders together with an agenda at least twenty-one (21) days before the date of any
such meeting.

Article 42 ()

General meetings shall generally be held physically. General meetings shall also be held by
electronic means, and participation in such meetings can be in person with the possibility of
remote attendance, except in cases where the general meeting is held completely remotely

and voting in the general meeting shall be electronically, taking into account the conditions and
requirements issued by the Ministry of Industry, Commerce and Tourism in this regard, or voting
shall be in the manner determined by the chairman of the meeting, unless the general meeting
includes items which require some particular form of voting.

1.2 to authorise and empower the Group Chief Executive Officer of Bank ABC or his delegates to
take the necessary action, to effect the amendment of Articles 39 (a) and 42 (c) of the Articles of
Association of Bank ABC.

2. Completion of the AT1 Capital Securities Issuance (Central Bank of Libya will abstain from voting on
this item)

2.1 to approve the issuance of convertible perpetual tier 1 capital securities in accordance with CA-2.1
(requlatory capital) of the Capital Adequacy Module of Volume 1 of the CBB Rulebook (“Capital
Securities”) of up to three hundred and ninety million United States Dollars (USD390,000,000)
that will be fully subscribed by the Central Bank of Libya, and authorise the Board of Directors of
Bank ABC to take the necessary decisions regarding the profit/interest/coupon rate and issuance
value, in addition to carrying out the procedures and requirements in this regard, subject to
Central Bank of Bahrain's approval.



Agenda

2.2 to approve: (a8) the waiver of the shareholders’ pre-emptive rights to subscribe to the Capital
Securities pursuant to Article 150 of Law No. 21 of 2001 promulgating the commercial companies
law, as amended (“Companies Law"); and (b) in the event that the Capital Securities are to be
converted into shares of the Bank pursuant to the terms of such Capital Securities, the waiver of
the pre-emptive rights under Article 128 of the Companies Law to subscribe to such shares and to
approve the issuance of such shares to the subscribers of the Capital Securities.

2.3 to approve, empower and authorise the Group Chief Executive Officer of Bank ABC (or his
delegates) to:

(a) take necessary actions related to the issuance of the Capital Securities on behalf of Bank ABC;
and

(b) to neqgotiate, approve and sign in the name of Bank ABC whenever requisite or expedient in
any such documents required to issue or authorise the issuance including signing and/or
notarising (as applicable) any documents relating to any issuance including but not limited to

(i) agency agreement;
(i) subscription agreement; and
(iii) global certificate,

and/or any powers of attorney and any documents whatsoever and generally to do each and
every such act, matter or thing as required to achieve all the above.

3. Increase the Authorised Capital

3.1 to approve the increase in the authorised capital of Bank ABC from three billion five hundred
million United States Dollars (“USD” or “Dollar(s)”) (USD3,500,000,000) to USD4,500,000,000,
subject to the approval of the Central Bank of Bahrain.

3.2 to authorise and empower the Group Chief Executive Officer of Bank ABC or his delegates to take
the necessary action, to effect the amendment of the Memorandum and Articles of Association to
increase the authorised capital, subject to the approval of the Central Bank of Bahrain.



Agenda

Important notice to shareholders

Shareholders whose names are registered in the Bank’s share register on the date of the meetings
are entitled to attend the AGM/EGM or to appoint a proxy to attend and vote on the Shareholder’s
behalf, provided that such proxy is not the chairman, a director, or an employee of the Bank.

If a Shareholder is an institutional shareholder, the representative attending the meetings must
submit a letter of authorisation from the institutional shareholder, signed by an authorised signatory
of the company. The proxy must be sealed by the institutional Shareholder’s stamp.

Shareholders and proxy holders attending the virtual AGM/EGM are required to register through
(http://agm.bank-abc.com), at least 24 hours before the meetings.

Proxy forms can be obtained from the Bank's website www.bank-abc.com, Bahrain Bourse's website:
www.bahrainbourse.com, or from Bank ABC Head Office in Diplomatic Area in Manama.

Proxy forms should be submitted at least 24 hours prior to the meetings to Bank ABC’s
registrar, Kfin Technologies W.L.L. PO Box 514, Manama, Bahrain, or by email to
ShareholderRelations@bank-abc.com. Proxy forms submitted after the deadline will be
considered void and will not be accepted.

The documents relating to the meetings can be obtained from the Bank’s website:
www.bank-abc.com and Bahrain Bourse's website: www.bahrainbourse.com.

For any inquiries, you may contact the Shareholders Relations on +973 17543 222 or email
ShareholderRelations@bank-abc.com.
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On behalf of the Directors of the Bank ABC
Group, it is my pleasure to submit the Directors’
report for 2021 to the shareholders. It highlights
the Bank’s achievements and consolidated
financial performance during this year and
outlines the strategic direction for year 2022.

2021 has been a historic year, full of exceptional
achievements for Bank ABC. Overcoming the
continued disruptions across our industry and
markets, the Group successfully delivered on
our commitments to our shareholders, and
customers, making significant progress toward
our strategic ambitions by expanding in our
core markets and accelerating our digital
transformation journeuy.

Throughout 2021, while social and travel
restrictions continued to impact the banking
industry in Bahrain and around the world,
economic activity started picking up from the
recession of 2020. Global trade rebounded
sharply but remained weighted by supply chain
bottlenecks. As we progressed through 2021
and into 2022, accommodative monetary policy
conditions and economic support measures have
continued, which have contributed to surging
inflation coupled with abundant liquidity. In
response, many emerging markets have already
been forced to raise interest rates, and the US

Fed has bequn tapering its asset purchases prior
to anticipated interest rate hikes in 2022, with
this approach being mirrored by other developed
market central banks. In our core GCC markets,
although the recovery was initially slow owing to
depressed oil prices, a significant improvement in
outlook was observed as prices rose, although its
benefits are yet to be felt in larger economies due
to the constraints related to the Omicron variant.

In the face of these continuing market challenges,
the Bank ABC Group delivered remarkable
performance with more normalised levels of cost
of risk. We refocused our strateqgic priorities on
accelerating our digital agenda, widening the
capabilities and footprint of our digital mobile-
only bank ila and future-proofing our wholesale
bank. We successfully completed the historic
acquisition of BLOM Bank Egupt, expanding in a
core market with some of the best fundamental
growth prospects in the region. Our emphasis
on organisational resilience in the post pandemic
era continued unabated, as we strengthened
the Group’s operational, risk and financial
management disciplines, while we also improved
governance, commitments to sustainability

and received great recognition for the Group’s
achievements across multiple activities

and markets.



Delivering solid results

We are extremely proud of our financial
performance during 2021 in the face of market
headwinds. This has seen the Group deliver
exemplary results after a very challenging 2020,
which was marred by higher provision levels due
to regional fraud events. We resumed our growth
trajectory through the execution and acceleration
of our strategy, demonstrating its robustness
and the resilience of the Bank as a whole.

We delivered net profit attributable to
shareholders of US$100 million, with cost of

risk reverting towards pre-pandemic levels.
Consequently, earnings per share for 2021 stood
at US$0.03, with a cash dividend of US$0.01 (31%
of profits) being recommended by the Board.

Delivering on our strategic objectives

Whilst the challenges posed by the pandemic
remain, we continue to make steady progress
towards our long-term goals. We refocused

our priorities and refreshed our objectives,
accelerating execution on our pillars of ‘lnorganic
growth’, ‘Digital Transformation’, ‘Wholesale
Banking’ and ‘Organisational Resilience’.

Inorganic growth - Acquisition of BLOM Bank
Egypt

One of the most significant events of 2021 was
the completion on 11 August of our acquisition
of @ 99.5% stake in BLOM Bank Egypt. This not
only represents a key moment in our journey of
business expansion, but also demonstrates the
Group’s sound strategic planning, efficiency and
commercial acumen. The acquisition provides
Bank ABC with accretive earnings in a constrained
economic environment, whilst also diversifying
our income sources. With a population of over
100 million people, Eqypt remains a relatively
underbanked market in the MENA region, with
strong industry fundamentals. With the merger
of BLOM Bank and our existing ABC Egypt
franchise, we will create an exceptional strategic
platform to deepen our market share in Eqypt
and capitalise on the considerable opportunities
for future growth.

Digital Transformation: “Building the bank of
the future”

Recognising the increase in demand for digital
banking and payments fuelled by the COVID-19
crisis, we prioritised our digitisation programme,
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resulting in the launch of a fully digital client
onboarding for Corporates and Financial
Institutions and a new Supply Chain Finance
platform. In addition, our digital mobile-only
proposition, ila, continued to shine brightly,
gaining momentum towards its upcoming launch
into other MENA markets, with significant
groundwork already in place to launch in Jordan
in Q2 2022.

In a first of its kind pilot, the Bank, in collaboration
with various stakeholders and under the
leadership of the Central Bank of Bahrain,
facilitated seamless cross-border payments
using our APl interface together with JP Morgan’s
blockchain platform technology. This was tested
using US Dollar; moving forward this technology
will allow us to expand our existing offering and
introduce more currencies.

Innovation remains the driving force of all our
initiatives, as can be seen from the multiple
initiatives undertaken and the awards that Bank
ABC has received as outlined below.

Wholesale Banking

While we take major leaps in our Wholesale
banking digital transformation programme,

the Bank is also continuing our corporate client
growth aspirations, albeit modifying our risk
appetite for a post-COVID landscape. We remain

a client-centric internationally networked bank
and will focus on providing exceptional levels of
customer service as our digital capabilities further
develop and enhance our value proposition.

Organisational Resilience

During 2021, with pandemic conditions still
prevalent, the Group maintained its emphasis

on promoting a culture of operational resilience
through its business continuity, agile and remote
work-force planning. Effective credit, market
and operational risk management policies and
procedures were further tightened, while the
longstanding strength of Bank ABC's capital and
liquidity ratios was maintained . Contingency
planning continued actively to ensure an effective
response to any disruptions to our customers,
and that the soundness of our business and
balance sheet will be preserved.

Governance

Governance is another key strength of Bank ABC,
and 2021 witnessed another historic milestone for
the Bank.

In line with our Diversity & Inclusion agenda, and
fostering greater equality and representation
across the Bank, the Group appointed its first
ever female Board Member, Ms. Huda Al Mousa.
She represents the Kuwait Investment Authority
and brings a wealth of knowledge and experience
to Bank ABC’s Board of Directors. We also
welcomed Ms. Bayone Sisombat, an independent
non-executive director on the Board of ABC SA.

Commitment to sustainability

Our Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG)
initiatives continue to build in scale and scope, as
we work to develop a platform that positions the
Group at the forefront of the evolving sustainable
banking landscape. Led by our Group CEQ,
together with senior management from across
the Group including key international units, a
working group has been established to drive a
comprehensive approach for the Bank’s

ESG activities.



Following the steps already taken on ESG
including its inclusion in the Bank’s risk appetite
in 2020, the Group is currently developing a

more progressive ESG strategy to quide the
approach going forward. This is being driven by a
deep institutional commitment to environmental
stewardship aligned with the goals and objectives
of the international community embodied in

the Paris Agreement and the UN Sustainable
Development Goals.

Bank ABC has therefore committed to a net
zero target by 2030 for emissions from our
scope 1 and 2 activities. For scope 3 activities

we have adopted a robust approach to the
identification, assessment, management and
reporting of climate change-related risks, having
already codified the climate change risk profile
of the Bank’s lending portfolio and completed
the individual assessments of our largest
counterparties.

Awards and recognition

As a result of our exceptional strategic progress
and achievements during this year, the Bank was
recognised for a number of prestigious awards,
including ‘Best Innovation Lab’, ‘Best Consumer
Digital Bank’ and ‘Best Digital Banking App’ for
i3, at the Global Finance Innovators Awards;
‘Best Bank in Trade Finance Bahrain’ at the GTR
Leaders in Trade Awards; and ‘Most Innovative
Digital Onboarding Roll-out’ at the ISBi Global
Fintech Innovation Awards. We also won the
Global Finance, Best Bank for Treasury and Cash
Management, Bahrain & Tunisia and the Fastest
Growing Cash Management Bank in MENA by

Directors’ Report

Global Banking & Finance Review. We are also
proud to be listed among the ‘Top 50 Banks in the
Middle East’ by Forbes Middle East.

Outlook 2022

We have much to be proud of as we enter 2022
with great confidence and ambition. Qur strong
performance, diverse achievements and clear
strateqic direction provide a robust foundation for
our future growth. Whilst we remain prudent, we
are well placed to benefit from the opportunities
that will arise as business sentiments improve.

On behalf of the Board, | wish to express our
sincere thanks to our home regulator, the Central
Bank of Bahrain, as well as to our principal
shareholders, the Central Bank of Libya and

the Kuwait Investment Authority for their
continued support.

| am also grateful to our management for their
prudent and proactive oversight during 2021,
and to our hard-working employees across the
Group, whose dedicated efforts have served to
overcome the unprecedented challenges and
deliver a highly successful year.

Board of directors’ remuneration details:

The aggregate remuneration paid to Board
members in 2021 amounted to US$1,382,000
(2020: US$1,479,240), which is paid in accordance
with the Directors’ Remuneration Policy adopted
by the Annual General Meeting on 21 March 2021
as follows:
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Fixed remunerations

Total
allowance for
attending
Remunerations Board and
of the chairman committee Others
Name and BOD meetings Retainer (Allowances) Total
First: Independent Directors:
Dr. Anwar Al Mudhaf - 21,000 145,000 - 166,000
Mr. Bashir Omer - 22,500 140,000 - 162,500
Dr. Farouk El Okdah - 12,000 120,000 - 132,000
Dr. Yousef Al Awadi - 24,000 155,000 - 179,000
Second: Non-Executive Directors:
Mr. Saddek Omar El Kaber - 10,500 150,000 - 160,500
Mr. Mohammad Saleem - 16,500 140,000 156,500
Mr. Ali Al Ashhab - 18,000 115,000 - 133,000
Mr. Khaled Al Hassoun - 10,500 65,000 - 75,500
Dr. Tarik Yousef - 21,000 135,000 - 156,000
Ms. Huda Al Mousa - 6,000 55,000 - 61,000
Total - 162,000 1,220,000 - 1,382,000

Note:

The aggregate remuneration paid to the members of the Remuneration Committee with respect to their
membership of such committee for the year 2021 was US$20,000, which sum is included in the Retainer fee
(2020: US$20,000).

No Director owned or traded Bank ABC shares in 2021.



Executive management remuneration details:

Directors’ Report

Any other
Total paid Total paid cash/ in kind
salaries and remuneration  remuneration  Aggregate
Executive management allowances (Bonus) for 2021 Amount
Remunerations of top 6
executives, including CEQO and 6,210,217 175,789 - 6,386,006

Head of Finance & Administration

Note: All amounts stated are in US Dollar

Saddek Omar El Kaber
Chairman
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
ARAB BANKING CORPORATION (B.S.C.)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)
(“the Bank”) and its subsidiaries (together “the Group”), which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021 and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of cash flows
and consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021, and its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs), as modified by the Central
Bank of Bahrain ("CBB").

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 'Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements' section of our report. We are independent of
the Group in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(including International Independence Standards) (“IESBA Code”) together with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the Kingdom of Bahrain,
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and
the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2021. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the
matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the 'Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements' section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The
results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matter below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
ARAB BANKING CORPORATION (B.S.C.) (continued)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Key audit matters (continued)

Impairment provision for loans and advances

Description of key audit matter

How the key audit matter was addressed in
the audit

The process for estimating the impairment
provision on loans and advances in
accordance with IFRS 9 Financial instruments
(IFRS 9) is a significant and complex area.
IFRS 9 requires use of expected credit loss
("ECL") models for the purposes of calculating
impairment loss. The ECL model requires the
Group to exercise significant judgement using
subjective assumptions when determining
both the timing and the amounts of ECL for
loans and advances.

The Covid-19 global pandemic has
significantly impacted management’s
determination of ECL due to the fact that it
has required application of significant
judgements resulting in higher uncertainty of
ECL estimates as well as forward-looking
macroeconomic inputs. This may result in
material changes to the estimates of ECL for
Stage 1 and 2 in future periods.

Our approach included testing the controls
associated with the relevant processes for
estimating ECL and performing substantive

procedures on such estimates. Our
procedures, among others, focused on
following:

e We assessed:

- the compliance of Group’s IFRS 9 based
impairment provisioning policy including the
significant increase in credit risk criteria with
the requirements of IFRS 9 and regulatory
guidelines issued with respect to Covid-19;

- the Group’s ECL modelling techniques and
methodology against the requirements of
IFRS 9 incorporating consideration of Covid-
19 impacts;

- the basis of determination of any
management overlays applied by the Group
to incorporate the effects of the Covid-19
global pandemic on its modelled ECL
outcome;

- the theoretical soundness and tested the
mathematical integrity of the models.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
ARAB BANKING CORPORATION (B.S.C.) (continued)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Key audit matters (continued)

Impairment provision for loans and advances (continued)

Description of key audit matter

How the key audit matter was addressed in
the audit

In order to capture the future uncertainties
and related impacts arising due to effects of
uneven global economic recovery which were
not captured by the modelled ECL, the Group
has applied their expert judgement with
respect to: a) wuse of appropriate
macroeconomics factors; and b)
determination of significant increase in credit
risk and consequent staging of customers
with special emphasis on customers severely
affected by Covid-19.

Because of the complexity of the
requirements under IFRS 9, the significance
of the judgements applied, the high degree of
estimation uncertainty arising due to Covid-19
and the Group’s exposure to loans and
advances forming a major portion of the
Group’s assets, the audit of ECL is a key area
of focus.

e We obtained an understanding of the design
and tested the operating effectiveness of
relevant controls over the ECL models,
including approvals for any changes to the

models, ongoing monitoring / validation,
model governance and mathematical
accuracy. We have also tested the

completeness and accuracy of the data used
and evaluated the reasonableness of the
management assumptions.

e We understood and assessed the
significant modelling  assumptions  for
exposures as well as overlays incorporating
the consideration of Covid-19 impacts with a
focus on:

- Key modelling assumptions adopted by the
Group; and

- Basis for and data used to determine
overlays.




EY

Building a better
working world

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
ARAB BANKING CORPORATION (B.S.C.) (continued)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Key audit matters (continued)

Impairment provision for loans and advances (continued)

Description of key audit matter

How the key audit matter was addressed in
the audit

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s gross
loans and advances amounted to US$ 17,459
million and the related ECL amounted to US$
691 million, comprising US$ 198 million of
ECL against Stage 1 and 2 exposures and
US$ 493 million against exposures classified
under Stage 3.

The basis of calculation of ECL is presented
in the summary of significant accounting
policies and note 24 to the consolidated
financial statements. Refer to the significant
accounting judgements, estimates and
assumptions, disclosures of loans and
advances and credit risk in notes 4, 9 and 24
to the consolidated financial statements.

e For a sample of exposures, we performed
procedures to evaluate:

- Appropriateness of exposure at default,
probability of default and loss given default
(including collateral values used) in the
calculation of ECL;

- Timely identification of exposures with a
significant increase in credit risk and
appropriateness of the Group’s staging
keeping in view the long term effects of Covid-
19 on customers severely affected by it; and
- The ECL calculation.

e For forward looking information used by the
Group’s management in its ECL calculations,
we held discussions with management and
checked internal approvals by management
for the economic outlook used for purposes of
calculating ECL;

e We considered the adequacy of the
disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements in relation to impairment of loans
and advances as required under IFRS as
modified by the CBB.

We also involved our specialists in performing
the above procedures.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
ARAB BANKING CORPORATION (B.S.C.) (continued)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Other information included in the Group’s 2021 annual report

Other information consists of the information included in the Group’s 2021 annual report, other
than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The Board of
Directors is responsible for the other information. Prior to the date of this auditors’ report, we
obtained the Directors report which forms part of the annual report, and the remaining sections
of the annual report are expected to be made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read
the other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of
the auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors for the consolidated financial statements

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with IFRSs as modified by the CBB and for such internal
control as the Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error. In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and
to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
ARAB BANKING CORPORATION (B.S.C.) (continued)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued)
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board of Directors.

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
ARAB BANKING CORPORATION (B.S.C.) (continued)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued)

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

As required by the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law and (Volume 1) of the Central Bank of
Bahrain (CBB) Rule Book, we report that:

a) the Bank has maintained proper accounting records and the consolidated financial
statements are in agreement therewith;

b) the financial information contained in the Directors report is consistent with the
consolidated financial statements;

c) we are not aware of any violations of the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law, the
Central Bank of Bahrain and Financial Institutions Law, the CBB Rule Book (Volume 1
and applicable provisions of Volume 6) and CBB directives, regulations and associated
resolutions, rules and procedures of the Bahrain Bourse or the terms of the Bank’s
memorandum and articles of association during the year ended 31 December 2021 that
might have had a material adverse effect on the business of the Bank or on its
consolidated financial position; and
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
ARAB BANKING CORPORATION (B.S.C.) (continued)
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements (continued)

d) satisfactory explanations and information have been provided to us by management in
response to all our requests.

The partner in charge of the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Kazim
Merchant.

St ¢

Partner's registration no: 244
13 February 2022
Manama, Kingdom of Bahrain
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Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

31 December 2021
All figures in US$ Million

Note 2021 2020

ASSETS
Liquid funds 6 2,626 1,752
Trading securities 7 902 171
Placements with banks and other financial institutions 3,031 1,803
Securities bought under repurchase agreements 26 698 1,823
Non-trading investments 8 8,350 6,696
Loans and advances 9 16,768 15,656
Other assets 11 2,213 2,305
Premises and equipment 309 201
TOTAL ASSETS 34,897 30,407
LIABILITIES
Deposits from customers 20,734 17,173
Deposits from banks 4,388 3,596
Certificates of deposit 725 494
Securities sold under repurchase agreements 26 2,011 1,151
Taxation 12 79 80
Other liabilities 13 1,514 1,974
Borrowings 14 1,211 1,795
Total liabilities 30,662 26,263
EQUITY
Share capital 15 3,110 3,110
Treasury shares (6) 6)
Statutory reserve 530 520
Retained earnings 1,055 965
Other reserves (817) (822)
EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

THE PARENT 3,872 3,767
Non-controlling interests 363 377
Total equity 4,235 4,144
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 34,897 30,407

The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 13 February 2022
and signed on their behalf by the Chairman, Deputy Chairman and the Group Chief Executive Officer.

LD

Saddek El Kaber Mohammad Abdulredha Saleem Khaled Kawan
Chairman Deputy Chairman Group Chief Executive Officer

The attached notes 1 to 35 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

Year ended 31 December 2021

OPERATING INCOME

Interest and similar income
Interest and similar expense

Net interest income

Other operating income

Total operating income
OPERATING EXPENSES

Staff
Premises and equipment
Other

Total operating expenses

NET OPERATING PROFIT BEFORE
CREDIT LOSS EXPENSE AND TAXATION

Credit loss expense

PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION

Taxation on foreign operations

PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

Profit attributable to non-controlling interests

PROFIT (LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE SHAREHOLDERS
OF THE PARENT

BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE
(EXPRESSED IN USS$)

Note

16
17

18

10

12

31

All figures in US$ Million

2021 2020
1,256 1,175
(664) (659)
592 516
262 130
854 646
347 291
49 43
173 152
569 486
285 160
(106) (329)
179 (169)
(51) 94
128 (75)
(28) (14)
100 (89)
0.03 (0.03)

Saddek El Kaber Mohammad Abdulredha Saleem
Chairman Deputy Chairman

Khaled Kawan

Group Chief Executive Officer

The attached notes 1 to 35 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year ended 31 December 2021

PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

Other comprehensive income:
Other comprehensive income (loss) that will be reclassified
(or recycled) to profit or loss in subsequent periods:

Foreign currency translation:

Unrealised loss on exchange translation in foreign subsidiaries

Debt instruments at FVOCI:
Net change in fair value during the year

Other comprehensive income (loss) that will not be reclassified
(or recycled) to profit or loss in subsequent periods:

Net change in pension fund reserve

Other comprehensive loss for the year

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR
Attributable to:

Shareholders of the parent
Non-controlling interests

The attached notes 1 to 35 form part of these consolidated financial statements.

Note

15 (e)

All figures in US$ Million

2021 2020
128 (75)
(69) (234)

43 (22)
(26) (256)
10 (8)
10 (8)
(16) (264)

112 (339)
105 (267)

7 (72)
112 (339)




Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended 31 December 2021

All figures in US$ Million

Note 2021 2020
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit (loss) for the year 128 (75)
Adjustments for:
Credit loss expense 10 106 329
Depreciation and amortisation 53 45
Gain on disposal of non-trading debt investments - net 18 23) (20)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Treasury bills and other eligible bills (40) 217
Trading securities (769) 236
Placements with banks and other financial institutions (1,236) 215
Securities bought under repurchase agreements 1,071 (673)
Loans and advances (1,467) (733)
Other assets 31 (710)
Deposits from customers 3,694 1,560
Deposits from banks 905 45
Securities sold under repurchase agreements 880 145
Other liabilities (436) 673
Exchange rate changes and non-cash movements 246 (288)
Net cash from operating activities 3,143 966
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of non-trading investments (5,888) (5,867)
Sale and redemption of non-trading investments 4,298 5,294
Purchase of premises and equipment (75) (42)
Sale of premises and equipment 8 14
Investment in subsidiaries - net 13) 20
Purchase of a subsidiary net of cash and cash equivalents acquired 34 (285) -
Net cash used in investing activities (1,955) (581)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Issue of certificates of deposit 430 120
Repayment of certificates of deposit (196) (19)
Issue of borrowings 940 231
Repayment of borrowings (1,521) (377)
Repurchase of borrowings - (126)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests (14) ®)
Net cash used in financing activities (361) (179)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents 827 206
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 7 (111)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 1,752 1,657
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE YEAR 6 2,586 1,752

The attached notes 1 to 35 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

1 INCORPORATION AND ACTIVITIES

Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.) ['the Bank'] is incorporated in the Kingdom of Bahrain by an Amiri decree and
operates under a conventional wholesale banking licence issued by the Central Bank of Bahrain [CBB]. The Bank
is a Bahraini Shareholding Company with limited liability and is listed on the Bahrain Bourse. The Central Bank of
Libya is the ultimate parent of the Bank and its subsidiaries (together 'the Group').

The Bank's registered office is at ABC Tower, Diplomatic Area, P.O. Box 5698, Manama, Kingdom of Bahrain.
The Bank is registered under commercial registration number 10299 issued by the Ministry of Industry, Commerce
and Tourism, Kingdom of Bahrain.

The Group is a leading provider of Trade Finance, Treasury, Project & Structured Finance, Syndications,
Corporate & Institutional Banking, Islamic Banking services and the digital, mobile-only banking space named "ila
Bank" within retail consumer banking services. Retail banking services are only provided in the MENA region.

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION

2.1 Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with applicable rules and
regulations issued by the CBB including CBB circulars on regulatory concessionary measures in response to novel
coronavirus ("COVID-19"). These rules and regulations, in particular CBB circular 0G/226/2020 dated 21 June
2020, require the adoption of all International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB), except for:

(a) recognition of modification losses on financial assets arising from payment holidays provided to
customers impacted by COVID-19 without charging additional interest, in equity instead of profit or loss
as required by IFRS 9 'Financial Instruments' (IFRS 9). Any other modification gain or loss on financial
assets are recognised in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 9; and

(b) recognition of financial assistance received from the government and/or regulators in response to its
COVID-19 support measures that meets the government grant requirement, in equity, instead of profit or
loss. This will only be to the extent of any modification loss recorded in equity as a result of 2.1(a) above,
and the balance amount to be recognised in profit or loss. Any other financial assistance is recognised in
accordance with the requirements of IAS 20 'Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of
Government Assistance' (IAS 20).

The above framework for basis of preparation of the annual consolidated financial statements of the Group is
hereinafter referred to as ‘IFRS as modified by the CBB’.

The Group provided payment holidays on financing exposures amounting to US$ 396 million (2020: US$ 894
million) which did not result in any modification loss. The Group also received US$ Nil (2020: US$ 4 million)
representing amount of financial assistance from Government of the Kingdom of Bahrain which was recorded as a
deduction from related expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

2.2 Accounting convention

The consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
measurement at fair value of derivatives and certain debt and equity financial assets. In addition, as more fully
discussed below, assets and liabilities that are hedged items in fair value hedges, and are otherwise carried at cost,
are adjusted to record changes in fair values attributable to the risk being hedged.

The Group's consolidated financial statements are presented in United States Dollars (USS$), which is also the
Bank's functional currency. All values are rounded to the nearest million (US$ million), except when otherwise
indicated.

2.3 Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Bank and its subsidiaries as at 31
December 2021. Control is achieved when the Bank has:

. Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee);
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Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
2.3 Basis of consolidation (continued)

Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and
The ability to use its power over the investee to influence those returns.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

° The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;
° Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
° The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
financial statements from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity holders of the
parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.
If the Bank loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, non-
controlling interests and other components of equity, while any resultant gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
Any investment retained is recognised at fair value at the date of loss of control.

3 NEW AND AMENDED STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

3.1 Standards effective for the year

The accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are consistent with those
used in previous year, except for the adoption of the following new and amended standards and interpretations,
applicable to the Group, and which are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021:

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform: Amendments to IFRS 9, I1AS 39 and IFRS 7

The Group has adopted amendments to IFRS 9, TAS 39, IFRS 7 and IFRS 16 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform —
Phase 2 (IBOR reform phase 2) on its effective date of 1 January 2021. In accordance with the transition
provisions, the amendments have been adopted retrospectively to hedging relationships and financial instruments.
Comparative amounts have not been restated, and there was no impact on the current period opening reserves
amounts on adoption.

Hedge relationship

The IBOR reform phase 2 amendments address issues arising during interest rate benchmark reform (IBOR
reform), including specifying when the ‘phase 1’ amendments will cease to apply, when hedge designations and
documentation should be updated, and when hedges of the alternative benchmark rate or alternative reference rate
(ARR) as the hedged risk are permitted.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group has adopted the following hedge accounting reliefs provided by
IBOR reform phase 2 of the amendments:



Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

3 NEW AND AMENDED STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS (continued)
3.1 Standards effective for the year (continued)
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform: Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 (continued)

Hedge designation

When the phase 1 amendments cease to apply, the Group will amend its hedge designation to reflect changes which

are required by IBOR reform, but only to make one or more of these changes:

a) designating an ARR (contractually or non-contractually specified) as a hedged risk;

b) amending the description of the hedged item, including the description of the designated portion of the
cash flows or fair value being hedged; or

c) amending the description of the hedging instrument. The Group will update its hedge documentation to
reflect this change in designation by the end of the reporting period in which the changes are made. These
amendments to the hedge documentation do not require the Group to discontinue its hedge relationships.
The Group has not made any amendments to its hedge documentation in the reporting period relating to
IBOR reform.

Retrospective effectiveness test

When the phase 1 retrospective effectiveness relief ceases to apply, on a hedge-by-hedge basis, the Group could
reset to zero the cumulative fair value changes of the hedged item and hedging instrument for the purposes of
retrospective hedge effectiveness test. However, this does not affect the amounts of hedge ineffectiveness reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. During the period, the Group has not reset to zero the cumulative fair
value changes of the hedged item and hedging instrument in any of its hedges.

Risk components

The Group is permitted to designate an ARR as a non-contractually specified risk component, even if it is not
separately identifiable at the date when it is designated, provided that the Group reasonably expects that it will
meet the requirements within 24 months of the first designation and the risk component is reliably measurable. The
24-month period applies separately to each ARR which the Group might designate. During the year, the Group has
not designated any risk components of ARR in any hedge relationships.

Amendments to IFRS 16 Covid-19 Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021

On 28 May 2020, the IASB issued Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions - amendment to IFRS 16 Leases (IFRS 16).
The amendments provide relief to lessees from applying IFRS 16 guidance on lease modification accounting for
rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic. As a practical expedient, a lessee may
elect not to assess whether a Covid-19 related rent concession from a lessor is a lease modification. A lessee that
makes this election accounts for any change in lease payments resulting from the Covid-19 related rent concession
the same way it would account for the change under IFRS 16, if the change were not a lease modification.

The amendment was intended to apply until 30 June 2021, but as the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic is
continuing, on 31 March 2021, the IASB extended the period of application of the practical expedient to 30 June
2022. The amendment applies to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021. Earlier application is
permitted. This amendment had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

3.2 New and amended standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective

New and amended standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of
the Group’s consolidated financial statements are disclosed below. The Group intends to adopt these standards, if
applicable, when they become effective.

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current - Amendments to IAS 1
Amendments to IAS 37 — Onerous Contracts: — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract
Amendments to IAS 16 — Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use
Amendments to IFRS 3 — Reference to the Conceptual Framework

Definition of Accounting Estimates - Amendments to IAS 8

Disclosure of Accounting Policies - Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2
Annual improvements 2018-2020 cycle
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Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

4.1 Liquid funds

Liquid funds comprise of cash, nostro balances, balances with central banks and treasury bills and other eligible
bills. Liquid funds are initially measured at their fair value and subsequently remeasured at amortised cost, less
provision for impairment.

4.2 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents referred to in the consolidated statement of cash flows comprise of cash and non-
restricted balances with central banks, deposits with central banks, treasury bills and other eligible bills with
original maturities of three months or less.

4.3 Trading securities

Trading securities are initially recorded at fair value. Subsequent to initial measurement, gains and losses arising
from changes in fair values are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period in which they
arise. Interest earned and dividends received are included in 'Interest and similar income' and 'Other operating
income' respectively, in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

4.4 Placements with banks and other financial institutions
Placements with banks and other financial institutions are initially measured at fair value and subsequently
remeasured at amortised cost, net of any amounts written off and provision for impairment.

4.5 Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

The considerations made in determining significant influence or joint control are similar to those necessary to
determine control over subsidiaries. Investments in associates are accounted for under the equity method of
accounting.

Under the equity method, the investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised at cost. The
carrying amount of the investment is adjusted to recognise changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the
associate or joint venture since the acquisition date.

4.6 Premises and equipment

Premises and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and provision for impairment in value, if
any. Freehold land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other premises and equipment is provided on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives ranging from 3 to 30 years.

4.7 Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is their fair value at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition,
intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each reporting
period. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised, but are tested for impairment annually,
either individually or at the cash-generating unit level.



Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)
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4.8 Leases - Group as a lessee
The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

Right-of-use assets

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount
of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the lease term. The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. The Group discloses right of use assets
under other assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of
lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (less any lease
incentives receivable), variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects
exercising the option to terminate. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised
as expenses in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for
the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an
option to purchase the underlying asset.

The Group discloses lease liabilities under other liabilities.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and equipment
(i.e., those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment
that are considered to be low value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

4.9 Collateral repossessed

Any repossessed assets are held for sale at their fair value (if financial assets) and fair value less cost to sell for non-

financial assets at the repossession date in, line with the Group’s policy.

4.10 Repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements

Assets sold with a simultaneous commitment to repurchase at a specified future date (repos) are not derecognised.
The counterparty liability for amounts received under these agreements are shown as securities sold under
repurchase agreements in the consolidated statement of financial position. The difference between sale and
repurchase price is treated as interest expense and is accrued over the life of the agreement using the effective
interest rate. Assets purchased with a corresponding commitment to resell at a specified future date (reverse repos)
are not recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position, as the Group does not obtain control over the
assets. The difference between purchase and resale price is treated as interest income using the effective yield
method.
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4.11 Employee pension and other end of service benefits
Costs relating to employee pension and other end of service benefits are generally accrued in accordance with
actuarial valuations based on prevailing regulations applicable in each location.

4.12 Government grants

Government grants are recognised where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attached conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the related costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.
When the grant relates to an asset, it is recognised as income in equal amounts over the expected useful life of the
related asset. Refer to note 2.1 for additional details relating to government grants received during the year.

When the Group receives grants of non-monetary assets, the asset and the grant are recorded at nominal amounts
and released to profit or loss over the expected useful life of the asset, based on the pattern of consumption of the
benefits of the underlying asset by equal annual instalments.

4.13 Recognition of income and expenses

4.13.1  The effective interest rate (EIR) method

Under IFRS 9 Financial instruments (IFRS 9), interest income is recorded using the EIR method for all financial
assets measured at amortised cost, interest rate derivatives for which hedge accounting is applied and the related
amortisation/recycling effect of hedge accounting. Interest income on interest bearing financial assets measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) under IFRS 9 is also recorded using the EIR method.
Interest expense is also calculated using the EIR method for all financial liabilities held at amortised cost. The EIR
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments through the expected life of the
financial asset or liability or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
or liability.

The EIR (and therefore, the amortised cost of the financial asset) is calculated by taking into account transaction
costs and any discount or premium on the acquisition of the financial asset, as well as fees and costs that are an
integral part of the EIR. The Group recognises interest income using a rate of return that represents the best
estimate of a constant rate of return over the expected life of the loan. Hence, the EIR calculation also takes into
account the effect of potentially different interest rates that may be charged at various stages of the financial asset’s
expected life, and other characteristics of the product life cycle (including prepayments, penalty interest and
charges).

If expectations of fixed rate financial assets’ or liabilities’ cash flows are revised for reasons other than credit risk,
then changes to future contractual cash flows are discounted at the original EIR with a consequential adjustment to
the carrying amount. The difference from the previous carrying amount is booked as a positive or negative
adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial asset or liability on the balance sheet with a corresponding
increase or decrease in interest revenue/expense calculated using the effective interest method.

For floating-rate financial instruments, periodic re-estimation of cash flows to reflect the movements in the market
rates of interest also alters the effective interest rate, but when instruments were initially recognised at an amount
equal to the principal, re-estimating the future interest payments does not significantly affect the carrying amount of
the asset or the liability.

The Group adopted IBOR reform Phase 2 from its effective date, which allows as a practical expedient for changes
to the basis for determining contractual cash flows to be treated as changes to a floating rate of interest, provided
certain conditions are met. The conditions include that the change is necessary as a direct consequence of IBOR
reform and that the transition takes place on an economically equivalent basis.

4.13.2  Interest and similar income/expense
Net interest income comprises interest income and interest expense calculated using the effective interest method.

The Group calculates interest income on financial assets, other than those considered credit-impaired, by applying
the EIR to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset.
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4.13 Recognition of income and expenses (continued)

4.13.2  Interest and similar income/expense (continued)

When a financial asset becomes credit-impaired (therefore regarded as ‘Stage 3’), the Group suspends the
recognition of interest income of the financial asset. If the financial asset cures and is no longer credit-impaired, the
Group reverts to calculating interest income on a gross basis.

For purchased or originated credit-impaired (POCI) financial assets, the Bank calculates interest income by
calculating the credit-adjusted EIR and applying that rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. The credit-
adjusted EIR is the interest rate that, at initial recognition, discounts the estimated future cash flows (including
credit losses) to the amortised cost of the POCI financial asset.

4.13.3  Fee and commission income

The Group earns fee and commission income from a diverse range of financial services it provides to its customers.
Fee and commission income is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects
to be entitled in exchange for providing the services.

The performance obligations, as well as the timing of their satisfaction, are identified, and determined, at the
inception of the contract. When the Group provides a service to its customers, consideration is invoiced and
generally due immediately upon satisfaction of a service provided at a point in time or at the end of the contract
period for a service provided over time. The Group has generally concluded that it is the principal in its revenue
arrangements because it typically controls the services before transferring them to the customer.

Performance obligations satisfied over time include asset management and other services, where the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs.
The Group’s fee and commission income from services where performance obligations are satisfied over time
include the following:

Asset management fees

These fees are earned for the provision of asset management services, which include portfolio diversification and
rebalancing, typically over defined periods. These services represent a single performance obligation comprised of
a series of distinct services which are substantially the same, being provided continuously over the contract period.
Asset management fees consist of management and performance fees that are considered variable consideration.

Management fees are invoiced quarterly and determined based on a fixed percentage of the net asset value of the
funds under management at the end of the quarter. The fees are allocated to each quarter because they relate
specifically to services provided for a quarter, and are distinct from the services provided in other quarters. The
fees generally crystallise at the end of each quarter and are not subject to a clawback. Consequently, revenue from
management fees is generally recognised at the end of each quarter.

Loan commitment and other fees

These are fixed annual fees paid by customers for loan and other credit facilities with the Group, but where it is
unlikely that a specific lending arrangement will be entered into with the customer and the loan commitment is not
measured at fair value. The Group promises to provide a loan facility for a specified period. As the benefit of the
services is transferred to the customer evenly over the period of entitlement, the fees are recognised as revenue on a
straight-line basis.

4.13.4  Net trading income
Net trading income includes all gains and losses from changes in fair value and the related interest income or
expense and dividends, for financial assets held for trading.

4.14 Treasury shares

Own equity instruments that are reacquired (treasury shares) are recognised at cost and deducted from equity. No
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity
instruments. Any difference between the carrying amount and the consideration, if reissued, is recognised as share
premium.
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4.15 Financial instruments

4.15.1 Date of recognition

Financial assets and liabilities, with the exception of loans and advances to customers, deposits to customers and
banks, are initially recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. This includes regular way trades: purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention in the market place.
Loans and advances to customers are recognised when funds are transferred to the customers’ accounts. The Group
recognises deposits from customers and banks when funds are received by the Group.

4.15.2  Initial measurement
The classification of financial instruments at initial recognition depends on their contractual terms and the business
model for managing the instruments, as described in notes 4.16 and 4.17.

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset or financial liability at its fair value plus or minus, in the
case of a financial asset or financial liability not at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), transaction costs that
are incremental and directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability, such
as fees and commissions. Transaction costs of financial assets and financial liabilities carried at FVTPL are
expensed in profit or loss. Immediately after initial recognition, an expected credit loss (ECL) is recognised for
financial assets measured at amortised cost and investments in debt instruments measured at FVOCI, which results
in an accounting loss being recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when an asset is newly
originated. When the fair value of financial assets and liabilities at initial recognition differs from the transaction
price, the Group accounts for the Day 1 profit or loss, as described below.

4.15.3  Day I profit or loss
When the transaction price of the instrument differs from the fair value at origination, the difference is treated as
follows:

(a) When the fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability
(i.e. a Level 1 input) or based on a valuation technique that uses data only from observable markets, the
difference is recognised as a day 1 gain or loss.

(b) In all other cases, the difference is deferred and the timing of recognition of deferred day 1 profit or loss
is determined individually. It is either amortised over the life of the instrument, deferred until the
instrument’s fair value can be determined using market observable inputs, or when the instrument is
derecognised.

4.16 Financial assets

4.16.1  Debt type instruments - classification and subsequent measurement
The classification requirements for financial assets is as below.

Classification and subsequent measurement of debt instruments depend on:

(i)  the Group’s business model for managing the asset; and

(i)  the cash flow characteristics of the asset i.e. solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) test.

Based on these factors, the Group classifies its debt instruments into one of the following three measurement
categories:

- Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent SPPI, and that are not designated at FVTPL, are measured at amortised cost. The carrying
amount of these assets is adjusted by any ECL allowance recognised and measured. Interest income from
these financial assets is included in ‘Interest and similar income’ using the EIR method.
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4.16 Financial assets (continued)

4.16.1  Debt type instruments - classification and subsequent measurement (continued)

- Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI): Financial assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent SPPI, and that are
not designated at FVTPL, are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).
Movements in the carrying amount are taken through other comprehensive income (OCI), except for the
recognition of expected credit losses or writebacks, interest income and foreign exchange gains and
losses. When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI
is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognised in 'Other operating income' as 'Gain or loss on
disposal of non-trading debt investments'. Interest income from these financial assets is included in
‘Interest and similar income” using the effective interest rate (EIR) method.

- Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL): Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or
FVOCI are measured at fair value through profit or loss. The Group may also designate a financial asset
at FVTPL, if so doing eliminates or significantly reduces measurement or recognition inconsistencies. A
gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at FVTPL is recognised and presented in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss within 'Other operating income' as 'Income from trading book'
in the year in which it arises. Interest income from these financial assets is included in ‘Interest and
similar income’ using the EIR method.

4.16.2  Business model

The Group determines its business model at the level that best reflects how it manages groups of financial assets to
achieve its business objective. The business model reflects how the Group manages the assets in order to generate
cash flows. That is, whether the Group’s objective is solely to collect the contractual cash flows from the assets or
is to collect both the contractual cash flows and cash flows arising from the sale of assets. If neither of these is
applicable (e.g. financial assets are held for trading purposes), then the financial assets are classified as part of
‘held for trading’ business model and measured at FVTPL. The business model assessment is not carried out on an
instrument-by-instrument basis but at the aggregate portfolio level and is based on observable factors such as:

- The stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice. In
particular, whether management's strategy focuses on earning contractual interest revenue, maintaining a
particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of the
liabilities that are funding those assets or realizing cash flows through the sale of the assets;

- How the asset’s and business model performance is evaluated and reported to key management personnel
and Group Asset and Liability Committee (GALCO);

- How risks are assessed and managed; and

- The frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and its expectations
about future sales activity. However, information about sales activity is not considered in isolation, but as
part of an overall assessment of how the Group's stated objective for managing the financial assets is
achieved and how cash flows are realised.

The business model assessment is based on reasonably expected scenarios without taking 'worst case' or 'stress
case’ scenarios into account.

Financial assets that are held for trading and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis are measured at
FVTPL because they are neither held to collect contractual cash flows nor held both to collect contractual cash
flows and to sell financial assets.

4.16.3  SPPI test
The Group assesses the contractual terms of financial asset to identify whether they meet the SPPI test.

Principal for the purpose of this test is defined as the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition and may
change over the life of the financial asset (for example, if there are repayments of principal or amortisation of the
premium/discount).
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4.16 Financial assets (continued)

4.16.3  SPPI test (continued)
Interest is the consideration for the time value of money, credit risk, other basic lending risks and a profit margin
that is consistent with a basic lending arrangement.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the Group considers
the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual
term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In
making the assessment, the Group considers:

- the currency in which the financial asset is denominated, and the period for which the interest rate is set;

- contingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows;

- leverage features;

- prepayment and extension terms; and

- terms that limit the Group's claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse asset
arrangements).

Where the contractual terms introduce exposure to risk or volatility that are inconsistent with a basic lending
arrangement, the related financial asset is classified and measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether their cash
flows are SPPI.

4.16.4  Reclassification

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those assets changes.
The reclassification takes place from the start of the first reporting period following the change. Such changes are
expected to be very infrequent and none occurred during the year.

4.16.5  Equity type instruments - classification and subsequent measurement

Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective; that is,
instruments that do not contain a contractual obligation to pay and that evidence a residual interest in the issuer’s
net assets.

Upon initial recognition, the Group elects to irrevocably designate certain equity investments at FVOCI which are
held for purposes other than held for trading. When this election is used, fair value gains and losses are recognised
in other comprehensive income and are not subsequently reclassified to consolidated profit or loss, including on
disposal. Equity investments at FVOCI are not subject to impairment assessment. All other equity investments
which the Group has not irrevocably elected at initial recognition or transition, to classify at FVOCI, are recognised
at FVTPL.

Gains and losses on equity investments at FVTPL are included in the 'Other operating income' as 'ITncome from
trading book' line in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Dividends are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss under 'Other operating income' when the
Group’s right to receive payments is established.

4.16.6  Modified or forbearance of loans

The Group sometimes makes concessions or modifications to the original terms of loans as a response to the
borrower’s financial difficulties, rather than taking possession or to otherwise enforce collection of collateral. The
Group considers a loan forborne when such concessions or modifications are provided as a result of the borrower’s
present or expected financial difficulties and the Group would not have agreed to them if the borrower had been
financially healthy. Indicators of financial difficulties include:

- If the borrower is in financial difficulty, whether the modification merely reduces the contractual cash
flows to amounts the borrower is expected to be able to pay.

- Whether any substantial new terms are introduced, such as a profit share/equity-based return that
substantially affects the risk profile of the loan.
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4.16 Financial assets (continued)
4.16.6  Modified or forbearance of loans (continued)

- Significant extension of the loan term when the borrower is not in financial difficulty.
- Significant change in the interest rate.
- Change in the currency the loan is denominated in.

- Insertion of collateral, other security or credit enhancements that significantly affect the credit risk
associated with the loan.

If the terms are substantially different, the Group derecognises the original financial asset and recognises a ‘new’
asset at fair value and recalculates a new EIR for the asset. The date of renegotiation is consequently considered to
be the date of initial recognition for impairment calculation purposes, including for the purpose of determining
whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred. However, the Group also assesses whether the new
financial asset recognised is deemed to be credit-impaired at initial recognition, especially in circumstances where
the renegotiation was driven by the customer being unable to make the originally agreed payments. Differences in
the carrying amount are also recognised in profit or loss as a gain or loss on derecognition.

In order for the loan to be reclassified out of the forborne category, the customer has to meet all of the following
criteria:

- All of its facilities has to be considered performing;

- Regular payments of more than an insignificant amount of principal or interest have been made during
most of the period when asset has been classified as forborne; and

- The customer does not have any contract that is more than 30 days past due.

If the terms are not substantially different, the renegotiation or modification does not result in derecognition, and
the Group recalculates the gross carrying amount based on the revised cash flows of the financial asset and
recognises a modification gain or loss in consolidated profit or loss. The new gross carrying amount is recalculated
by discounting the modified cash flows at the original EIR (or credit-adjusted EIR for purchased or originated
credit-impaired financial assets).

Once the terms have been renegotiated, any impairment is measured using the original EIR as calculated before the
modification of terms. It is the Group’s policy to monitor forborne loans to help ensure that future payments
continue to be likely to occur. Derecognition decisions and classification between Stage 2 and Stage 3 are
determined on a case-by-case basis or based on SICR criteria. If these procedures identify a loss in relation to a
loan, it is disclosed and managed as an impaired Stage 3 forborne asset until it is collected or written off or is
transferred back to Stage 2.

4.16.7  Derecognition other than on a modification
Financial assets, or a portion thereof, are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from
the assets have expired, or when they have been transferred and either (i) the Group transfers substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership, or (ii) the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership and the Group has not retained control.

The Group enters into transactions where it retains the contractual rights to receive cash flows from assets but
assumes a contractual obligation to pay those cash flows to other entities and transfers substantially all of the risks
and rewards. These transactions are accounted for as ‘pass through’ transfers that result in derecognition if the
Group:

(i)  Has no obligation to make payments unless it collects equivalent amounts from the assets;

(i)  Is prohibited from selling or pledging the assets; and

(iii)  Has an obligation to remit any cash it collects from the assets without material delay.
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4.16 Financial assets (continued)

4.16.7  Derecognition other than on a modification (continued)

Collateral (shares and bonds) furnished by the Group under standard repurchase agreements and securities lending
and borrowing transactions are not derecognised because the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
on the basis of the predetermined repurchase price, and the criteria for derecognition are therefore not met.

4.16.8  Derecognition of financial instruments in the context of IBOR reform

As explained in note 4.16.6 and 4.17.2, the Group derecognises financial assets and financial liabilities if there has
been a substantial modification of their terms and conditions. In the context of IBOR reform, certain financial
instruments have already been amended or will be amended during 2022 and 2023 as they transition from IBORs to
ARRs. In addition to the interest rate of a financial instrument changing, there may be other changes made to the
terms of the financial instrument at the time of transition.

For financial instruments measured at amortised cost, the Group first applies the practical expedient as described in
note 4.13, to reflect the change in the referenced interest rate from an IBOR to a ARR. Second, for any changes not
covered by the practical expedient, the Group applies judgement to assess whether the changes are substantial and
if they are, the financial instrument is derecognised and a new financial instrument is recognised. If the changes are
not substantial, the Group adjusts the gross carrying amount of the financial instrument by the present value of the
changes not covered by the practical expedient, discounted using the revised EIR.

4.17 Financial liabilities

4.17.1  Classification and subsequent measurement
Financial liabilities are classified as subsequently measured at amortised cost, except for:

- Financial liabilities at FVTPL: this classification is applied to derivatives and financial liabilities held for
trading. Gains or losses on financial liabilities designated at FVTPL are presented partially in other
comprehensive income (the amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable
to changes in the credit risk of the issuer, which is determined as the amount that is not attributable to
changes in market conditions that give rise to market risk) and partially in profit or loss (the remaining
amount of change in the fair value of the liability). This is unless such a presentation would create, or
enlarge, an accounting mismatch, in which case the gains and losses attributable to changes in the credit
risk of the issuer are also presented in consolidated profit or loss;

- Financial liabilities arising from the transfer of financial assets which did not qualify for derecognition,
whereby a financial liability is recognised for the consideration received for the transfer. In subsequent
periods, the Group recognises any expense incurred on the financial liability; and

- Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments.

4.17.2  Derecognition
Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished (i.e. when the obligation specified in the contract
is discharged, cancelled or expires).

The exchange between the Group and its original lenders of debt instruments with substantially different terms, as
well as substantial modifications of the terms of existing financial liabilities, are accounted for as an
extinguishment of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. The terms are
substantially different if the discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees
paid net of any fees received and discounted using the original EIR, is at least 10% different from the discounted
present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. In addition, other qualitative factors,
such as the currency that the instrument is denominated in, changes in the type of interest rate, new conversion
features attached to the instrument and change in covenants are also taken into consideration. If an exchange of
debt instruments or modification of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are
recognised as part of the gain or loss on the extinguishment. If the exchange or modification is not accounted for as
an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred adjust the carrying amount of the liability and are amortised over the
remaining term of the modified liability.
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4.18 Financial instruments measured using amortised cost measurement and lease receivables

IBOR reform phase 2 requires that, for financial instruments measured using amortised cost measurement (i.e.
financial instruments classified as amortised cost and debt financial assets classified as FVOCI), changes to the
basis for determining the contractual cash flows required by IBOR reform are reflected by adjusting their effective
interest rate. No immediate gain or loss is recognised. A similar practical expedient exists for lease liabilities (see
below). These expedients are only applicable to changes that are required by IBOR reform, which is the case if,
and only if, the change is necessary as a direct consequence of IBOR reform and the new basis for determining the
contractual cash flows is economically equivalent to the previous basis (i.e. the basis immediately preceding the
change).

Where some or all of a change in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows of a financial asset and
liability does not meet the above criteria, the above practical expedient is first applied to the changes required by
IBOR reform, including updating the instrument’s effective interest rate. Any additional changes are accounted for
in the normal way i.e. assessed for modification or derecognition, with the resulting modification gain / loss
recognised immediately in profit or loss where the instrument is not derecognised.

For lease liabilities where there is a change to the basis for determining the contractual cash flows, as a practical
expedient the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a discount rate that
reflects the change in the interest rate where the change is required by IBOR reform. If lease modifications are
made in addition to those required by IBOR reform, the normal requirements of IFRS 16 are applied to the entire
lease modification, including those changes required by IBOR reform.

4.19 Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis, the expected credit loss (ECL) associated with its debt instruments
carried at amortised cost and FVOCI and against the exposure arising from loan commitments and financial
guarantee contracts. The Group recognises an ECL for such losses on origination and reassess the expected losses
at each reporting date. The measurement of ECL reflects:

- An unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible
outcomes;

- The time value of money; and

- Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

To calculate ECL, the Group estimates the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument during its
expected life. ECLs are estimated based on the present value of all cash shortfalls over the remaining expected life
of the financial asset, i.e., the difference between: the contractual cash flows that are due to the Group under the
contract, and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective interest rate of the loan or
an approximation thereof.

Measurement of ECL
ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. They are measured as follows:

- financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value of all cash shortfalls
(i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive);

- financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between the gross carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows;
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4.19 Impairment (continued)
Measurement of ECL (continued)

- undrawn loan commitments: estimates the expected portion of the loan commitment that are drawn down
over the expected life of the loan commitment; and calculates the present value of cash shortfalls
between the contractual cash flows that are due to the entity if the holder of the loan commitment draws
down that expected portion of the loan and the cash flows that the entity expects to receive if that
expected portion of the loan is drawn down; and

- financial guarantee contracts: estimates the ECLs based on the present value of the expected payments to
reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the guarantor expects to receive
from the holder, the debtor or any other party. If a loan is fully guaranteed, the ECL estimate for the
financial guarantee contract would be the same as the estimated cash shortfall estimate for the loan
subject to the guarantee.

For the purposes of calculation of ECL, the Group categorises its FVOCI debt securities, loans and advances and
loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts into Stage 1, Stage 2, Stage 3 and POCI, based on the applied
impairment methodology, as described below:

° Stage 1 — Performing: when financial assets are first recognised, the Group recognises an allowance
based up to 12-month ECL.

° Stage 2 — Significant increase in credit risk: when a financial asset shows a significant increase in credit
risk, the Group records an allowance for the lifetime ECL.

° Stage 3 — Impaired: the Group recognises the lifetime ECL for these financial assets.

° Purchased or originated credit impaired ('POCI"): when financial assets are purchased or are originated at
a deep discount or are credit-impaired on initial recognition. These are subject to lifetime ECLs. POCI
includes non-performing loans and advances acquired through the acquisition of the Blom Bank Egypt
S.A.E. ("Blom Egypt") that are recorded at fair value and therefore do not carry an allowance for ECL at
the time of initial recognition as it is already incorporated in the calculation of effective interest rate on
initial recognition. It also includes recognition of previously written off loans of the Group where the
expectation of recovery has improved.

For the purposes of categorisation into above stages, the Group has established a policy to perform an assessment
at the end of each reporting period of whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition by
considering the change in the risk of default occurring over the remaining life of the financial instrument.

The Group records impairment for FVOCI debt securities, depending on whether they are classified as Stage 1, 2,
or 3, as explained above. However, ECL does not reduce the carrying amount of these financial assets in the
consolidated statement of financial position, which remains at fair value. Instead, an amount equal to the allowance
that would arise if the asset were measured at amortised cost is recognised in OCI as an accumulated impairment
amount, with a corresponding charge to profit or loss.

No impairment is recorded on equity instruments.

Stage 1

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount up to 12-month ECL for Stage 1 customers. All financial assets
are classified as Stage 1 on initial recognition date, unless the new loan is deemed to be POCI. Subsequently on
each reporting date the Group classifies following as Stage 1:

- debt type assets that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and

- on which credit risk has not increased significantly since their initial recognition.
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Stage 1 (continued)
The Group applies low credit risk expedient and considers following types of debts as 'low credit risk (LCR)":

- All local currency sovereign exposures funded in local currency;
- All local currency exposures to the Government of Bahrain or the CBB; and
- All exposures with external rating A- or above.

Stage 2
IFRS 9 requires financial assets to be classified in Stage 2 when their credit risk has increased significantly since
their initial recognition. For these assets, a loss allowance needs to be recognised based on their lifetime ECLs.

The Group considers whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk of an asset by comparing the rating
migration upon initial recognition of the asset against the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at the end of
each reporting period. In each case, this assessment is based on forward-looking assessment, in order to recognise
the probability of higher losses associated with more negative economic outlooks. In addition, a significant increase
in credit risk is assumed if the borrower falls more than 30 days past due in making its contractual payments, or if
the Group expects to grant the borrower forbearance or facility has been restructured owing to credit related
reasons, or the facility is placed on the Group’s list of accounts requiring close monitoring. Further, any facility
having an internal credit risk rating of 8 are also subject to stage 2 ECL calculation.

It is the Group’s policy to evaluate additional available reasonable and supportive forward-looking information as
further additional drivers.

For revolving facilities such as credit cards and overdrafts, the Group measures ECLs by determining the period
over which it expects to be exposed to credit risk, taking into account the credit risk management actions that it
expects to take once the credit risk has increased and that serve to mitigate losses.

Stage 3

Financial assets are included in Stage 3 when there is objective evidence that the loan is credit impaired. At each
reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost and debt financial assets
carried at FVOCI are credit-impaired. A financial asset is 'credit-impaired' when one or more events that have
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:

- significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;
- a breach of contract such as a default or past due event;

- the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not consider
otherwise;

- it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

A loan that has been renegotiated due to deterioration in the borrower's condition is usually considered to be credit-
impaired unless there is evidence that the risk of not receiving contractual cash flows has reduced significantly and
there are no other indicators of impairment. In addition, a loan that is overdue for 90 days or more is considered
impaired.
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Stage 3 (continued)
In making an assessment of whether an investment in sovereign debt is credit-impaired, the Group considers the
following factors.

- The market's assessment of creditworthiness as reflected in the bond yields.
- The rating agencies' assessments of creditworthiness.
- The country's ability to access the capital markets for new debt issuance.

- The probability of debt being restructured, resulting in holders suffering losses through voluntary or
mandatory debt forgiveness.

- The international support mechanisms in place to provide the necessary support as 'lender of last resort' to
that country, as well as the intention, reflected in public statements, of governments and agencies to use
those mechanisms. This includes an assessment of the depth of those mechanisms and, irrespective of the
political intent, whether there is the capacity to fulfil the required criteria.

Other than originated credit-impaired loans, loans are transferred out of Stage 3 if they no longer meet the criteria
of credit-impaired after a cooling-off period of 12 months.

Purchased or originated credit impaired (‘POCI’)
For POCI financial assets, the Group only recognises the lifetime ECL and any cumulative changes since initial
recognition are recorded in the ECL allowance. There are no migration from POCI to other Stages.

Forward looking information
The Group incorporates forward-looking information in the measurement of ECLs.

The Group considers forward-looking information such as macroeconomic factors (e.g., GDP growth, oil prices,
country's equity indices and unemployment rates) and economic forecasts. To evaluate a range of possible
outcomes, the Group formulates three scenarios: a base case, an upward and a downward scenario. The base case
scenario represents the more likely outcome from Moody’s macro-economic models. For each scenario, the Group
derives an ECL and apply a probability weighted approach to determine the impairment allowance.

The Group also uses published external information from International Monetary Fund (IMF).

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position
Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position as follows:

- financial assets measured at amortised cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the assets;
- loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts: as a provision under other liabilities; and

- debt instruments measured at FVOCI: no loss allowance is recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position because the carrying amount of these assets is their fair value. However, the loss
allowance is disclosed and is recognised in the cumulative changes in fair value reserve.

Limitation of estimation techniques

The models applied by the Group may not always capture all characteristics of the market at a point in time as they
cannot be recalibrated at the same pace as changes in market conditions. Interim adjustments are expected to be
made until the base models are validated. Although the Group uses data that is as current as possible, models used
to calculate ECLs are based on data that is up to date except for certain macro-economic factors for which the data
is updated once it is available.

Experienced credit adjustment

The Group’s ECL allowance methodology requires the Group to use its experienced credit judgement to
incorporate the estimated impact of factors not captured in the modelled ECL results, in all reporting periods. Refer
note 24.4.1 for additional details.
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4.20 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The expense relating to any
provision is presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss net of any reimbursement.

4.21 Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments
The Group issues financial guarantees, letters of credit and loan commitments.

Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the consolidated financial statements at fair value, being the
premium received. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group’s liability under each guarantee is measured at the
higher of the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortisation recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss, and an ECL provision.

The premium received is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in 'Other operating income' on a
straight line basis over the life of the guarantee.

Undrawn loan commitments and letters of credits are commitments under which, over the duration of the
commitment, the Group is required to provide a loan with pre-specified terms to the customer.

The nominal contractual value of financial guarantees, letters of credit and undrawn loan commitments, where the
loan agreed to be provided is on market terms, are not recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position.

An ECL is calculated and recorded for these in a similar manner as for debt type financial instruments as explained
in note 4.19.

4.22 Derivatives and hedging activities
The Group has adopted IFRS 9 on its effective date of 1 January 2018 and applies the same for hedge accounting.

A derivative is a financial instrument or other contract with all three of the following characteristics:

- Its value changes in response to the change in a specified interest rate, financial instrument price,
commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating or credit index, or other
variable, provided that, in the case of a non-financial variable, it is not specific to a party to the contract
(i.e., the 'underlying').

- It requires no initial net investment or an initial net investment that is smaller than would be required for
other types of contracts expected to have a similar response to changes in market factors.

- It is settled at a future date.

The Group enters into derivative transactions with various counterparties. These include interest rate swaps,
futures, credit default swaps, cross-currency swaps, forward foreign exchange contracts and options on interest
rates, foreign currencies and equities. Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which the
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. All derivatives are carried as
assets when fair value is positive and as liabilities when fair value is negative.

All derivatives are measured at FVTPL except for when the derivative is designated and qualifies as a hedging
instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged determines the method of recognising the resulting gain
or loss. The Group designates certain derivatives as either:

(a)  Hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or firm commitments (fair value hedges);

(b)  Hedges of highly probable future cash flows attributable to a recognised asset or liability (cash flow
hedges); or

(c)  Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation (net investment hedges).
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4.22 Derivatives and hedging activities (continued)

The Group documents, at the inception of the hedge, the relationship between hedged items and hedging
instruments, as well as its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. The
Group also documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives
that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of
hedged items.

(a) Fair value hedge

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, together with changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that
are attributable to the hedged risk.

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the adjustment to the carrying amount of a hedged
item for which the effective interest rate method is used is amortised to profit or loss over the period to maturity
and recorded as net interest income.

(b) Cash flow hedge

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges
is recognised in other comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised
immediately in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled to the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the periods when the
hedged item affects profit or loss. They are recorded in the income or expense lines in which the revenue or
expense associated with the related hedged item is reported.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting,
any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised in the periods when
the hedged item affects profit or loss. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur (for example, the
recognised hedged asset is disposed of), the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is immediately reclassified to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

(c) Net investment hedge

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges. Any gain or loss
on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge is recognised directly in other
comprehensive income; the gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. Gains and losses accumulated in equity are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss when the foreign operation is disposed of as part of the gain or loss on the disposal.

(d) IBOR reform phase 1 and 2 impacts on hedge accounting

The Group applies temporary reliefs to hedging relationships directly affected by IBOR reform during the year
before the replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark with an alternative benchmark rate (ARR). A hedging
relationship is affected if IBOR reform gives rise to uncertainties about the timing and or amount of benchmark-
based cash flows of the hedged item or the hedging instrument.

IBOR reform phase 1 requires that for hedging relationships affected by IBOR reform, the Group must assume that
for the purpose of assessing expected future hedge effectiveness, the interest rate is not altered as a result of IBOR
reform.

The reliefs cease to apply once certain conditions are met. These include when the uncertainty arising from IBOR
reform is no longer present with respect to the timing and amount of the benchmark-based cash flows of the hedged
item, if the hedging relationship is discontinued or once amounts in the cash flow hedge reserve have been

The Group has adopted IBOR reform phase 2 which provides temporary reliefs that allow the Group’s hedging
relationships to continue upon the replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark with an ARR. The reliefs
require the Group to amend the hedge designations and hedge documentation and are set out in note 3.1.
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(d) IBOR reform phase 1 and 2 impacts on hedge accounting (continued)

Under one of the reliefs under IBOR reform phase 2, the Group may elect for individual ARRs designated as
hedging the fair value or cash flows of the hedged item for changes due to a non-contractually specified component
of interest rate risk, to be deemed as meeting the IFRS 9 requirement to be separately identifiable. The separately
identifiable requirement and the related relief is described in note 3.1. For each ARR to which the relief has been
applied, the Group judges that both the volume and market liquidity of financial instruments that reference the
ARR and are priced using the ARR will increase during the 24- month period with the result that the hedged ARR
risk component will become separately identifiable in the change in fair value or cash flows of the hedged item.

4.23 Fair value measurement
The Group measures financial instruments at fair value at each reporting date.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

. In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
. In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best interests.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data is
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 valuation: Directly observable quotes for the same instrument.
Level 2 valuation: Directly observable proxies for the same instrument accessible at valuation date.

. Level 3 valuation: Derived proxies (interpolation of proxies) for similar instruments that have not been
observed.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period.

4.24 Taxation on foreign operations

There is no tax on corporate income of the Bank in the Kingdom of Bahrain. Taxation on foreign operations is
provided for in accordance with the fiscal regulations applicable in each location. No provision is made for any
liability that may arise in the event of distribution of the reserves of subsidiaries. A substantial portion of such
reserves is required to be retained to meet local regulatory requirements.
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Current tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date in the countries where the Group operates and generates taxable income.

Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions
where appropriate.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date. Deferred tax liabilities
are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

- When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss

- In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and
interests in joint arrangements, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of unused tax credits
and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

- When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of
the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss

- In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and
interests in joint arrangements, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that
the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent
that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

In assessing the recoverability of deferred tax assets, the Group relies on forecasts used for its budgeting purposes
and in other management reports.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date. Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside
profit or loss. Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in OCI or
directly in equity.

Tax benefits acquired as part of a business combination, but not satisfying the criteria for separate recognition at
that date, are recognised subsequently if new information about facts and circumstances change. The adjustment is
either treated as a reduction in goodwill (as long as it does not exceed goodwill) if it was incurred during the
measurement period or recognised in profit or loss.
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Deferred tax (continued)

The Group offsets deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities if and only if it has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

4.25 Foreign currencies

Transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded at the spot rate of exchange ruling at the date of the
transaction.

Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated into functional currency at the rates of exchange
ruling at the reporting date. Any gains or losses are taken to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. The gain or loss
arising on translation of non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain
or loss on the change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation differences on items whose fair value gain or loss is
recognised in OCI or profit or loss are also recognised in OCI or profit or loss, respectively).

Group companies

As at the reporting date, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into the Bank's functional
currency at rates of exchange ruling at the reporting date. Income and expense items are translated at average
exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences arising on translation are recorded in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income under unrealised gain or loss on exchange translation in foreign subsidiaries. On disposal
of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

4.26 Trade and settlement date accounting

All “regular way” purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, i.e. the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset, except for loans and advances to customers, deposits to customers and
banks.

4.27 Fiduciary assets
Assets held in trust or in a fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets of the Group and, accordingly, are not
included in the consolidated statement of financial position.

4.28 Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are only offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and the Group intends
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. This is not generally the case
with master netting agreements, and the related assets and liabilities are presented gross in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

4.29 Borrowings

Issued financial instruments (or their components) are classified as liabilities under 'Borrowings', where the
substance of the contractual arrangement results in the Group having an obligation either to deliver cash or another
financial asset to the holder.
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4.29 Borrowings (continued)

Borrowings are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. After initial measurement, the borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Amortised cost is calculated by
taking into account any discount or premium on the issue and costs that are an integral part of the effective interest
rate.

4.30 Write-off

Loans and debt securities are written off (either partially or in full) when there is no realistic prospect of recovery.
However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with
the Group's procedures for recovery of amounts due. If the amount to be written off is greater than the accumulated
loss allowance, the difference is first treated as an addition to the allowance that is then applied against the gross
carrying amount. Any subsequent recoveries are credited to consolidated statement of profit and loss.

4.31 Collateral valuation

To mitigate its credit risks on financial assets, the Group seeks to use collateral, where possible. The collateral
comes in various forms, such as cash, securities, letters of credit/financial guarantees, real estate, receivables,
inventories, other non-financial assets and credit enhancements such as netting agreements. Collateral, unless
repossessed, is not recorded on the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position. However, the fair value of
collateral affects the calculation of ECLs. It is generally assessed, at a minimum, at inception and re-assessed on a
periodic basis. However, some collateral, for example, cash or securities relating to margining requirements, is
valued daily.

To the extent possible, the Group uses active market data for valuing financial assets held as collateral. Other
financial assets which do not have readily determinable market values are valued using internal valuation
techniques as appropriate. Non-financial collateral, such as real estate, is valued based on data provided by third
parties such as mortgage brokers, or based on housing price indices.

4.32 Business combination and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, which is measured at acquisition date fair value, and the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and included in relevant line items in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at
fair value at the acquisition date.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost (being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any previous interest held over the net identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed). If the fair value of the net assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate
consideration transferred, the Group re-assesses whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and all
of the liabilities assumed and reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognised at the
acquisition date. If the reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the
aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognised in profit or loss. After initial recognition, goodwill
is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
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4.32 Business combination and goodwill (continued)

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units. Where goodwill has
been allocated to a cash-generating unit (CGU) and part of the business within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the disposed business operation is included in the carrying amount of the business operation when
determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured based on the
relative values of the disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

4.33 Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the
accompanying disclosures, as well as the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions
and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or
liabilities affected in future periods. In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has
made the following judgements and assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future
developments may change due to circumstances beyond the Group’s control and are reflected in the assumptions if
and when they occur. Items with the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements with substantial management judgement and/or estimates are collated below with respect to
judgements/estimates involved.

Going concern
The Bank's management has made an assessment of the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and is
satisfied that the Group has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, the
management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. Therefore, the consolidated financial statements continue to be prepared on the going
concern basis.

Measurement of the expected credit loss allowance (ECL)

The measurement of the ECL for financial assets subject to credit risk measured at amortised cost and FVOCI is an
area that requires the use of complex models and significant assumptions about future economic conditions, credit
behaviour (e.g. the likelihood of customers defaulting and the resulting losses), estimation of the amount and timing
of the future cash flows and collateral values. These estimates are driven by a number of factors, changes in which
can result in different levels of allowances.

The Group's ECL calculation are outputs of complex models with a number of underlying assumptions regarding
the choice of variable inputs and their interdependencies. A number of significant judgements are also required in
applying the accounting requirements for measuring ECL, such as:

- Internal credit rating model, which assigns probability of defaults (PDs) to the individual ratings;

- Determining criteria for significant increase in credit risk (SICR);

- Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of ECL;

- Determination of associations between macroeconomic scenarios and, economic inputs, such as GDP, oil
prices, equity indices, unemployment levels and collateral values, and the effect on PD, exposure at
default (EAD) and loss given default (LGD);

- Selection and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios to derive the economic inputs into the
ECL models;

- Establishing groups of similar financial assets for the purposes of measuring ECL; and

- Determining relevant period of exposure with respect to the revolving credit facilities and facilities
undergoing restructuring at the time of the reporting date.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
4.33 Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued)

Measurement of the expected credit loss allowance (ECL) (continued)

As a result of the impact of COVID-19, the Group has considered providing its customers with extensions /
forbearance in payment schedules. These were assessed on a case by case basis and in line with local regulatory
guidelines in each jurisdiction. Further, forbearances granted were approved by appropriate governance and local
regulatory guidelines and appropriate management judgement were applied for staging and ECL purposes.

Classification of financial assets

Classification of financial assets in the appropriate category depends upon the business model and SPPI test.
Determining the appropriate business model and assessing whether the cash flows generated by the financial asset
meet the SPPI test is complex and requires significant judgements by management.

The Group applies judgement while carrying out SPPI test and considers relevant factors such as the currency in
which the financial asset is denominated, and the period for which the interest rate is set.

Fair value of financial instruments

Where the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the consolidated statement of financial
position cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using a variety of valuation techniques that
include the use of valuation models. The inputs to these models are derived from observable market data where
possible, but if this is not available, judgement is required to establish fair values. Refer to note 23 for further
disclosures.

4.34 Corresponding figures

Certain of the prior year's figures have been re-classified to conform to the presentation adopted in the current year.
Such reclassifications do not affect previously reported net profit and total comprehensive income for the year or
shareholder's equity.
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5 CLASSIFICATION OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

As at 31 December, financial instruments have been classified as follows:

Amortised
At 31 December 2021 FVTPL Frvocrt cost Total
ASSETS
Liquid funds - - 2,626 2,626
Trading securities 902 - - 902
Placements with banks and other
financial institutions - - 3,031 3,031
Securities bought under repurchase agreements - - 698 698
Non-trading investments - 6,667 1,683 8,350
Loans and advances 152 466 16,150 16,768
Other assets 666 - 1,336 2,002
1,720 7,133 25,524 34,377
Amortised
FVTPL Fvocrt cost Total
LIABILITIES
Deposits from customers - - 20,734 20,734
Deposits from banks - - 4,388 4,388
Certificates of deposit - - 725 725
Securities sold under repurchase agreements - - 2,011 2,011
Other liabilities 693 - 759 1,452
Borrowings - - 1,211 1,211
693 - 29,828 30,521
Amortised
At 31 December 2020 FVTPL Froct cost Total
ASSETS
Liquid funds - - 1,752 1,752
Trading securities 171 - - 171
Placements with banks and other
financial institutions - - 1,803 1,803
Securities bought under repurchase agreements - - 1,823 1,823
Non-trading investments - 5,484 1,212 6,696
Loans and advances 65 513 15,078 15,656
Other assets 983 - 1,239 2,222
1,219 5,997 22,907 30,123
Amortised
FVTPL Froci cost Total
LIABILITIES
Deposits from customers - - 17,173 17,173
Deposits from banks - - 3,596 3,596
Certificates of deposit - - 494 494
Securities sold under repurchase agreements - - 1,151 1,151
Other liabilities 1,037 - 880 1,917
Borrowings - - 1,795 1,795
1,037 - 25,089 26,126

79



80

Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2021
All figures in US$ Million

6 LIQUID FUNDS
2021 2020
Cash on hand 46 29
Balances due from banks 632 470
Deposits with central banks 1,908 1,253
Cash and cash equivalents 2,586 1,752
Treasury bills and other eligible bills with
original maturities of more than three months 40 -
2,626 1,752
ECL allowances - -
2,626 1,752
7 TRADING SECURITIES
2021 2020
Debt instruments 884 154
Equity instruments 18 17
902 171
8 NON-TRADING INVESTMENTS
2021 2020
Debt securities
At amortised cost 1,683 1,213
At FVOCI 6,755 5,574
8,438 6,787
ECL allowances (105) (100)
Debt securities - net 8,333 6,687
Equity securities
AtFVOCI 17 9
8,350 6,696
The external ratings distribution of non-trading debt investments are given below:
2021 2020
AAA rated debt securities 690 333
AA to A rated debt securities 2,783 2,595
Other investment grade debt securities 1,320 1,240
Other non-investment grade debt securities 3,438 2,417
Unrated debt securities 207 202
8,438 6,787
ECL allowances (105) (100)
8,333 6,687
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8 NON-TRADING INVESTMENTS (continued)

Following are the stage wise break-up of debt securities as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020:

Debt securities, gross
ECL allowances

Debt securities, gross
ECL allowances

All figures in US$ Million

2021
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
8,349 - 89 8,438
(19) - (86) (105)
8,330 - 3 8,333
2020
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
6,698 - 89 6,787
(15) - (85) (100)
6,683 - 4 6,687

An analysis of movement in the ECL allowances during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December

2020 are as follows:

2021
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
As at 1 January 15 - 85 100
Additions 4 - 1 5
Recoveries / write back - - - -
Charge for the year - net 4 - 1 5
Exchange adjustments and other movements - - - -
As at 31 December 19 - 86 105
2020
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
As at 1 January 13 4 74 91
Additions - - 11 11
Recoveries / write back 2) - - 2)
Charge for the year - net 2) - 11 9
Exchange adjustments and other movements 4 “) - -
As at 31 December 15 - 85 100

No interest income was received during the year on impaired investments classified under Stage 3 (2020: nil).
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9 LOANS AND ADVANCES

Below is the classification of loans and advances by measurement:

At FVTPL
- Wholesale
At FVOCI
- Wholesale
At Amortised cost
- Wholesale
- Retail

ECL allowances

At FVTPL
- Wholesale
AtFVOCI
- Wholesale
At Amortised cost
- Wholesale
- Retail

ECL allowances

All figures in US$ Million

Below is the classification of loans and advances by industrial sector:

Financial services

Government

Other services

Manufacturing

Agriculture, fishing and forestry

Construction

Utilities

Energy

Distribution

Personal /consumer finance

Transport

Commercial real estate financing

Technology, media and
telecommunications

Trade

Retailers

Mining and quarrying

Residential mortgage

2021

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total

152 - - - 152

469 - - - 469

14,516 761 566 - 15,843

902 60 32 1 995

16,039 821 598 1 17,459

(109) (89) (493) - (691)

15,930 732 105 1 16,768

2020

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total

65 - - - 65

513 - - - 513

13,508 825 828 - 15,161

696 55 36 - 787

14,782 880 864 - 16,526
67) 95) (708) - (870)

14,715 785 156 - 15,656

Gross loans ECL allowances Net loans

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
3,649 3,528 19 26 3,630 3,502
648 659 5 4 643 655
1,528 1,044 255 239 1,273 805
2,891 2,365 104 120 2,787 2,245
1,259 1,112 18 23 1,241 1,089
1,447 1,594 75 116 1,372 1,478
854 884 18 9 836 875
1,001 939 8 18 993 921
903 958 17 2 886 956
999 885 49 36 950 849
624 829 23 35 601 794
551 554 4 21 547 533
371 301 37 30 334 271
427 495 43 176 384 319
172 253 4 3 168 250
93 120 12 11 81 109

42 6 - 1 42 5
17,459 16,526 691 870 16,768 15,656
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9 LOANS AND ADVANCES (continued)

An analysis of movement in the ECL allowances during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December
2020 are as follows:

2021

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total
As at 1 January 67 95 708 - 870
Transfers to stage 1 1 ) - - -
Transfers to stage 2 ) 1 - - -
Transfers to stage 3 - ?2) 2 - -
Net transfers between stages - ?2) 2 - -
Additions 41 2) 123 - 162
Recoveries / write back - - (77) - 77
Charge for the year - net 41 ?2) 46 - 85
Amounts written-off - 2) (253) - (255)
Amounts derecognised - A3) aa3) - 16)
Exchange adjustments and other movements 1 3 3 - 7
As at 31 December 109 89 493 - 691

2020

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total
As at 1 January 58 67 492 - 617
Transfers to stage 1 1 (N - - -
Transfers to stage 2 D 2 D - -
Transfers to stage 3 (1) 3) 4 - -
Net transfers between stages 8 2) 3 - -
Additions 14 32 307 - 353
Recoveries / write back - - (49) - (49)
Charge for the year - net 14 32 258 - 304
Amounts written-off - ) (25) - (26)
Exchange adjustments and other movements 4) (1) (20) - (25)
As at 31 December 67 95 708 - 870

The fair value of collateral that the Group holds relating to loans and advances individually determined to be
impaired and classified under Stage 3 at 31 December 2021 amounts to US$ 89 million (2020: US$ 110 million).

At 31 December 2021, interest in suspense on past due loans under Stage 3 amounts to US$ 86 million (2020: US$
136 million).
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10 CREDIT LOSS EXPENSE

Non-trading debt investments (note 8)

Loans and advances (note 9)

Credit commitments and contingent items (note 21)
Other financial assets

Non-trading debt investments (note 8)

Loans and advances (note 9)

Credit commitments and contingent items (note 21)
Other financial assets

11 OTHER ASSETS

Interest receivable
Goodwill (note 34)
Right-of-use assets
Trade receivables
Positive fair value of derivatives (note 20)
Assets acquired on debt settlement
Deferred tax assets
Bank owned life insurance
Margin dealing accounts

Staff loans
Advances and prepayments
Investments in associates

IT Projects work in progress
Others

All figures in US$ Million

2021

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 pocCrt Total
4 - 1 - 5
41 ?2) 46 - 85
- ) 16 - 15

1 - - - 1
46 3) 63 - 106

2020

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total
2) - 11 - 9
14 32 258 - 304
- - 13 - 13

- - 3 - 3
12 32 285 - 329
2021 2020

309 284

96 -

79 57

333 230

666 982

42 45

212 222

40 40

82 36

45 29

99 84

36 26

58 53

116 217

2,213 2,305

The negative fair value of derivatives amounting to US$ 693 million (2020: US$ 1,037 million) is included in

other liabilities (note 13). Details of derivatives are given in note 20.
No impairment loss on goodwill was recognised during the year ended 31 December 2021.
Below are the carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets and movements during the year:

Right-of-use assets

2021 2020
As at 1 January 57 64
Add: New/terminated leases - net 2 3
Less: Amortisation 10) 7
Add: Acquired through business combination 31 -
Others (including foreign exchange movements) a 3)

As at 31 December 79 57
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12 TAXATION ON FOREIGN OPERATIONS

Determining the Group's taxation charge for the year involves a degree of estimation and judgement.

2021 2020
Consolidated statement of financial position
Current tax liability 22 22
Deferred tax liability 57 58
79 80
Consolidated statement of profit or loss
Current tax on foreign operations 52 12
Deferred tax on foreign operations 1) (106)
51 94)
Analysis of tax charge
At Bahrain (income tax rate of nil) - -
On profits of subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions 66 9
Credit arising from tax treatment of hedging currency movements 5) (103)
Income tax expense reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 51 (94)

The effective tax rates on the profit of subsidiaries in MENA was 42% (2020: 32%) and United Kingdom was 14%
(2020: 4%) as against the actual tax rates of 19% to 38% (2020: 19% to 38% ) in MENA and 19% (2020: 19%) in
United Kingdom.

In the Bank's Brazilian subsidiary, the effective tax rate on normalised earnings was 38% (2020: 23%) as against
the actual tax rate of 45% (2020: 45%), after taking into account the tax credit for the year of US$15 million
arising from the tax treatment of hedging currency movements (2020: tax credit of US$ 103 million) on a certain
transaction.

In view of the operations of the Group being subject to various tax jurisdictions and regulations, it is not practical
to provide a reconciliation between the accounting and taxable profits.

13 OTHER LIABILITIES

2021 2020
Interest payable 270 243
Lease liabilities 81 60
Negative fair value of derivatives (note 20) 693 1,037
Employee related payables 108 100
Margin deposits including cash collateral 46 42
Deferred income 18 20
ECL allowances for credit commitments and contingent items (note 21) 62 57
Accrued charges and other payables 236 415

1,514 1,974

The positive fair value of derivatives amounting to US$ 666 million (2020: US$ 983 million) is included in other
assets (note 11). Details of derivatives are given in note 20.

Below are the carrying amounts of the Group's lease liabilities and movements :
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13 OTHER LIABILITIES (continued)

Lease liabilities

2021 2020
As at 1 January 60 69
Add: New/terminated leases - net 2 11
Add: Acquired through business combination 31 -
Add: Interest expense 2 2
Less: Repayments 13) (16)
Others (including foreign exchange movements) @ (6)
As at 31 December 81 60

14 BORROWINGS

In the ordinary course of business, the Bank and certain subsidiaries raise term financing through various capital
markets at commercial rates.

Total obligations outstanding at 31 December 2021

Currency Rate of interest  Parent bank Subsidiaries Total

Aggregate maturities %
2023 US$ LIBOR + 1.20% - 175 175
2027* US$ SOFR +2% 470 - 470
2028%* US$ SOFR +2% 470 - 470
2022-2027 TND 10.00-11.50% - 11 11
Perpetual** BRL 3.55% - 85 85
940 271 1,211

Total obligations outstanding at 31 December 2020

Currency Rate of interest ~ Parent bank  Subsidiaries Total

Aggregate maturities %
2021 US$ LIBOR + 1.80% 92 - 92
2021 EUR LIBOR + 1.10% - 92 92
2022* US$ LIBOR + 2.25% 1,330 - 1,330
2023 UsS$ Libor + 1.20% - 175 175
2021-2025 TND 10.00-11.50% - 14 14
Perpetual ** BRL 3.55% - 92 92
1,422 373 1,795

During 2020, the Bank repurchased US$ 126 million of its subordinated term loan borrowings closer to its
maturity date. The resultant net gain on the repurchase was nil.

* During the year, the Bank revised the terms and conditions of this borrowing and entered into a new arrangement
with maturity extended to as reflected above. No gain or loss was recognised on derecognition of the old
borrowing.

** Perpetual

This instrument issued by a subsidiary qualifies as Additional Tier 1 ("AT1") capital for the purpose of capital
adequacy calculation as disclosed in note 32. The outstanding AT1 as at 31 December 2021 amounts to US$ 85
million (2020: US$ 92 million).
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15 EQUITY

a) Share capital
2021 2020
Authorised — 3,500 million shares of US$ 1 each
(2020: 3,500 million shares of US$ 1 each) 3,500 3,500
Issued, subscribed and fully paid — 3,110 million shares of USS$ 1 each
(2020: 3,110 million shares of US$ 1 each) 3,110 3,110

b) Treasury shares
The Group owns 13,675,672 treasury shares (2020: 15,884,355 shares) for a cash consideration of US$ 6 million
(2020: US$ 6 million).

c) Statutory reserve

As required by the Articles of Association of the Bank and the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law, 10% of the
profit for the year is transferred to the statutory reserve. Such annual transfers will cease when the reserve totals
50% of the paid up share capital. The reserve is not available except in such circumstances as stipulated in the
Bahrain Commercial Companies Law and following the approval of the Central Bank of Bahrain.

d) General reserve
The general reserve underlines the shareholders’ commitment to enhance the strong equity base of the Bank. There
are no restrictions on the distribution of this reserve.

e) Cumulative changes in fair value

2021 2020
At 1 January 20 42
Net movement in fair value during the year 43 (22)
At 31 December 63 20
16 INTEREST AND SIMILAR INCOME

2021 2020
Loans and advances 785 812
Securities and investments 341 262
Placements with banks and other financial institutions 123 92
Others 7 9

1,256 1,175
17 INTEREST AND SIMILAR EXPENSE

2021 2020
Deposits from banks 145 167
Deposits from customers 454 421
Borrowings 44 63
Certificates of deposit and others 21 8

664 659
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18 OTHER OPERATING INCOME

2021 2020

Fee and commission income - net* 166 146
Bureau processing income 25 25

Income from trading book - net @) (36)
Gain on dealing in foreign currencies - net 42 60
Gain on disposal of non-trading debt investments - net 23 20
Other - net 28 18
277 233

Loss on hedging foreign currency movements** as) (103)
262 130

*Included in the fee and commission income is US$ 14 million (2020: US$ 13 million) of fee income relating to
funds under management.

**Loss on hedging foreign currency movements relate to a transaction which has an offsetting impact on the tax
expense for the year.

19  GROUP INFORMATION

19.1 Information about subsidiaries
The principal subsidiaries, all of which have 31 December as their year-end, are as follows:

Principal Country of  Interest of Arab Banking
activities incorporation Corporation (B.S.C.)
2021 2020
% %
ABC International Bank Plc Banking United Kingdom 100.0 100.0
ABC SA Banking France 100.0 100.0
ABC Islamic Bank (E.C.) Banking Bahrain 100.0 100.0
Arab Banking Corporation (ABC) - Jordan Banking Jordan 87.0 87.0
Banco ABC Brasil S.A. Banking Brazil 61.8 61.0
ABC Algeria Banking Algeria 88.9 88.9
Arab Banking Corporation - Egypt [S.A.E.] Banking Egypt 99.8 99.8
ABC Tunisie Banking Tunisia 100.0 100.0
Arab Financial Services Company B.S.C. (c) Credit card Bahrain 60.3 60.3
and Fintech services
Blom Bank - Egypt [S.A.E] (note 34) Banking Egypt 99.5 -

19.2  Significant restrictions

The Group does not have significant restrictions on its ability to access or use its assets and settle its liabilities
other than those resulting from supervisory frameworks within which banking subsidiaries operate. The
supervisory frameworks require banking subsidiaries to keep certain levels of regulatory capital and liquid assets,
limit their exposure to other parts of the Group and comply with other ratios. In certain jurisdictions, distribution
of reserves is subject to prior supervisory approval.

19.3 Material partly-owned subsidiaries
Financial information of a subsidiary that has material non-controlling interests is provided below:

Banco ABC Brasil S.A.

2021 2020
Proportion of equity interest held by non-controlling interests (%) 38.2% 39.0%
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 14 8



Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2021
All figures in US$ Million

19 GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

19.3 Material partly-owned subsidiaries (continued)
The summarised financial information of this subsidiary is provided below. This information is based on amounts
before inter-company eliminations.

2021 2020
Summarised statement of profit or loss:
Interest and similar income 504 473
Interest and similar expense (330) (330)
Other operating income 92 (30)
Credit loss expense 37 (59)
Operating expenses (110) (96)
Profit (loss) before tax 119 (42)
Taxation * 14) 113
Profit for the year 105 71
Profit attributable to non-controlling interests 40 28
Total comprehensive income 50 (143)
Total comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interests 19 (56)

* This includes tax credit of US$ 15 million (2020: US$ 103 million) relating to hedging of currency movements as
explained in note 12.

Summarised statement of financial position:

Total assets 7,717 7,735
Total liabilities 6,872 6,902
Total equity 845 833
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests 322 325

Summarised cash flow information:

Operating activities 31 362

Investing activities 66 (153)

Financing activities (56) (167)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 41 42

20 DERIVATIVES AND HEDGING

In the ordinary course of business the Group enters into various types of transactions that involve derivative financial
instruments.

The table below shows the positive and negative fair values of derivative financial instruments. The notional amount is
that of a derivative’s underlying asset, reference rate or index and is the basis upon which changes in the value of
derivatives are measured. The notional amounts indicate the volume of transactions outstanding at year end and are
not indicative of either market or credit risk.
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20 DERIVATIVES AND HEDGING (continued)

2021 2020
Positive  Negative  Notional Positive  Negative  Notional
fair value  fair value amount  fair value fair value amount
Derivatives held for trading
Interest rate swaps 142 147 8,204 298 238 8,602
Currency swaps 2 1 241 10 21 342
Forward foreign exchange contracts 80 21 5,811 56 43 5,630
Options* 414 373 26,108 608 556 7,086
Futures 17 64 3,386 10 16 5,722
655 606 43,750 982 874 27,382
Derivatives held as hedges
Interest rate swaps 7 87 3,377 1 157 4,188
Currency swaps - - 160 - - 63
Forward foreign exchange contracts 4 - 352 - 6 360
11 87 3,889 1 163 4,611
666 693 47,639 983 1,037 31,993
Risk weighted equivalents

(credit and market risk) 1,376 1,895

Derivatives are carried at fair value using valuation techniques based on observable market inputs.
* This includes options for which the Group has a back-to-back cover available.

Derivatives held as hedges include fair value hedges which are predominantly used to hedge fair value changes arising
from interest rate fluctuations in debt instruments at FVOCI and/or amortised cost and subordinated loan of a
subsidiary.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, net impact from ineffectiveness from hedges amounts to Nil (2020: Nil)
comprising net loss of US$ 76 million (2020: net loss of US$ 101 million) on hedging instruments offsetting the total
gain on hedged items attributable to the hedged risk amounted to US$ 76 million (2020: gain of US$ 101 million).

The Group uses deposits which are accounted for as hedges of net investment in foreign operations. As at 31
December 2021, the Group had deposits amounting to US$ 685 million (2020: US$ 675 million) which were
designated as net investment hedges.

Derivatives held or issued for trading purposes

Most of the Group’s derivative trading activities relate to sales, positioning and arbitrage. Sales activities involve
offering products to customers. Positioning involves managing market risk positions with the expectation of profiting
from favourable movements in prices, rates or indices. Arbitrage involves identifying and profiting from price
differentials between markets or products. Also included under this heading are any derivatives which do not meet
IFRS 9 hedging requirements.

Derivative related credit risk

Credit risk in respect of derivative financial instruments arises from the potential for a counterparty to default on its
contractual obligations and is limited to the positive fair value of instruments that are favourable to the Group. The
majority of the Group’s derivative contracts are entered into with other financial institutions and there is no significant
concentration of credit risk in respect of contracts with positive fair value with any individual counterparty at the date
of the consolidated statement of financial position.
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20 DERIVATIVES AND HEDGING (continued)

Derivatives held or issued for hedging purposes

The Group has adopted a comprehensive system for the measurement and management of risk. Part of the risk
management process involves managing the Group’s exposure to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates (currency risk)
and interest rates through asset and liability management activities. It is the Group’s policy to reduce its exposure to
currency and interest rate risks to acceptable levels as determined by the Board of Directors. The Board has
established levels of currency risk by setting limits on currency position exposures. Positions are monitored on an
ongoing basis and hedging strategies used to ensure positions are maintained within established limits. The Board has
established levels of interest rate risk by setting limits on the interest rate gaps for stipulated periods. Interest rate gaps
are reviewed on an ongoing basis and hedging strategies used to reduce the interest rate gaps to within the limits
established by the Board of Directors.

As part of its asset and liability management the Group uses derivatives for hedging purposes in order to reduce its
exposure to currency and interest rate risks. This is achieved by hedging specific financial instruments, forecasted
transactions as well as strategic hedging against overall statement of financial position exposures. For interest rate risk
this is carried out by monitoring the duration of assets and liabilities using simulations to estimate the level of interest
rate risk and entering into interest rate swaps and futures to hedge a proportion of the interest rate exposure, where
appropriate. Since strategic hedging does not qualify for special hedge accounting related derivatives are accounted for
as trading instruments.

The Group uses forward foreign exchange contracts, currency options, currency swaps to hedge against specifically
identified currency risks. In addition, the Group uses interest rate swaps and interest rate futures to hedge against the
interest rate risk arising from specifically identified loans and securities bearing fixed interest rates. In all such cases
the hedging relationship and objective, including details of the hedged item and hedging instrument, are formally
documented and the transactions are accounted for as hedges.

The Group applies hedge accounting in two separate hedging strategies, as follows:

Interest rate risk on fixed rate debt type instruments (fair value hedge)

The Group holds a portfolio of long-term variable and fixed rate loans / securities / deposits and therefore is exposed
to changes in fair value due to movements in market interest rates. The Group manages this interest rate risk exposure
by entering into pay fixed / receive floating interest rate swaps.

Only the interest rate risk element is hedged and therefore other risks, such as credit risk, are managed but not hedged
by the Group. The interest rate risk component is determined as the change in fair value of the long-term variable /
fixed rate loans and securities arising solely from changes in the benchmark rate of interest. Such changes are usually
the largest component of the overall change in fair value. The Group primarily designates the benchmark rate as the
hedged risk and, accordingly, enters into interest rate swaps whereby the fixed legs represent the economic risks of the
hedged items. This strategy is designated as a fair value hedge and its effectiveness is assessed by critical terms
matching and measured by comparing changes in the fair value of the loans attributable to changes in the benchmark
rate of interest with changes in the fair value of the interest rate swaps.

The Group establishes the hedging ratio by matching the notional of the derivatives with the principal of the portfolio
being hedged. Possible sources of ineffectiveness are as follows:

6] differences between the expected and actual volume of prepayments, as the Group hedges to the expected
repayment date taking into account expected prepayments based on past experience;

(ii))  hedging derivatives with a non-zero fair value at the date of initial designation as a hedging instrument; and

(iii)  counterparty credit risk which impacts the fair value of uncollateralised interest rate swaps but not the hedged
items.

Net investment in foreign operation (net investment hedge)

The Group has an investment in a foreign operation which is consolidated in its financial statements. The foreign
exchange rate exposure arising from this investment is hedged through the use of deposits. These deposits are
designated as net investment hedges to hedge the equity of the subsidiaries. The Group establishes the hedging ratio by
matching the deposits with the net assets of the foreign operation.
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20 DERIVATIVES AND HEDGING (continued)

The following table sets out the maturity profile of the trading and hedging instruments used in the Group’s trading and
non-dynamic hedging strategies:

Within 1 1-3 3-6 6-12 1-5 5-10 Over 10 Total
month months months months years years years
Notional
2021 22,337 2,604 2,205 4,764 10,491 5,066 172 47,639
2020 5,981 5,863 1,914 4,485 8,141 5,492 117 31,993

Hedge ineffectiveness

Hedge effectiveness is determined at the inception of the hedge relationship, and through periodic prospective
effectiveness assessments to ensure that an economic relationship exists between the hedged item and hedging
instrument. For hedges of exposures to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, the Group enters into hedge
relationships where the critical terms of the hedging instrument match exactly with the terms of the hedged item. The
Group therefore performs a qualitative assessment of effectiveness. If changes in circumstances affect the terms of the
hedged item such that the critical terms no longer match exactly with the critical terms of the hedging instrument, the
Group uses quantitative hedge effectiveness testing using the dollar offset method to assess effectiveness.

In hedges of foreign currency exposures, ineffectiveness may arise if the timing of the cash flows changes from what
was originally estimated, or if there are changes in the credit risk of the Bank or the derivative counterparty.

Hedge ineffectiveness only arises to the extent the hedging instruments exceed in nominal terms the risk exposure from
the foreign operations. Gains or losses on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge are
recognised in OCI, while any gains or losses relating to the ineffective portion are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss. On disposal of the foreign operation, the cumulative value of any such gains or losses
recorded in equity is transferred to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The ineffectiveness during 2021 or 2020 in relation to the interest rate swaps is however not significant to the Group.

21 CREDIT COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT ITEMS

Credit commitments and contingent items include commitments to extend credit, standby letters of credit, acceptances
and guarantees, which are structured to meet the various requirements of customers.

At the reporting date, the principal outstanding and the risk weighted equivalents were as follows:

2021 2020
Short-term self-liquidating trade and transaction-related contingent items 2,575 2,148
Direct credit substitutes and guarantees 2,777 3,041
Undrawn loans and other commitments 2,383 1,865

7,735 7,054

Credit exposure after applying credit conversion factor 3,143 3,021

Risk weighted equivalents 2,562 2,619




Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2021

21 CREDIT COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT ITEMS (continued)

All figures in US$ Million

The table below shows the contractual expiry by maturity of the Group's credit commitments and contingent items:

2021 2020
On demand 1,319 1,342
1 - 6 months 1,913 1,817
6 - 12 months 1,804 1,143
1 - 5 years 2,615 2,710
Over 5 years 84 42
7,735 7,054
Exposure (after applying credit conversion factor) and ECL by stage
2021
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 PocCI Total
Credit commitments and contingencies 2,941 127 75 - 3,143
ECL allowances 12 9 41 - 62
2020
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total
Credit commitments and contingencies 2,758 202 61 - 3,021
ECL allowances 12 13 32 - 57
An analysis of changes in the ECL allowances are as follows:
2021
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POoCI Total
As at 1 January 12 13 32 - 57
|Transfers to stage 1 2 2) - - -
Net transfers between stages 2 ?2) - - -
Additions - a) 16 - 15
Recoveries / write back - - - - -
Charge for the year - net - (€)) 16 - 15
Exchange adjustments and other movements 2) 1) (@) - 10)
As at 31 December 12 9 41 - 62

93



94

Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2021
All figures in US$ Million

21 CREDIT COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT ITEMS (continued)

2020

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total
As at 1 January 14 13 11 - 38
Additions - - 13 - 13
Recoveries / write back - - - - -
Charge for the year - net - - 13 - 13
Exchange adjustments and other movements 2) - 8 - 6
As at 31 December 12 13 32 - 57

The Group expects that not all of the contingent liabilities or commitments will be drawn before expiry of the
commitments.

The Group is engaged in litigation in various jurisdictions. The litigation involves claims by and against the Group
which have arisen in the ordinary course of business. The Directors of the Bank, after reviewing the claims pending
against Group companies and based on the advice of relevant professional legal advisors, are satisfied that the outcome
of these claims will not have a material adverse effect on the financial position of the Group.

22 SIGNIFICANT NET FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURES

Significant net foreign currency exposures, arising mainly from investments in subsidiaries, are as follows:

2021 2020

US$ US$
Long (short) Currency equivalent Currency equivalent
Brazilian Real 2,920 524 2,611 503
Pound Sterling 21 29 6 8
Egyptian Pound 8,458 538 1,724 110
Jordanian Dinar 104 147 104 146
Algerian Dinar 22,340 161 20,692 156
Tunisian Dinar 124 43 89 33
Euro 37 42 52 64
Bahraini Dinar a7 44) 3 8
Omani Riyal 21 55 40 104
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23 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities.

23.1 31 December 2021
Quantitative disclosure of fair value measurement hierarchy for assets as at 31 December 2021:

Financial assets measured at fair value (net of ECL) :

Level 1 Level 2 Total
Trading securities 902 - 902
Non-trading investments 5,905 762 6,667
Loans and advances - 618 618
Derivatives held for trading 396 259 655
Derivatives held as hedges - 11 11

Quantitative disclosure of fair value measurement hierarchy for liabilities as at 31 December 2021:

Financial liabilities measured at fair value:

Level 1 Level 2 Total
Derivatives held for trading 403 203 606
Derivatives held as hedges - 87 87

Fair values of financial instruments not carried at fair value
Except for the following, the fair value of financial instruments which are not carried at fair value are not
materially different from their carrying value.
Carrying
value  Fair value
Financial assets
Non-trading investments at amortised cost - gross (level 1 and level 2) 1,683 1,684

Financial liabilities
Borrowings - perpetual (level 1) 85 87

23.2 31 December 2020
Quantitative disclosure of fair value measurement hierarchy for assets as at 31 December 2020:

Financial assets measured at fair value (net of ECL):

Level 1 Level 2 Total
Trading securities 171 - 171
Non-trading investments 5,229 255 5,484
Loans and advances - 578 578
Derivatives held for trading 349 633 982

Derivatives held as hedges - 1 1



96

Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021
All figures in US$ Million

23 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
23.2 31 December 2020 (continued)
Quantitative disclosure of fair value measurement hierarchy for liabilities as at 31 December 2020:

Financial liabilities measured at fair value:

Level 1 Level 2 Total
Derivatives held for trading 309 565 874
Derivatives held as hedges - 163 163

Fair values of financial instruments not carried at fair value
Except for the following, the fair value of financial instruments which are not carried at fair value are not
materially different from their carrying value.

Carrying
value  Fair value
Financial assets
Non-trading investments at amortised cost - gross (level 1 and level 2) 1,212 1,213

Financial liabilities
Borrowings - perpetual (level 1) 92 93

Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the reporting
date. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer,
broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly
occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by
the Group is the current bid price. These instruments are included in Level 1.

Financial instruments in level 2

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter
derivatives) is determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of
observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all
significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

Transfers between level 1 and level 2
There were no transfers between level 1 and level 2 during the year ended 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020:
none).
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24 RISK MANAGEMENT

24.1 Introduction

Risk is inherent in the Group's activities and is managed through a process of ongoing identification, measurement and
monitoring, subject to risk limits and other controls. The Group is exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk, operational
risk, market risk, legal risk and strategic risk as well as other forms of risk inherent in its financial operations.

The Group continues to invest to strengthen its comprehensive and robust risk management infrastructure. This
includes risk identification processes under credit, market and operational risk spectrums, risk measurement models
and rating systems as well as a strong business process to monitor and control these risks.

24.2 Risk management structure

Executive Management is responsible for implementing the Group's Risk Strategy/Appetite and Policy Guidelines set
by the Board Risk Committee (BRC), including the identification and evaluation on a continuous basis of all material
risks to the business and the design and implementation of appropriate internal controls to mitigate them. This is done
through the Board Committees, Senior Management Committees, the Credit & Risk Group, Compliance and Balance
Sheet Management Group functions at Head Office.

Within the broader governance framework, the Board Committees carry out the main responsibility for best practice of
risk management and oversight. The BRC oversees the establishment of the risk appetite framework, risk capacity and
risk appetite statement. The BRC is also responsible for coordinating with other board committees for monitoring
compliance with the requirements of the regulatory authorities in various countries in which the Group operates. BRC
is supported by two management level committees — Group Risk Committee (GRC) and Group Asset Liability
Committee (GALCO). The Board Compliance Committee is supported by Group Compliance Oversight Committee
(GCOC).

The Board Audit Committee is responsible to the Board for ensuring that the Group maintains an effective system of
financial, accounting and risk management controls and for monitoring compliance with the requirements of the
regulatory authorities in various countries in which the Group operates.

The GRC defines, develops and monitors the Group’s overarching risk management framework considering the
Group’s strategy and business plans. The GRC is responsible for initiating, discussions and monitoring of key
regulations, both local and international, as applicable to the businesses and geographies in which the Group operates.
The GRC is assisted by specialised sub-committees to manage Credit Risk (Group Credit Committee), Operational
Risk (Group Operational Risk Committee), Model Risk (Group Risk Governance and Analytics Committee) and
Operational Resilience (Group Operational Resilience Committee).

The GALCO is responsible for defining Asset and Liability management policy, which includes capital, liquidity &
funding and market risk in line with the risk appetite framework. GALCO monitors the Group’s capital, liquidity,
funding and market risks, and the Group’s risk profile in the context of economic outlook and market developments.
GALCO is assisted by technical sub-committees for Capital & Liquidity Management.

The GCOC has the oversight responsibilities relating to maintaining and enforcing a strong and sustainable
compliance culture and is responsible for establishing the operating framework and the processes to support a
permanent and an effective compliance function.

The above management structure, supported by teams of risk & credit analysts, and compliance officers, provide a
coherent infrastructure to carry credit, risk, balance sheet management and compliance functions in a seamless manner.

Each subsidiary is responsible for managing its own risks and has its own Board Risk Committee and Management
Committees with responsibilities generally analogous to the Group Committees.
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24 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
24.3 Risk mitigation techniques

24.3.1 Risk mitigation

As part of its overall risk management, the Group uses derivatives and other instruments to manage exposures
resulting from changes in interest rates, foreign currencies, equity risks, credit risks, and exposures arising from
forecast transactions.

Group Treasury and Financial Markets (GTFM) regularly enters into hedge transactions to manage market risks within
its portfolios that are within its delegated authority, and each hedging strategy is approved by appropriate level of
committee within the Group. Also, if a hedge becomes ineffective, the Group may decide to accept the risk (and profit
or loss volatility) rather than ‘enter into a new hedge relationship’.

The Group actively uses collateral to reduce its credit risk (see below for details).

24.3.2 Excessive credit risk concentration

Concentration risk arises when the quantum of exposure to a single obligor or obligor group through ownership,
control or interconnectedness is judged to be excessive. Risk concentration can also occur across economic activity,
geographic areas or bank products. High levels of concentration in the event of a negative event e.g. changes in
economic, political or other conditions may cause the Group to suffer higher than expected losses.

In order to avoid excessive concentrations of risk, the Group policies and standards include specific guidelines for
country, industry, product and obligor limits aimed at maintaining a diversified portfolio. Where a concentration of
risk is identified, action is taken to reduce or mitigate the concentration as appropriate.

244 Credit risk

Credit risk occurs when the Group’s obligors fail to discharge contractual obligation between it and the Group as
expected causing the Group to incur a financial loss. The Group controls credit risk by setting limits on the amount of
risk it is willing to accept for an individual obligor within the limit framework described in more detail above under
the heading Excessive credit risk concentration. The credit limit assigned to an obligor is based on its risk rating, the
collateral posted in support of the facility and the facility maturity. Credit limits are approved at credit committees
within a delegated authority framework.

Credit risk is managed by the Group Credit Committee (“GCC”), which is the main credit risk decision-making forum
of the Group. GCC has the following roles and responsibilities:

- Review and decision credit proposals in line with its delegated authorities.

- Review and approve Internal Risk Ratings (IRR) and any overrides as applicable.
- Review and approve credit impairment provisions

- Credit portfolio reviews

- Review of credit resources and infrastructure

The first level of protection against undue credit risk is through country, industry single obligor and other risk
threshold limits, together with customer credit limits, set by the BRC and the GCC and allocated between the Bank
and its banking subsidiaries. Credit exposure to individual customers or customer groups is then controlled through a
tiered hierarchy of delegated approval authorities based on the risk rating of the customer under the Group's internal
credit rating system. Where unsecured facilities sought are considered to be beyond prudential limits, the Group's
policies require collateral to mitigate the credit risk in the form of cash, securities, legal charges over the customer's
assets or third-party guarantees. The Group also employs Risk Adjusted Return on Capital (RAROC) as a measure to
evaluate the risk/reward relationship at the transaction approval stage.
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24 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
24.4 Credit risk (continued)
24.4.1 Credit risk assessment and mitigation

Exposure at default (EAD)

The exposure at default (EAD) represents the gross carrying amount of the financial instruments subject to the
impairment calculation. EAD for unfunded facilities is calculated by multiplying the outstanding exposure with the
credit conversion factor (CCF) ranging from 20% to 100%.

To calculate the EAD for a Stage 1 loan, the Group assesses the possible default events and the cash flows following
within 12 months for the calculation of the 12 months ECL. For Stage 2, Stage 3 and POCI, the EAD is considered for
events over the lifetime of the instruments.

Internal Risk Rating (IRR) and the Probability of Default (PD) estimation process
The Group assigns an IRR to each obligor which maps to the Group’s assessment of PD for the obligor. The IRR scale
is aligned to that of the international rating agencies (see below). An obligor’s IRR is reviewed at least annually.

The Group uses internal rating models tailored to the various categories of counterparties that take into account an
obligor’s financial standing, geographic location, its industry plus additional relevant information added through
selective qualitative inputs to derive the IRR.

The credit grades are calibrated such that the risk of default increases exponentially as the credit quality weakens.

Credit Risk Rating Scale

The Group’s rating method comprises 20 rating levels covering Stages 1 & 2 (1 to 8) and three default classes
covering Stage 3 (9 to 11). The master scale maps the internal risk rating (IRR) to a percentage point which indicates a
probability of default. The strongest credits are rated ‘1’ as the credit quality weakens so the IRR increases in value.
Obligors with an IRR of 4- or better are investment grade, whilst IRR of 5+ or weaker are non-investment grade.

Rating models and process is subject to periodic validation and recalibration in order to ensure that the PD accurately
reflects current market default experience

The Group's internal credit rating grades along with the respective TTC PDs are as below:

Internal Internal rating grade PD range

rating grades description (%)

01 to 04- Superior >=0.00% to <0.49%
05+ to 05- Satisfactory >=0.49% to <1.52%
06+ to 06- Satisfactory >=1.52% to <5.02%
07+ to 07- Marginal >=5.02% to <17.32%

08 Watchlist >=17.32%

The PDs obtained as above are then adjusted for IFRS 9 ECL calculations to incorporate forward looking information.
This is repeated for each economic scenario as appropriate.

Loss given default (LGD)

The credit risk mitigation assessment is based on a standardised LGD framework. The Group uses models to calculate
the LGD values based on the collateral type and value, obligor rating, economic scenarios, seniority of tranche,
industry and country of the borrower, etc.

The Group segments its retail lending products into smaller homogeneous portfolios, based on key characteristics that
are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows. The applied data is based on historically collected loss data and
involves a wider set of transaction characteristics (e.g., product type, wider range of collateral types) as well as
borrower characteristics.
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24 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
24.4 Credit risk (continued)
24.4.1 Credit risk assessment and mitigation (continued)

Definition of default and cure
The Group considers a contract to be in default, if the terms of that contract have not been met. If the contractual
repayments on a facility are 90 days past due the facility is moved to Stage 3 and specific ECL is recorded.

The 90 days past due is rebutted only if there is reasonable and supportive information demonstrating that this does
not meet the impairment definition requirements. For example, this may include:

- Non-payment was an administrative oversight or technical fault instead of resulting from the obligor’s
financial difficulty (or) the management at the Group has strong evidence, that there is no dispute regarding
payments and the obligor is likely to pay its outstanding amount, without any loss to the Group .

- For direct loan to the government or the contractors directly working for a government entity and the
repayment of the loan is contingent on payment from government entity even though all prerequisite
conditions for the payment have been complied with.

As a part of a qualitative assessment of whether a customer is in default, the Group also considers a variety of
instances that may indicate unlikeliness to pay. When such events occur, the Group carefully considers whether the
event should result in treating the customer as defaulted and therefore assessed as Stage 3 for ECL calculations or
whether Stage 2 is appropriate. Such events include:

- Principal and/or interest and / or fees are past due for more than 90 days after the last billing date and/or
scheduled payment date, ignoring technical defaults and / or data errors. However, the Group can rebut 90
days past due assumption on case-by-case basis, as detailed above;

- Any account put on non-accrual status i.e. interest suspended;

- A loan is classified as “Substandard”, “Doubtful” or “Loss”;

- A covenant breach not waived by the Group;

- Bankruptcy, liquidation, administration, insolvency or similar proceedings have been filed by or against the
customer;

- Other cases based on the assessment of the Group;

- Cross default of the borrower; and

- Credit Committee suggests an asset or exposure to be impaired.

The above criteria have been applied to all financial instruments held by the Group and are consistent with the
definition of default used for internal credit risk management purposes. The default definition has been applied
consistently to model the PD, EAD and LGD throughout the Group’s expected loss calculations.

It is the Group’s policy to consider a facility as ‘cured’ when none of the criteria that caused the initial default have
been present for at least 12 consecutive months and the existing contract is not in default.

The Bank employs ’cooling-off” periods when moving a cured account from Stage 3 (12 month) to Stage 2 (6 months)
to Stage 1. In cases, where the financial assets are originated or purchased at deep discount which reflects the incurred
credit loss, the financial asset is classified under POCI and is not eligible for transfers to other stages.

Credit risk grading and PD estimation process
The following are additional considerations for each type of portfolio held by the Group:

Wholesale portfolio
The wholesale portfolio includes obligors across sovereigns, banks, corporates, non-bank financial institutions and
small and medium enterprises (SME) sub-sectors.
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24 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

24.4 Credit risk (continued)

24.4.1 Credit risk assessment and mitigation (continued)
Credit risk grading and PD estimation process (continued)

Wholesale portfolio (continued)

At the request of the obligor the Bank’s first line of defense generates a paper to be considered at a business
acceptance committee to confirm the facility is in line with the Bank’s strategy and meets the Bank’s profitability
criteria. If approved at the business acceptance committee, a credit application form (CAF), is presented to the second
line of defense which confirms that the request is factually correct and in line with the Bank’s policies and standards
relating to the risk being underwritten. The credit risk units of the Group validate the IRR being proposed. The CAF is
then presented to a credit committee appropriate to the geography, product, IRR and amount requested for approval.

At a minimum the CAF contains the following information:

- Description of the facility request, the amount, its structure/risk mitigation, its purpose, terms and
conditions, source of repayment and a commentary outlining the risks and mitigants to the repayment of the
- Profitability analysis.
- Identification of the model inputs for expected credit loss (ECL) calculation namely, IRR, LGD of the
facility through consideration and analysis of:
* Historical and forecast financial information.
* Any available relevant economic, sectorial, market, regulatory, reputational, or financial information on
the obligor from third parties.
* Collateral assessment.

Relationship managers in the first line of defence are responsible for day-to-day management of existing credit
exposures, and for periodic review of the client and associated risks.

The centralised credit unit in the second line of defence is responsible for:

- Independent credit review of the clients;

- Monitoring and maintaining oversight of the credit portfolio through client reviews, portfolio management
information (MI) and key risk indicators (KRIs); and

- Supporting the GCC with reference to its roles and responsibilities.

Retail portfolio

The Group runs its retail lending via a series of product programs which are approved by the relevant credit
committees. The Group uses the ‘roll rate’ methodology for ongoing assessment of the ECL across the retail portfolio.
The roll rate methodology uses statistical analysis of historical data on delinquency levels to estimate the amount of
ECL that might reasonably be incurred. Management overlays are applied to ensure that the estimate of ECL is
appropriate given the prevailing economic conditions at the reporting date.

Treasury portfolio

For debt securities in the non-trading portfolio, external rating agency credit grades are used unless the Bank has a
different view on the IRR. These published credit ratings are continuously monitored and updated. The external
ratings are mapped to the Group’s internal ratings scale and the PD’s associated with each grade are used for the ECL
computation.
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24 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
24.4 Credit risk (continued)
24.4.1 Credit risk assessment and mitigation (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (SICR)
Obligors or specific facilities (or financial instruments) that have experienced an SICR since initial recognition are
moved to Stage 2. The Group monitors its portfolio to determine if an SICR event has occurred. The monitoring is
undertaken in two ways:
- Through the annual and ad-hoc thematic review process and the regrading of the IRR and staging as
appropriate;
- Mechanical observation of past due (see below) or notch movement of the IRR from inception to date; and
- Other qualitative factors such as obligors assigned to close monitoring, restructured / forbearance facilities,
etc.

Further, the Group has used the low credit risk (LCR) expedient which includes all exposures meeting following
criteria:
- All local currency sovereign exposures funded in local currency;
- All local currency exposures to the government of the Kingdom of Bahrain or Central Bank of Bahrain; and
- All exposures with external rating A- or above.

A backstop is applied, and the financial instrument is considered to have experienced SICR if the borrower is more
than 30 days past due on its contractual payments. During 2020, the CBB provided certain reliefs which were
subsequently extended till June 2022, due to COVID-19, by increasing the number of days to 74 days for the backstop
criteria, however, the Group did not apply the relaxed criteria by the CBB.

ECL measurement
IFRS 9 outlines a ‘three-stage’ model for impairment based on changes in credit quality since initial recognition as
summarised below:

- A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition or where the credit risk has not
significantly increased since initial recognition is classified in ‘Stage 1’ and has its credit risk continuously
monitored by the Group.

- If a SICR since initial recognition is identified, the financial instrument is moved to ‘Stage 2’ but is not yet
deemed to be credit-impaired. Please refer above for a description of how the Group determines when a
SICR has occurred.

- If the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial instrument is then moved to ‘Stage 3°.

- Financial instruments in Stage 1 have their ECL measured at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime
expected credit losses that result from default events possible within the next 12 months. Instruments in
Stages 2 or 3 have their ECL measured based on expected credit losses on a lifetime basis.

- A pervasive concept in measuring ECL in accordance with IFRS 9 is that it should consider forward-
looking information.

The following diagram summarises the impairment requirements under IFRS 9 (other than purchased or originated
credit-impaired financial assets):

Change in credit quality since initial recognition

v

.
|

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

.. .. Significant increase in credit (Default or credit-impaired
(Initial recognition) .

risk assets)
(since initial recognition)

Lifetime expected credit
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24 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
24.4 Credit risk (continued)
24.4.1 Credit risk assessment and mitigation (continued)

Measuring ECL — Explanation of inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques

The ECL is measured on either a 12-month (12m) or lifetime basis depending on whether a significant increase in
credit risk has occurred since initial recognition or whether an asset is considered to be credit-impaired. Expected
credit losses are the discounted product of PD, EAD and LGD, defined as follows:

The PD represents the likelihood of a borrower defaulting on its financial obligation (as per “Definition of default”
above), either over the next 12 months (12m PD), or over the remaining lifetime (Lifetime PD) of the obligation.

EAD is based on the amounts the Group expects to be owed at the time of default, over the next 12 months (12M
EAD) or over the remaining lifetime (Lifetime EAD). For example, for a revolving commitment, the Group includes
the current drawn balance plus any further amount that is expected to be drawn up to the current contractual limit by
the time of default, should it occur.

LGD represents the Group’s expectation of the extent of loss on a defaulted exposure. LGD varies by type of
counterparty, type and seniority of claim, availability of collateral or other credit support, geography and industry.
LGD is expressed as a percentage loss per unit of exposure at the time of default (EAD). LGD is calculated on a 12-
month or lifetime basis, where 12-month LGD is the percentage of loss expected to be made if the default occurs in the
next 12 months and Lifetime LGD is the percentage of loss expected to be made if the default occurs over the
remaining expected lifetime of the loan.

The ECL is determined by projecting the PD and LGD for each future month and for each individual exposure. The
three components (PD, LGD and EAD) are multiplied together and the projected PD is adjusted for the likelihood of
survival (i.e. the exposure has not prepaid or defaulted in an earlier month). This effectively calculates an ECL for
each future month, which is then discounted back to the reporting date and summed. The discount rate used in the ECL
calculation is the original effective interest rate or an approximation thereof.

The Lifetime PD is developed by applying the forward looking information on 12-month PD over the maturity of the
loan. The maturity profile is based on historical observed data and is assumed to be the same across all assets within a
portfolio and credit grade band.

For amortising products and bullet repayment loans, this is based on the contractual repayments owed by the borrower
over a 12 month or lifetime basis.

For revolving products, the exposure at default is predicted by taking current drawn balance and adding a “credit
conversion factor” which allows for the expected drawdown of the remaining limit by the time of default. These
assumptions vary by product type.

For secured products, this is primarily based on collateral values after applying approved haircuts depending on the
collateral type. Further, the Group has applied LGD floors with respect to the fully secured portion of the portfolio
depending on the collateral type.

For unsecured products, LGD’s are computed based on models which take into account several factors such as
country, industry, PD, etc. which consider the recoveries made post default.
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24 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
24.4 Credit risk (continued)
24.4.1 Credit risk assessment and mitigation (continued)

Measuring ECL — Explanation of inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques (continued)

Forward-looking economic information is also included in determining the 12-month and lifetime PD and LGD. These
assumptions vary by country of exposure. Refer to note 4 and below for an explanation of forward-looking
information and its inclusion in ECL calculations.

The assumptions underlying the ECL calculation — such as how the maturity profile of the PDs and how collateral
values change, etc., are monitored and reviewed on a quarterly basis. The calculation of ECL involves significant
accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions. These are set out in note 4.19 and note 4.33. There have been no
significant changes in the ECL methodology during the year.

Assessment and calculation of ECL during Covid-19

Considering the current scenario, the Group has applied overlays on the ECL estimates based on internal stress testing
analysis (alongside significant judgements). While estimating the overlays, considerations were given to uneven global
recovery post pandemic, the pace of vaccine roll out across different countries and uncertainties around new COVID-
19 variants.

The Group’s models have been constructed and calibrated using historical trends and correlations as well as forward
looking economic scenarios. The severity of the current macro-economic projections and the added complexity caused
by the various support schemes and regulatory guidance across the main regions in which the Group operates could
not be reliably modelled for the time being. As a consequence, the existing models may generate results that are either
overly conservative or overly optimistic depending on the specific portfolio / segment. As a result, post-model
adjustments are needed. Given model changes take a significant amount of time to develop and test and the data
limitation issues noted above, the Group expects that post model adjustments will be applied for the foreseeable
future.

Additional information and sensitivity analysis in respect of the inputs to the ECL model under multiple economic
scenarios is provided under economic variable assumptions below:

Economic variable assumptions

An overview of the approach to estimating ECLs is set out above and in note 4.19. To ensure completeness and
accuracy, the Group obtains the data used from third party sources (e.g. Moody's and IMF). The Group’s Credit Risk
Department verifies the accuracy of inputs to the Group’s ECL models including determining the weights attributable
to the multiple scenarios.

The most significant assumptions affecting the ECL allowance are as follows:

>i) GDP, given the significant impact on companies’ performance and collateral valuations;
(ii) Oil price, given its impact on the region's economies in which the Bank and the majority of the Group's
il

subsidiaries are domiciled and operated; and
(iii) Equity index, given its impact on the economy where the majority of the Group's exposures are lying.
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24 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
24.4 Credit risk (continued)
24.4.1 Credit risk assessment and mitigation (continued)

Economic variable assumptions (continued)
The following table sets out the key macroeconomic variables of ECL calculation and weightages used for scenarios
showing increase /decrease in comparison to 2021 as base year (2020 as base year for assumptions used in 2020):

Assumptions used in 2021

Key macroeconomic ECL scenario and
. . . 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
variables used assigned weightage
Base (40%) [ 1.7%, 5.2%] [4.1%, 10.3%] [ 6.5%, 15.3%] [ 9%, 20.5%] [ 10.6%, 25.9%]
GDP growth rate Upside (30%) [3.7%,12.4%] [ 6.4%, 19.1%] [9.2%,21.3%] [11.3%,23.5%] [ 12.7%, 28.5%]

Downside (30%) [-11.0%, 0.2%] [-13.9%, 5.1%] [-11.7%, 10.9%] [-8.4%, 16.9%] [- 4.8%, 22.7%]

Base (40%) -19.4% 21.6% 20.0% -16.9% 14.1%
0il price Upside (30%) -15.5% -14.4% -13.4% -10.1% 6.7%
Downside (30%) 52.4% 38.1% -34.0% 28.3% 24.1%

Base (40%) [-9.3%,3.9%]  [- 11%, 6.6%] [-7.2%, 11.4%]  [-1.9%, 17%] [ 2.8%, 22.4%]

Equity index* Upside (30%) [2.1%, 17.1%]  [3.1%,20.0%] [ 6.5%,253%] [ 9.6%,28.7%] [ 11.8%, 34.5%]

Downside (30%)  [-37.89%, -17.4%] [- 26.1%, -10.6%)] [- 22.0%, -4.0%]  [- 15.7%, 1%)] [- 10.2%, 8.1%]

Assumptions used in 2020

Key macroeconomic ECL scenario and

variables used assigned weightage 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
Base (40%) [-3.8%,7.3%] [-0.5%, 14.1%]] [2.5%,17.6%] [ 5.2%, 24.7%] [ 7.4%, 32.2%]
GDP growth rate Upside (30%) [3.8%, 11.7%] [7.3%,20.3%] [9.4%,21.6%] [11.7%,27.7%] [ 13.4%, 35.3%)]

Downside (30%) [-16.2%, -0.4%] [- 19.6%, 5.9%] [-17.3%, 13.5%] [- 13.9%, 21.4%] [- 10.8%, 29.3%]

Base (40%) 8.5% 26.5% 31.2% 34.5% 39.7%
Oil price Upside (30%) 19.2% 38.9% 43.8% 47.3% 52.8%
Downside (30%) -45.2% -32.4% -3.4% 8.1% 18.4%

Base (40%) [- 18%, 40.3%]  [-8.3%, 50.0%] [-2.7%, 55.0%] [ 0.5%, 64.5%] [2.0%, 75.7%]

Equity index* Upside (30%) [-10.3%, 51.6%] [-0.6%, 57.8%] [ 3.8%, 66.9%] [ 4.7%, 76.1%] [ 5.6%, 87.9%]

Downside (30%) [-39.1%, -0.1%] [-23.4%, 22.4%] [- 12.8%, 42.0%] [-4.6%, 52.6%]  [-0.9%, 60.5%]

* GDP and equity index is represented as range as they cover the indices of multiple countries the Bank operates in.

The above macroeconomic variables are selected based on the regression analysis between the macroeconomic
variables and the PD. These economic variables and their associated impact on the PD and LGD vary by country and
industry. Forecasts of these economic variables (for all scenarios) are provided by Moody's on a quarterly basis and
provide the best estimate view of the economy over future years.

As with any economic forecasts, the projections and likelihoods of occurrence are subject to a high degree of inherent
uncertainty and therefore the actual outcomes may be significantly different to those projected. The Group considers
these forecasts to represent its best estimate of the possible outcomes and has analysed the non-linearities and
asymmetries within the Group’s different geographies to establish that the chosen scenarios are appropriately
representative of the range of possible scenarios.
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24 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

24.4 Credit risk (continued)

24.4.1 Credit risk assessment and mitigation (continued)
Economic variable assumptions (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

Based on the above significant assumptions and changes in each economic variable by +5% and -5% while keeping
other key variables constant will result in a change in the ECL (stage 1 and 2) in the range of decrease by -11.3%
(2020: decrease by 9.7%) to an increase by 13.9% (2020: increase by 7.8%.)

24.4.2 Maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of any collateral and other credit
enhancements

The Group's concentration of risk is managed by geographical region and by industry sector. The table below shows

the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the consolidated statement of financial position, including

credit commitments and contingent items. The maximum exposure is shown gross, before the effect of mitigation

through the use of master netting and collateral agreements.

Gross maximum exposure

2021 2020

Liquid funds 2,580 1,723
Trading debt securities 884 154
Placements with banks and other financial institutions 3,031 1,803
Securities bought under repurchase agreements 698 1,823
Non-trading debt investments 8,333 6,687
Loans and advances 16,768 15,656
Other credit exposures 2,002 2,222
34,296 30,068

Credit commitments and contingent items (note 21) 7,735 7,054
Total 42,031 37,122

Where financial instruments are recorded at fair value the amounts shown above represent the current credit risk
exposure but not the maximum risk exposure that could arise in the future as a result of changes in values.

24.4.3 Risk concentration of the maximum exposure to credit risk
The Group's assets (before taking into account any cash collateral held or other credit enhancements) can be analysed

by the following geographical regions:

Assets
2021

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total
Western Europe 3,235 180 1 - 3,416
Arab World 15,950 373 70 1 16,394
Asia 1,179 - - - 1,179
North America 3,779 69 - - 3,848
Latin America 7,735 117 38 - 7,890
Other 1,568 1 - - 1,569
Total 33,446 740 109 1 34,296




Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31 December 2021

24 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

24.4 Credit risk (continued)

All figures in US$ Million

24.4.3 Risk concentration of the maximum exposure to credit risk (continued)

Western Europe
Arab World
Asia

North America
Latin America
Other

Total

The Group's liabilities and equity can be analysed by the following geographical regions:

Western Europe
Arab World
Asia

North America
Latin America
Other

Total

The Group's commitments and contingencies can be analysed by the following geographical regions:

Western Europe
Arab World
Asia

North America
Latin America
Other

Total

Western Europe
Arab World
Asia

North America
Latin America
Other

Total

Assets
2020
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total
2,647 237 1 - 2,885
13,388 436 104 - 13,928
1,272 - - - 1,272
2,620 16 - - 2,636
7,664 94 51 - 7,809
1,532 2 4 - 1,538
29,123 785 160 - 30,068
Liabilities and equity
2021 2020
2,060 2,047
24,422 20,790
357 340
1,147 877
5,635 5,673
1,276 680
34,897 30,407
Credit commitments and contingent items
2021
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total
916 54 3 - 973
3,284 52 21 - 3,357
129 1 4 - 134
845 2 - - 847
2,243 5 6 - 2,254
167 3 - - 170
7,584 117 34 - 7,735
Credit commitments and contingent items
2020
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total
697 138 3 - 838
2,384 131 12 - 2,527
266 3 9 - 278
699 82 7 - 788
2,242 7 - - 2,249
366 8 - - 374
6,654 369 31 - 7,054
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24 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
24.4 Credit risk (continued)

24.4.3 Risk concentration of the maximum exposure to credit risk (continued)
An industry sector analysis of the Group's financial assets (after taking risk transfer into account), before taking into
account cash collateral held or other credit enhancements, is as follows:

Gross maximum exposure

2021

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total
Financial services 11,550 19 1 - 11,570
Government 5,905 - - - 5,905
Other services 4,536 44 31 - 4,611
Manufacturing 2,741 110 23 - 2,874
Agriculture, fishing and forestry 1,283 13 2 - 1,298
Construction 1,245 219 12 - 1,476
Utilities 1,169 - - - 1,169
Energy 1,122 22 - - 1,144
Distribution 891 8 1 - 900
Personal /consumer finance 804 59 6 1 870
Transport 587 13 11 - 611
Commercial real estate financing 517 59 - - 576
Technology, media and telecommunications 473 - 18 - 491
Trade 299 121 1 - 421
Retailers 245 37 - - 282
Mining and quarrying 75 16 3 - 94
Residential mortgage 4 - - - 4
Total 33,446 740 109 1 34,296

Gross maximum exposure

2020

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total
Financial services 11,074 50 3 - 11,127
Government 4,819 - - - 4,819
Other services 2,446 4 65 - 2,515
Manufacturing 2,199 121 42 - 2,362
Agriculture, fishing and forestry 1,126 22 1 - 1,149
Construction 1,294 195 4 - 1,493
Utilities 1,044 - - - 1,044
Energy 1,097 28 - - 1,125
Distribution 954 8 - - 962
Personal /consumer finance 879 64 3 - 946
Transport 768 31 14 - 813
Commercial real estate financing 528 68 5 - 601
Technology, media and telecommunications 417 - - - 417
Trade 203 116 5 - 324
Retailers 192 61 - - 253
Mining and quarrying 78 17 18 - 113
Residential mortgage 5 - - - 5
Total 29,123 785 160 - 30,068
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24 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
24.4 Credit risk (continued)

24.4.3 Risk concentration of the maximum exposure to credit risk (continued)

An industry sector analysis of the Group's financial assets, after taking into account cash collateral held or other credit

enhancements, is as follows:

Net maximum exposure

2020

8,827
4,709
2,510
2,321
1,149
1,488
1,044
1,100
962
946
813
601
417
318
253
113

2021
Financial services 10,339
Government 5,814
Other services 4,419
Manufacturing 2,822
Agriculture, fishing and forestry 1,291
Construction 1,430
Utilities 1,168
Energy 1,144
Distribution 892
Personal /consumer finance 869
Transport 610
Commercial real estate financing 576
Technology, media and telecommunications 490
Trade 418
Retailers 281
Mining and quarrying 94
Total 32,657

27,571

An industry sector analysis of the Group's credit commitments and contingent items, before taking into account cash

collateral held or other credit enhancements, is as follows:

Gross maximum exposure

2021

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total
Financial services 2,645 49 - - 2,694
Government 57 - - - 57
Other services 698 1 2 - 701
Manufacturing 941 37 3 - 981
Agriculture, fishing and forestry 154 - - - 154
Construction 980 6 16 - 1,002
Utilities 802 3 4 - 809
Energy 234 - 1 - 235
Distribution 101 1 - - 102
Personal /consumer finance 84 - - - 84
Transport 412 13 6 - 431
Commercial real estate financing 51 - - - 51
Technology, media and telecommunications 142 - 2 - 144
Trade 118 5 - - 123
Retailers 139 2 - - 141
Mining and quarrying 26 - - - 26
Total 7,584 117 34 - 7,735
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24 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

24.4 Credit risk (continued)

24.4.3 Risk concentration of the maximum exposure to credit risk (continued)

Gross maximum exposure

2020

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 POCI Total
Financial services 2,091 30 - - 2,121
Government 79 - - - 79
Other services 447 6 14 - 467
Manufacturing 1,039 175 - - 1,214
Agriculture, fishing and forestry 153 - - - 153
Construction 579 67 10 - 656
Utilities 853 22 - - 875
Energy 392 24 - - 416
Distribution 157 3 - - 160
Personal /consumer finance 103 - - - 103
Transport 236 - 7 - 243
Commercial real estate financing 86 - - - 86
Technology, media and telecommunications 182 10 - - 192
Trade 57 13 - - 70
Retailers 183 19 - - 202
Mining and quarrying 17 - - - 17
Total 6,654 369 31 - 7,054

An industry sector analysis of the Group's credit commitments and contingent items, after taking into account cash
collateral held or other credit enhancements, is as follows:

Net maximum exposure

2021 2020
Financial services 2,550 2,033
Government 50 72
Other services 694 460
Manufacturing 974 1,203
Agriculture, fishing and forestry 152 153
Construction 974 649
Utilities 804 875
Energy 233 405
Distribution 100 150
Personal /consumer finance 84 103
Transport 424 243
Commercial real estate financing 51 86
Technology, media and telecommunications 143 192
Trade 114 64
Retailers 141 202
Mining and quarrying 26 17
Total 7,514 6,907
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24 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

24.4 Credit risk (continued)

24.4.4 Credit quality per class of financial assets
The credit quality of financial assets is managed by the Group using internal credit ratings. The table below shows the
credit quality by class of financial asset, based on the Group's credit rating system.

31 December 2021

Liquid funds
Trading debt securities
Placements with banks and other
financial institutions
Securities bought under repurchase agreements
Non-trading debt investments
Loans and advances
Other credit exposures

31 December 2020

Liquid funds
Trading debt securities
Placements with banks and other
financial institutions
Securities bought under repurchase agreements
Non-trading debt investments
Loans and advances
Other credit exposures

All figures in US$ Million

Past due
Neith, t di i ired

either past due nor impaire Past due and
High Standard but not individually

grade grade impaired impaired Total

2,117 463 - - 2,580

538 346 - - 884

813 2,218 - - 3,031

- 698 - - 698

4,713 3,617 - 3 8,333

3,672 12,926 64 106 16,768

1,761 240 - 1 2,002

13,614 20,508 64 110 34,296
Neither past due nor impaired Past due
Past due and
High Standard but not individually

grade grade impaired impaired Total

1,355 368 - - 1,723

- 154 - - 154

938 865 - - 1,803

100 1,723 - - 1,823

4,101 2,582 - 4 6,687

3,962 11,461 77 156 15,656

2,011 211 - - 2,222

12,467 17,364 77 160 30,068
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24 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
24.4 Credit risk (continued)

24.4.4 Credit quality per class of financial assets (continued)

It is the Group's policy to maintain accurate and consistent risk ratings across the credit portfolio through a risk rating
system. This facilitates focused management of the applicable risks and the comparison of credit exposures across all
lines of business, geographic regions and products. The rating is supported by a variety of financial analytics,
combined with processed market information to provide the main inputs for the measurement of credit risk. All
internal ratings are tailored to the various categories and are derived in accordance with the Group's credit policy. The
attributable risk ratings are assessed and updated regularly. Each risk rating class has grades equivalent to Moody's,
S&P, Fitch and CI rating agencies.

24.4.5 Carrying amount per class of financial assets whose terms have been renegotiated as at year-end

2021 2020

Loans and advances* 527 650

* This includes loans deferrals granted on account of COVID-19 amounting to US$ 108 million (2020: US$ 156
million).

24.4.6 Overview of modified or forborne loans
From a risk management point of view, once an asset is forborne or modified, the Group’s Remedial Loan Unit (RLU)
continues to monitor the exposure until it is completely and ultimately derecognised.

The gross carrying value of financial assets modified during the year amounted to US$ nil with a corresponding ECL
of US$ nil (2020: gross carrying amount of US$ nil with a corresponding ECL of US$ nil).

Due to the current COVID-19 scenario, central banks of various jurisdictions, where the Group operates, either
required or recommended the Group to voluntarily provide payment deferrals or other forms of customer support.
Accordingly, the Group provided obligors seeking forbearance in the form of a deferral of repayments or interest as a
result of the impact of COVID-19 in line with local regulatory guidelines in each jurisdiction. The staging and ECL
estimation for such customers and any associated reporting are also done in line with regulatory guidance. The CBB
also issued several circulars with respect to COVID-19 outbreak to banks in the Kingdom of Bahrain with respect to
deferral of repayments of principal and interest due for affected sectors, pursuant to which the Group has assessed the
deferral requests received on a case-by-case basis in compliance with the CBB circulars. As the Group has not granted
any interest waiver requests, no modification loss has been recognised during the years ended 31 December 2021 and
2020. Further, forbearances granted were approved by appropriate governance and local regulatory guidelines were
applied for staging and ECL purposes.

The Group provided forbearances to its customers with a corresponding outstanding of US$ 396 million as on 31
December 2021 (2020: US$ 894 million).

24.4.7 Collateral and other credit enhancements
The amount and type of collateral depends on an assessment of the credit risk of the counterparty. The types of
collateral mainly include cash, guarantees from banks, movable and immovable assets.

Management monitors the market value of collateral, requests additional collateral in accordance with the underlying
agreement, and monitors the market value of collateral obtained during its review of the adequacy of the allowance for
impairment losses. The Group also makes use of master netting agreements with counterparties.
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24 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
24.4 Credit risk (continued)
24.4.7 Collateral and other credit enhancements (continued)

Credit exposure loan to value ratios of real estate portfolio
The real estate credit exposure of the Group amounts to US$1,428 million (2020: US$1,440 million). The average
loan to value ratios for this exposure is 49% (2020 average: 52%).

24.4.8 Maximum exposure to credit risk — Financial instruments not subject to impairment
The following table contains an analysis of the maximum credit risk exposure from financial assets not subject to
impairment (i.e. FVTPL):

Maximum exposure to credit

risk

2021 2020
Trading securities
- Debt Securities 884 154
Trading derivatives 655 982
Hedging derivatives 11 1
Financial assets designated at FVTPL
- Loans and advances to customers 152 65

245 Settlement risk

Settlement risk is the risk of loss due to the failure of a counterparty to honour its obligations to deliver cash, securities
or other assets as contractually agreed. For certain types of transactions, the Group mitigates this risk through a
settlement agent to ensure that a trade is settled only when both parties fulfil their settlement obligations. Settlement
approvals form a part of credit approval and limit monitoring procedure.

24.6 Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the Group’s earnings or capital, or its ability to support business strategy, will be impacted
by the change in market rates or prices related to interest rates, equity prices, credit spreads, foreign exchange rates,
and commodity prices.

The Group has established risk management policies and limits within which exposure to market risk is monitored and
measured by the Risk Management Department (RMD) with strategic oversight exercised by GALCO. The RMD’s
Market Risk (MR) unit is responsible for developing and implementing market risk policy, risk measuring/monitoring
methodology and product limits prior to GALCO approval. The unit also has the responsibility to measure and report
market risk against limits throughout the Group.

The Group manages market risk by classifying into two types: a) trading market risk; and b) investment market risk.
Trading market risk arises primarily from positions held in the trading books from market-making to support client
activities. This involves the management of client originated exposures in interest rates, equities, corporate and
sovereign debt, foreign exchange rates, commodities and derivatives of these asset classes, such as forwards, futures,
options and swaps. Trading market risk may also arise from positions originated by the Bank subject to the market risk
appetite and limits defined by the GALCO and BRC.

Investment market risk arises from market factors affecting securities held in high quality liquid assets (HQLA)
portfolio and liquid marketable securities which are held under its FVOCI portfolio and where the impact of the
changes in fair value due to market factors is through FVOCI.

The trading and investment market risks are managed by MR using a full suite of market risk limits including Value at
Risk, sensitivity limits on key market parameters, notional limits on the size of investment portfolios, stop-loss limits
and also stress testing to monitor the impact of significant market moves. These limits are monitored by MR and
reported daily to business lines and management.
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24 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

24.7 Interest rate risk in the banking book

Interest rate risk in the banking book refers to current or prospective risk to the Group’s capital and earnings arising
from adverse movements in interest rates that affect future profitability or the fair values of financial instruments . The
Group is exposed to interest rate risk as a result of mismatches of interest rate re pricing of assets and liabilities. This
risk is minimized as the Group's rate sensitive assets and liabilities are mostly floating rate, where the duration risk is
lower. The Group has set risk limits for both earnings at risk (EAR) and economic value of equity (EVE) for interest
rate risk in the banking book (IRRBB). In general, the Group uses matched currency funding and translates fixed rate
instruments to floating rate to better manage the duration in the asset book.

The sensitivity of the consolidated statement of profit or loss is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rates on
the net interest income for one year, based on financial assets and financial liabilities held at 31 December, including
the effect of hedging instruments. The sensitivity of equity is calculated by revaluing fixed rate FVOCI financial
assets, including the effect of any associated hedges and swaps. Substantially all the FVOCI non-trading securities
held by the Group are floating rate assets. Hence, the sensitivity to changes in equity due to interest rate changes is
minimal.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s consolidated statement of profit or loss.

2021

Increase in Sensitivity Decrease in Sensitivity

basis consolidated basis consolidated

points statement of points statement of

profit or loss profit or loss

US Dollar 25 4 25 -
Euro 25 - 25 -
Pound Sterling 25 1 25 a
Brazilian Real 25 2 25 ?)
Others 25 1 25 )

2020

Increase in Sensitivity Decrease in Sensitivity

basis consolidated basis consolidated
points statement of points statement of

profit or loss profit or loss

US Dollar 25 3 25 -
Euro 25 1 25 -
Pound Sterling 25 1 25 (1)
Brazilian Real 25 2 25 2)
Others 25 - 25 -

Managing interest rate benchmark reform and associated risks
The IBOR reforms exposes the Group to risks including risks relating to interest rate basis, pricing, operations and
information system.

The Group has, in accordance with the recommendations issued by the regulatory authorities in the United States of
America (USA) and United Kingdom (UK), ensured readiness to enter into new contracts referencing the Alternative
Reference Rates (ARRs) that are replacing LIBOR in loans, deposits and derivatives including hedge transactions.
The Bank has updated core banking systems across its network to support LIBOR transition prioritizing three key
interest rate methodologies which are anticipated to be the methodologies adopted in the majority of new contracts.
The Group has compiled an inventory of existing LIBOR referencing deals on its books and engaged through its client
facing RMs in a deal-by-deal contract review to plan for the remediation and transition of these existing contracts to
ARRs over the course of next 18 months. The Group established a project team and a steering committee to manage
the transition from LIBOR to recommended ARRs such as SONIA and SOFR.
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24 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
24.7 Interest rate risk in the banking book (continued)

Managing interest rate benchmark reform and associated risks (continued)

On 5 March 2021 the administrator of LIBOR, the ICE Benchmark Administration, announced that publication of
overnight, one-month, three-month, six-month, and 12-month USD LIBOR will cease immediately following the
LIBOR publication on 30 June 2023, and that publication of all other currency and tenor variants of LIBOR will cease
immediately following the LIBOR publication on 31 December 2021.

On 29 September 2021, the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) in the UK announced that it will compel the ICE
Benchmark Administration to continue to publish one-month, three-month, and six-month Sterling LIBOR and
Japanese Yen LIBOR after 31 December 2021, using a “synthetic” methodology that is not based on panel bank
contributions. The FCA has indicated that it may also require the ICE Benchmark Administration to publish one-
month, three-month, and six-month USD LIBOR after 30 June 2023, using a similar synthetic methodology. These
synthetic GBP LIBORs, synthetic JPY LIBORs, and synthetic USD LIBORs are expected to be published for a
limited period of time and would not be used in new contracts.

The Group applies temporary reliefs available under phase 1 and 2 amendments which enable its hedge accounting to
continue during the period of uncertainty, before the replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark with an ARR.
These are explained in note 4.

The Group's substantial part of the financial instruments are subject to IBOR reforms at 31 December 2021 and have
not yet transitioned out of the current IBOR to ARR.

24.8 Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates.

The table below indicates the currencies to which the Group had significant exposure at 31 December 2021 and 31
December 2020 on its monetary assets and liabilities and its forecast cash flows. The analysis calculates the effect of a
reasonably possible movement of the currency rate against the USS, with all other variables held constant on the
consolidated statement of profit or loss (due to the fair value of currency sensitive trading and non-trading monetary
assets and liabilities) and equity (due to the change in fair value of currency swaps and forward foreign exchange
contracts used as fair value hedges) and the effect of the impact of foreign currency movements on the structural
positions of the Bank in its subsidiaries. A negative amount in the table reflects a potential net reduction in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss or equity, while a positive amount reflects a potential net increase.

2021 2020
Change in Effect on Change in Effect on

currency profit Effect on currency profit Effect on

rate in % before tax equity rate in % before tax equity
Currency
Brazilian Real +/- 5% - +/-26 +/- 5% - +/-25
Pound Sterling +/- 5% +/-1 - +/- 5% +/-1 -
Egyptian Pound +-5% - +/-27 +-5% - +/-5
Jordanian Dinar +/- 5% +/-3 +/-10 +/- 5% +/-2 +/-9
Algerian Dinar +/- 5% - +/-8 +/- 5% - +/-8
Tunisian Dinar +/- 5% - +-1 +/- 5% - +/-2
Bahrain Dinar +-5% +/-2 - +-5% - -
Omani Riyal +/- 5% +/-3 - +-5% +/-5 -

24.9 Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equities decrease as the result of changes in the levels of equity
indices and the value of individual stocks. The non-trading equity price risk exposure arises from the Group's
securities portfolio.
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24 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

249 Equity price risk (continued)

The effect on equity (as a result of a change in the fair value of trading equity instruments and equity instruments held
at FVOCI) due to a reasonably possible change in equity indices or the net asset values, with all other variables held
constant, is as follows:

2021 2020
Change in Change in
Effect on Effect on
consolidated consolidated
statement statement

% Change in of profit or loss/ % Change in of profit or loss/

equity price equity equity price equity
Trading equities +/-5% +/-1 +/- 5% +/-1
Equity securities at FVOCI +/-5% +/-1 +/- 5% -

24.10 Operational risk
Operational Risk is defined as the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and
systems including internal frauds, or from external events including external frauds risk.

The Group adheres to the three lines of defence model for the management of operational risk. The business (first line
of defence) is supported by independent Operational Risk Management Departments reporting to the local Chief Risk
Officers or local Heads of Risk (second line of defence). The management of Operational Risk is subject to
independent review by Internal Audit (third line of defence).

The Group Operational Risk Committee (GORCO), as a sub-committee of GRC assists with the management of
Operational Risks across the Group to ensure that the Operational Risk Policy as approved by the BRC, is
implemented and monitored across the Group.

The GORCO:

e  Defines the policy for the management of Operational Risks and recommends for approval by the GRC and
BRC.

e  Advises the GRC and the BRC with establishing, approving and periodically reviewing the tolerance for
Operational Risks at the Group.

e  Monitors and reviews the Operational Risk losses across various Group businesses and its subsidiaries.

e  Defines the various components of the Operational Risk Management Framework at the Group and oversees
the implementation of the framework across the Group.

e  Oversees the actions taken to maintain losses are in line with the Operational Risk Appetite.

The implementation of the Operational Risk Management Framework is governed by the GORCO. Local Operational
Risk Committees oversee the implementation of the Operational Risk Management Framework and the management
of Operational Risk across all subsidiaries and branches of the Group. The Group Operational Risk Management
Department at Head Office is responsible for the development of the group-wide methodology, quality control and
system support.

The Group has implemented the following for the management of Operational Risks:

Operational Risk Appetite, as part of the Group Risk Appetite Statement;
Standardized Operational Risk Taxonomy

Incident management;

Risk & Control Self-Assessments;

Issue and Action management; and

Key Risk and Performance Indicators.
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24 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

24.10 Operational risk (continued)

All loss events and relevant incidents are captured in a group-wide incident database. The threshold for reporting loss
events is US$ 50 gross. The Group has implemented a group-wide Governance, Risk and Compliance solution, GRC
platform. This group-wide solution is being used by Audit, Risk and Compliance.

A wide range of management information reports have been tailored to meet the needs of different stakeholders, these
also provide information on the Operational Risk profile of the Bank and its subsidiaries.

Operational risk appetite

The Group has its Operational Risk appetite in the Board Approved Group Risk Appetite Statement in terms of
absolute gross loss amounts due to Operational Risk incidents. In addition a set of Early Warning Indicators are used
to monitor different sub risk categories related to operational risk.

Timeframes have been defined within which action plans must be prepared for the treatment of control weaknesses
rated ‘Critical’, Significant’ or ‘Moderate’

In line with the Board-led Group Risk Appetite Statement, Operational Risk tolerance is set and monitored by the
Board Risk Committee.

24.10.1 Operational resilience

Operational resilience is the ability of the Bank to carry out its mission or business despite the occurrence of
operational stress or disruption, protecting its customers, shareholders and ultimately the integrity of the financial
system. The operational resilience framework includes a set of techniques that allow people, processes and
informational systems to adapt to changing patterns, respond to and recover from factors that may hinder the Bank
from functioning.

The Bank adheres to the three lines of defense model for the management of operational resilience risk. The business
(first line of defence) is supported by an independent Cyber and IT Risk Management Departments (second line of
defence). The management of operational resilience risk is subject to independent review by Internal Audit (third line
of defence).

The Group Operational Resilience Committee (“GORC”) assists GRC with the oversight of the Bank’s Operational
resilience framework, by such it oversees:

o  Information security, including Cyber security

Information Technology

Business Continuity, Disaster Recovery and Crisis Management
Bank’s compliance with Privacy laws (Personal Data Protection)
Outsourcing and Vendor Management (External dependencies)

The GORC reviews and recommends to GRC, the Bank’s business resilience for each area it oversees.
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Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)
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25 OPERATING SEGMENTS

For management purposes, the Group is organised into five operating segments which are based on business units
and their activities. The Group has accordingly been structured to place its activities under the distinct divisions
which are as follows:

e MENA subsidiaries cover retail, corporate and treasury activities of subsidiaries in North Africa and
Levant;

e International wholesale banking encompasses corporate and structured finance, trade finance, Islamic
banking services and syndications;
e Group treasury comprises treasury activities of Bahrain Head Office, New York and London;

e ABC Brasil primarily reflects the commercial banking and treasury activities of the Brazilian subsidiary
Banco ABC Brasil S.A., focusing on the corporate and middle market segments in Brazil and its related
holding Company; and

e Other includes activities of Arab Financial Services Company B.S.C. (c) and ila Bank.

2021
International
MENA wholesale Group ABC
subsidiaries banking treasury Brasil Other Total

Net interest income 165 181 68 174 4 592
Other operating income 41 71 38 91 21 262
Total operating income 206 252 106 265 25 854
Total operating expenses azn (114) 23) 110) 74) (442)
Net operating profit (loss) before

credit loss expense, taxation and

unallocated operating expenses 85 138 83 155 49) 412
Credit loss expense (32) (36) - 37 a (106)
Profit (loss) before taxation and

unallocated operating expenses 53 102 83 118 (50) 306
Taxation expense on

foreign operations 27 5) 1) (18) - (51)
Unallocated operating expenses az27)
Profit for the year 128
Operating assets

as at 31 December 2021 6,827 9,124 10,886 7,740 320 34,897
Operating liabilities

as at 31 December 2021 5,971 - 17,635 6,779 277 30,662
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25 OPERATING SEGMENTS (continued)

All figures in US$ Million

2020
International
MENA wholesale Group ABC
subsidiaries banking treasury Brasil Other Total

Net interest income 121 166 70 143 16 516
Other operating income 41 53 47 (32) 21 130
Total operating income 162 219 117 111 37 646
Total operating expenses (98) (101) (22) (96) (68) (385)
Net operating profit / (loss) before

credit loss expense, taxation and

unallocated operating expenses 64 118 95 15 (€28) 261
Credit loss expense 24) (244) - (59) () (329)
Profit (loss) before taxation and

unallocated operating expenses 40 (126) 95 (44) (33) (68)
Taxation (expense) credit on

foreign operations (16) (1) - 111 - 94
Unallocated operating expenses (101)
Loss for the year (75)
Operating assets

as at 31 December 2020 3,648 8,542 10,310 7,745 162 30,407
Operating liabilities

as at 31 December 2020 3,053 - 16,309 6,739 162 26,263

Geographical information

The Group operates in six geographic markets: Middle East and North Africa, Western Europe, Asia, North
America, Latin America and others. The following table show the external total operating income of the major
units within the Group, based on the country of domicile of the entity for the years ended 31 December 2021 and

2020:

2021

Total operating income

2020

Total operating income

Bahrain Europe Brasil Other Total
207 118 265 264 854
234 93 113 206 646

There were no revenues derived from transactions with a single external customer that amounted to 10% or more

of the Group's revenue (2020: none).

125



126

Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C.)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021
All figures in US$ Million

26 REPURCHASE AND RESALE AGREEMENTS

Proceeds from assets sold under repurchase agreements at the year-end amounted to US$ 2,011 million (2020:
US$ 1,151 million). The carrying value of securities sold under repurchase agreements at the year-end amounted to
US$ 2,035 million (2020: US$ 1,257 million).

Amounts paid for assets purchased under resale agreements at the year-end amounted to US$ 698 million (2020:
US$ 1,823 million), net of ECL allowance, and relate to customer product and treasury activities. The market value
of the securities purchased under resale agreements at the year-end amounted to US$ 698 million (2020: US$
1,957 million).

27 TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

Related parties represent the ultimate parent, major shareholders, associates, directors and key management
personnel of the Group and entities controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by such parties.
Pricing policies and terms of these transactions are approved by the Group's management.

The year-end balances in respect of related parties included in the consolidated financial statements are as follows:

Ultimate Major
parent shareholder  Directors 2021 2020
Deposits from customers 3,560 700 9 4,269 3,982
Borrowings 1,115 - - 1,115 1,330
Short-term self-liquidating trade and
transaction-related contingent items 347 - - 347 171

The income and expenses in respect of related parties included in the consolidated financial statements are as
follows:

2021 2020

Commission income 12 6

Interest expense 49 93
Compensation of the key management personnel is as follows:

2021 2020

Short term employee benefits 17 12

Post employment benefits 4 5

21 17

28 FIDUCIARY ASSETS

Funds under management at the year-end amounted to US$ 18,240 million (2020: US$ 16,579 million). These
assets are held in a fiduciary capacity and are not included in the consolidated statement of financial position.

29 ISLAMIC DEPOSITS AND ASSETS

Deposits from customers, banks and borrowings include Islamic deposits of US$ 2,395 million (2020: US$ 2,243
million). Loans and advances, non-trading investments and placements include Islamic assets of US$ 887 million
(2020: US$ 1,122 million), US$ 864 million (2020: US$ 842 million) and US$ 19 million (2020: US $53
million).
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30 ASSETS PLEDGED AS SECURITY

At the reporting date, in addition to the items mentioned in note 26, assets amounting to US$ 302 million (2020:
US$ 407 million) have been pledged as security for borrowings and other banking operations.

31 BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE AND PROPOSED DIVIDENDS AND
TRANSFERS

31.1  Basic and diluted earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to sharecholders of the parent for the year
by the weighted average number of shares during the year. Diluted EPS is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to shareholders of the parent by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year
plus the weighted average number of shares that would be issued on conversion of all the dilutive potential shares
into shares.

The Group's earnings for the year (before proposed dividends) are as follows:

2021 2020
Profit (loss) attributable to the shareholders of the parent 100 (89)
Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year

(millions) for basic EPS 3,086 3,086

Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share (US$) 0.03 (0.03)
31.2  Proposed dividends and transfers

2021 2020
Proposed cash dividend for 2021 of US$ 0.01 per share (2020: nil per share) 31 -

32 CAPITAL ADEQUACY

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management policies are to ensure that the Group complies with
externally imposed capital requirements and that the Group maintains strong credit ratings and healthy capital
ratios in order to support its business and to maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of its activities. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue capital
securities. No changes were made in the objectives, policies and processes from the previous years.

The risk asset ratio calculations as at 31 December 2021 are based on standardised measurement methodology
and in accordance with the CBB Basel III guidelines.

CAPITAL BASE 2021 2020
CET 1 [a] 3,977 3,971
AT 1 82 84
Total Tier 1 capital [b] 4,059 4,055
Tier 2 265 230
Total capital base [c] 4,324 4,285
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32 CAPITAL ADEQUACY (continued)

RISK WEIGHTED EXPOSURES

2021 2020
Credit risk weighted assets and off balance sheet items 23,017 21,350
Market risk weighted assets and off balance sheet items 974 1,501
Operational risk weighted assets 1,604 1,632
Total risk weighted assets [d] 25,595 24,483
CET 1 ratio [a/d*100] 15.5% 16.2%
Tier 1 ratio [b/d*100] 15.9% 16.6%
Risk asset ratio [c/d*100] 16.9% 17.5%
Minimum requirement for Risk asset ratio 12.5% 12.5%

The Group’s capital base primarily comprises:

(a) Tier 1 capital: share capital, treasury shares, reserves, retained earnings, non controlling interests, profit for the
year and cumulative changes in fair value;

(b) Additional Tier 1 Capital: eligible portion of a perpetual financial instrument issued by the Bank's subsidiary; and
(c) Tier 2 capital: eligible non controlling interests and expected credit losses.
The Group has complied with all the capital adequacy requirements as set by the Central Bank of Bahrain.

33 CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

1 Foreign 31
January Cash flow, exchange  December
2021 net movement 2021
Certificates of deposit 494 234 A3 725
Borrowings 1,795 (581) A3 1,211
Total liabilities from financing activities 2,289 (347) (6) 1,936
1 Foreign 31
January  Cash flow,  exchange  December
2020 net  movement 2020
Certificates of deposit 399 101 (6) 494
Borrowings 2,080 (272) (13) 1,795
Total liabilities from financing activities 2,479 (171) (19) 2,289
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34 BUSINESS COMBINATION ON ACQUISTION

34.1 Acquisition of BLOM Bank Egypt

On 15 January 2021, the Bank entered into a sale and purchase agreement with BLOM Bank SAL, Lebanon, to
acquire its 99.5% (including stake bought through mandatory tender offer) stake of BLOM Bank Egypt [S.A.E]
(Blom Bank Egypt) at a proposed cash consideration valuing the Blom Bank Egypt’s 100% ownership at EGP
6,700 million. As part of the agreement, there were various conditions for the completion of acquisition. These
conditions included, among others, various regulatory approvals in the Kingdom of Bahrain, Egypt and Lebanon
and completion of authorised capital increase of Blom Bank Egypt. All the regulatory approvals and relevant
completion conditions were fulfilled and the Group completed the acquisition transaction during 2021.

The transaction has been accounted for using the acquisition method under IFRS 3 — Business Combinations
(IFRS 3). The Group's subsidiaries in Egypt namely Arab Banking Corporation Egypt [S.A.E] and Blom Bank
Egypt will continue operating as separate entities until the legal merger is completed which is expected to
conclude during the first half of 2022 and is subject to regulatory approvals.

For the purpose of consolidated financial statements for 2021, the Bank has accounted for this acquisition using
provisional fair values of the acquired assets and assumed liabilities as at the acquisition date. Adjustment to the
provisional values will be finalised within twelve months of the date of acquisition as allowed by IFRS 3.

a) Purchase consideration

Cash flow
on
acquisition
Net cash acquired with the subsidiary 141
Cash paid (426)
(285)

b) Acquisition related costs

During 2021, the Group incurred acquisition related costs on account of fees to third parties for legal, valuation
and transaction services as well as costs of third party consultants working on the acquisition amounting to US$ 12
million (2020: US$ nil).

c) Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
The following table summarises the recognised amounts (provisional fair values) of assets acquired and liabilities
assumed at the date of acquisition.

Provisional
fair values
at
acquisition
date

ASSETS
Liquid funds 141
Trading securities 2
Placements with banks and other financial institutions 897
Securities bought under repurchase agreements 46
Non-trading investments 1,078
Loans and advances 739
Other assets 56
Premises and equipment 920
TOTAL ASSETS 3,049
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34 BUSINESS COMBINATION ON ACQUISTION (continued)

34.1 Acquisition of BLOM Bank Egypt (continued)

c) Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed (continued)
Provisional
fair values
at
acquisition
date
LIABILITIES
Deposits from customers 2,262
Deposits from banks 5
Certificates of deposit 372
Securities sold under repurchase agreements 19
Other liabilities 58
Borrowings 3
Total liabilities 2,719
Total identifiable net asset (at provisional fair values) as at acquisition date 330
Provisional goodwill arising from the acquisition recorded under other assets 96
Total purchase consideration 426

The Group measured the acquired lease liabilities using the present value of the remaining lease payments at the
date of acquisition. The right-of-use assets were measured at an amount equal to the lease liabilities and adjusted
to reflect the favourable terms of the lease relative to market terms. The Group elected to value the non-controlling
interest using its proportionate share of the Blom Bank Egypt’s identifiable net assets and was calculated at US$ 2
million.

(d) Acquired Receivables
For each class of acquired receivables, the fair value, gross contractual amounts receivable and the best estimate of
the contractual cash flows not expected to be collected are as follows:

Contractual
Provisional Gross  cash flows
fair value of contractual not expected
the acquired amount to be
receivables receivable collected
Liquid funds 141 141 -
Trading securities 2 2 -
Placements with banks and other financial institutions 897 897 -
Securities bought under repurchase agreements 46 46 -
Non-trading investments 1,078 1,079 1)
Loans and advances 739 839 (100)
Other financial assets 47 49 2)
Total 2,950 3,053 (103)

In addition, non-receivable assets and liabilities were subject to provisional fair value adjustments, such as
premises and equipment.
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34 BUSINESS COMBINATION ON ACQUISTION (continued)

341 Acquisition of BLOM Bank Egypt (continued)

e) Goodwill

Goodwill calculated based on a provisional purchase price allocation has been included in the consolidated
financial statements. Subsequent adjustments during the measurement period will occur as the Group completes its
estimation of fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The accounting for the fair value of the
acquired Blom Bank Egypt financial assets and liabilities is provisional due to the inherent complexity and
judgement associated with identifying intangible assets, and determining the fair value of identified intangible
assets and on-balance sheet items. The goodwill is primarily attributable to the expected future earnings of the
acquired business and synergies created. Further goodwill is not allocated to the cash generating units.

) Impact on Group’s results

From the date of acquisition until 31 December 2021, Blom Bank Egypt contributed operating income of US$ 49
million and a net profit before taxation of US$ 19 million to the Group’s results. If the acquisition had occurred on
1 January 2021, management estimates that operating income and net profit before taxation for the year would be
USS$ 119 million and US$ 43 million, respectively.

35 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

There were no subsequent events through 13 February 2022, the date the consolidated financial statements were
approved by the Board of Directors.
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Bank ABC delivered outstanding results during 2021, rebounding from a challenging 2020 to deliver a net
profit of US$100 million as a result of a strong performance across our core markets, supported by a pick-up
in overall activity and much lower impairment charges.

In a strategic milestone for the Bank, we successfully completed the acquisition of BLOM Bank Eqypt S.AE,
a leading bank in Eqypt, with a national presence through 41 branches. Its incorporation with our existing
Bank ABC franchise will unlock the potential of this critical regional market to support future growth and
profitability for the Group.

Statement of profit or loss

The Group reported a net profit of US$100 million in 2021, with cost of risk retracing towards pre-pandemic
levels. This result marks a robust turnaround from 2020, which was impacted by abnormally elevated
impairment charges (ECL) related to regional fraud cases, leading to a net loss of US$89 million. This
resulted in earnings per share for the year of US$0.03, compared to US$-0.03 for the previous year.

The Group’s return to profitability this year demonstrates the resilience and strength in our home market
and across our footprint. We accelerated our strategic transformation to build our ‘bank of the future’,
bolstered our international operations through the strategic acquisition of a 99.5% stake in BLOM Bank
Egupt (BBE), and enhanced our digital proposition through a range of key partnerships and initiatives.

Net interest income for the year was US$592 million, an increase of 15% compared to US$516 million in 2020,
after absorbing the impact of declining interest rates and FX depreciation. Non-interest income jumped

by 102% to US$262 million from US$130 million the previous year, mainly due to last year’s income being
affected by significantly higher hedging in Banco ABC Brasil.

Meanwhile, the Group’s total operating income was US$854 million for the full year, a rise of 32% from
US$646 million in 2020. On an underlying basis, total operating income was US$879 million for the year, an
increase of 17% over US$749 million for the same period last year. This result reflected the strong recovery
across most of our markets and business lines, and to some extent consolidation of BBE recently.

Operating expenses totalled US$569 million for 2021, rising by 17% from US$486 million as a result of the
integration of BBE together with related acquisition expenses and with our businesses returning to normal
level of activity. 2021 saw the Group’s cost trajectory return to normal levels, through an unrelenting focus
on cost discipline and continued investments in the Group’s digital transformation and strategic initiatives.



Credit loss expenses for the year stood at US$106 million, compared with the previous year's US$329 million.

Profit before taxation and income attributable to non-controlling interests was US$179 million, a turnaround
from a loss of US$169 million in 2020. Taxation on operations outside Bahrain was a charge of US$51 million
(2020: credit of US$94 million), resulting in the full year net profit attributable to the shareholders of the
parent of US$100 million.

Sources and uses of funds

Notwithstanding the challenging conditions of the year, the Group’s overall asset portfolio quality remains
solid and our underwriting standards are sound.

Equity attributable to the shareholders of the parent at the end of the period was US$3,872 million, an
increase of 2.8% from the US$3,767 million reported at end of 2020.

The Group’s asset profile is predominantly made up of loans, securities, and placements. The loans and
advances portfolio stood at US$16,768 million, 71% higher than the US$15,656 million posted at year-end
2020, after including the US$0.8 billion of loans and advances of BBE. Non-trading investments increased by
US$1,654 million to US%$8,350 million, money market placements by US$1,228 million to US$3,031 million and
liquid funds by US$874 million to US%$2,626 million.

Deposits from customers increased by US$3,561 million to US$20,734 million, including US$2.6 billion of BBE
deposits, underscaring the confidence of our clients despite challenging economic conditions. Deposits from
banks, certificates of deposit and repos totalled US$7124 million (2020: US$5,241 million), while borrowings
totalled US$1,211 million (2020: US%$1,795 million).

Total assets of the Group at the end of the year stood at US$34,897 million, 14.8% higher than at US$30,407
million as at year-end 2020, primarily as a result of the inclusion of US$3 billion of BBE assets. Average
assets for the year were US%$32,165 million (2020: US$29,976 million) and average liabilities, including non-
controlling interests, were US%$28,336 million (2020: US$26,255 million).

Credit commitments, contingent items and derivatives

The notional value of the Group's consolidated off-balance sheet items stood at US$55,374 million (2020:
US$39,047 million), comprising credit commitments and contingencies of US$7736 million (2020: US$7,054
million) and derivatives of U5$47639 million (2020: US$31,993 million). The credit risk-weighted asset
equivalent of these off-balance sheet items was US$3,009 million (2020: US$3,056 million).
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The Group uses a range of derivative products for the purposes of hedging and servicing customer-related
requirements, as well as for short-term trading purposes. The total market risk-weighted equivalent of

the exposures under these categories at the end of 2021 was US$929 million (2020: US$1,458 million). No
significant credit derivative trading activities were undertaken during the year.

Geographical and maturity distribution of the balance sheet

Bank ABC Group has well diversified assets, primarily across the Arab world, the Americas and Western
Europe. The Group’s liabilities and equity are predominantly in the Arab world (70%; vs. 68% in 2020),
followed by Latin America (16%; vs. 19% in 2020), chiefly in our Brazilian subsidiary, Banco ABC Brasil.

Financial assets Liabilities & equity Loans & advances

(%) 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
Arab world 48 46 70 68 43 47
Western Europe 10 10 6 7 12 11
Asia 3 4 1 1 2 2
North America 1 9 3 3 7 5
Latin America 23 26 16 19 29 29
Others 5 5 4 2 7 6

100 100 100 100 100 100

An analysis of the maturity profile of financial assets according to when they are expected to be recovered
or settled, or when they could be realised, shows that at the end of 2021, 57% (2020: 57%) had a maturity
of one year or less. Loans and advances maturing within one year amounted to 62% (2020: 62%). The
proportion of liabilities maturing within one year was 53 % (2020: 52%).

Financial assets Liabilities & equity

(%) 2021 2020 2021 2020
Within 1 month 24 28 23 20
1-3 months 15 10 12 15
3-6 months 8 9 7 7
6-12 months 10 10 1 1
QOver 1 year 36 36 30 27
Undated 7 7 17 20

100 100 100 100
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Distribution of credit exposure

ABC Group's credit exposure (defined as the gross credit risk to which the Group is potentially exposed) as

of 31 December 2021 is given below:

Group Financial Review

Credit
Funded exposure commitments & Derivatives*
contingent items

(US$ millions) 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
Customer type
Banks 5,497 5954 1,974 1,557 341 314
Non-banks 16,496 15,757 5,367 5,295 193 195
Sovereign 10,360 6,189 395 202 9 7

32,353 27900 7,736 7054 543 516
Risk rating
1 = Exceptional 976 1144 980 462 - -
2 = Excellent 4,580 2,664 172 292 26 8
3 = Superior 3,179 3,455 250 227 380 357
4 = Good 3,165 3,227 872 1,029 66 17
5 = Satisfactory 8,841 8,957 3,161 3,118 45 73
6 = Adequate 10,941 7786 2,073 1611 26 60
7 = Marginal 388 405 90 127 - -
8 = Special Mention 175 102 61 157 - -
9 = Substandard 61 151 44 14 - 1
10 = Doubtful 47 7 33 17 - -
11 = Loss - 2 - - - -

32,353 27900 7,736 7,054 543 516

* Derivative exposures are computed as the cost of replacing derivative contracts represented by mark-to-
market values where they are positive, and an estimate of the potential change in market values reflecting

the volatilities that affect them.
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Classified exposures and impairment provisions

The total of all impaired loans as at the end of 2021 was US$598 million (2020: US$864 million). ECL
allowances including stage 3 provisions at the end of 2021 stood at US$691 million (2020: US$870 million).

The total of all impaired securities as at the end of 2021 was US$89 million (2020: US$89 million). ECL
allowances, including stage 3 provisions, at the end of 2021 stood at US$105 million (2020: US$100 million).

The ageing analysis of impaired loans and securities is as follows:

Impaired loans

(US$ millions) Principal Provisions Net book value
Less than 3 months 6 2 4

3 months to 1 year 29 15 14

1to 3 years 441 365 76

Over 3 years 122 111 12

Total 598 493 106

Impaired securities

(US$ millions) Principal Provisions Net book value

Less than 3 months - - _

3 months to 1 year - - -

1to 3 years 15 12 3
Over 3 years 74 74 -
Total 89 86 3

Note: Impaired loans and off-balance sheet credits are formally defined as those in default on contractual
repayments of principal or on payment of interest in excess of 90 days. In practice, however, all credits that
give rise to reasonable doubt as to timely collection, whether or not they are in default as so defined, are
treated as non-performing and specific provisions made, if required. Such credits are immediately placed on
non-accrual status and related interest income reversed. Any release of the accumulated unpaid interest
thereafter is made only as permitted by International Financial Reporting Standards.
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Group capital structure and capital adequacy ratios

Bank ABC’s balance sheet remains strong with capital and liquidity ratios well above the regulatory
requirements. LCR and NSFR stood at 228% and 128% respectively as at year-end 2021, while liquid assets
to deposits ratio maintained a healthy level at 52.5%.

The Group’s capital base of US$4,324 million comprises Tier 1 capital of US$4,059 million (2020: US$4,055
million) and Tier 2 capital of US$265 million (2020: US$230 million).

The consolidated capital adequacy ratio (CAR) as at 31 December 2021, calculated in accordance with the
prevailing Basel lll rules, was 16.9% (2020: 17.5%), well above the 12.5% minimum set by the Central Bank of
Bahrain. The CAR comprised predominantly Tier 1 ratio of 15.9% (2020: 16.6%), well above the 10.5% minimum
set by the Central Bank of Bahrain.

All ABC Group subsidiaries meet the capital adequacy requirements of their respective regulatory
authorities.

Factors affecting historical and/or future performance

During 2021, Bank ABC maintained focus on our strategic priorities to successfully deliver on stakeholder
commitments and achieve significant strategic progress, overcoming continued disruptions across the
industry and markets.

Under an uneven yet accelerating economic recovery across our markets and around the world, spurred by
the global vaccination campaign, Bank ABC sustained an agile approach to ensure continued resilience.

Throughout the year, the Bank maintained a strong balance sheet, excellent liquidity, and delivered solid
results, with a clear focus on strategic priorities. We further bolstered our presence in the MENA's most
promising market, Egypt, through the acquisition of BLOM Bank Egypt and are well on our way to take our
award-winning digital banking proposition ila to other markets in the region.

We enter 2022 building on this momentum, with a positive outlook for most of our core markets. Based on
the Bank’s positive performance during the year, both strategically and financially, we are ideally positioned
to capitalise on opportunities and deliver further growth and value creation for our shareholders in 2022
and beyond.

Regional macroeconomic conditions

On the back of large-scale COVID-19 vaccine rollouts around the world, including very successful vaccine
campaigns across the GCC, the IMF has updated it global projections to show a stronger recovery of 54% in
2021, from an adjusted contraction of 3.1% in 2020.

The IMF has estimated healthy growth next year at nearly 5%, albeit with downside risks. Country
performances will vary widely, with advanced economies projected to continue their positive trend, while
emerging markets and developing economies will be more divergent.

Our core GCC markets should see accelerating recoveries and reduced fiscal deficits, bolstered by higher oil
prices, successful vaccination programmes and a return to pre-pandemic mobility patterns.

Despite the expected volatility, shareholders should take confidence in the Bank’s prudent approach, sector
and client stress-testing, and strength of our balance sheet, which will help us to proceed with confidence
through the post-pandemic recovery period.
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Inflation and supply chain pressures

The lockdown-induced slowdown in economic activity and prices in 2020 resulted in persistent price
pressures, via disrupted supply chains and soaring food, commodity and energy prices. During 2021, global
trade rebounded sharply but remains weighted by supply chain disruptions, which have contributed to
surging inflation.

The impact on inflation rates is most apparent in advanced economies, but also in Brazil and Turkey. These
pressures also look to be rising in Equpt, Tunisia and Algeria but have remained comparatively contained in
the GCC to date. In the year ahead, inflationary burden should relax, as the base effects from soaring energy
prices and supply chain disruption eases.

Energy prices

Global energy had a strong recovery in 2021, in line with the accelerating rebound in trade and economic
activity during the year. With OPEC supply cuts having cleared previously elevated crude stocks, oil
prices surged to average US$71/barrel for the year and closed the year at US$79.20/barrel, with strong
momentum heading into 2022.

The consensus forecasts for 2022 see Brent Crude averaging US$75/barrel, though recent supply issues
from OPEC+ coupled with tensions in Eastern Europe and the Middle East may push the average price
higher for the year. This bodes well for our core oil exporting countries but adds further pressure to our
energy importers, such as Tunisia and Turkeu.

Volatility of financial markets and currencies

Volatility was always expected as we approached Fed tapering, but markets are also unsettled by the
uncertain growth and inflation story, as well as surging energy prices and crackdowns in China.

The GCC equity market index closed 2021 with a gain of 34.9%, marking the biggest gains since 2008, with
Abu Dhabi's ADX posting the world's largest gain for the year, with growth of 68.2%.

The Dollar Index ended 2021 with a gain of nearly 7% against a basket of global currencies, as investors
bet the U.S. Federal Reserve will raise rates earlier than most other major economies amid surging inflation
driven by COVID-19 stimulus initiatives. Emerging market currencies remain generally weaker against the
Us Dollar.

Managing risk attached to FX is a fundamental part of the Bank’s risk management approach, which is
supported by a healthy balance sheet, a conservative framework of limits and tight controls.

Low interest rates expected to rise in 2022

Interest rates remained at historic lows during 2021, resulting in continued low net interest income for Bank
ABC for the year. The Group's lending and marketable securities holdings are based predominantly on
floating and short-term interest rates, which generally helps to insulate them from interest rate swings.

However, to tackle rising inflation, most major central banks will continue to tighten monetary policy in 2022,
and the GCC's central banks will follow the Fed's policy rate hikes. With projections of multiple interest rate
hikes in the year ahead, coupled with the Fed's accelerated pace of quantitative tightening, we see the US
Dollar strengthening against most global currencies.
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(All figures stated in US dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Arab Banking Corporation BS.C. (“Bank ABC”) follows internationally-recognised best practice principles
and quidelines, having in place a corporate governance system that provides an effective and transparent
control framework that is fair and accountable.

The Central Bank of Bahrain (“CBB") licenses Bank ABC as a conventional wholesale bank. Incorporated in
1980 as a Bahrain joint stock company, Bank ABC has an authorised capital of US$3.5 billion and a paid-up
capital of US$3.11 billion as at 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020: US$3.11 billion).

Bank ABC communicates all relevant information to stakeholders punctually and clearly through a variety
of channels, including a well-maintained website. In particular, it reports its profits on an annual, semi-annual
and quarterly basis.

At least the last five years' consolidated financial statements are available on the Bank ABC corporate website.

Shareholders

Bank ABC's shares have been listed on the Bahrain Bourse since 1990. The Central Bank of Libya

(“CBL"), one of Bank ABC's founding shareholders, owns a majority of the shares. The CBL increased its
shareholding to 59.37% in 2010 by participating in that year’s capital increase and acquiring the Abu Dhabi
Investment Authority’s 17.72% shareholding. The Kuwait Investment Authority, another of Bank ABC's
founding shareholder, continues to own 29.69% of the shares. Each of the foregoing shareholders is either
a governmental entity or is (directly or indirectly) owned by a governmental entity in its jurisdiction of
establishment. International and regional investors hold the remaining shares of Bank ABC.

The following table shows the ownership structure of Bank ABC as at 31 December 2021:

Name of Shareholder Percentage Shareholding Nationality
Central Bank of Libya 59.37% Libyan
Kuwait Investment Authority 29.69% Kuwaiti
Other shareholders with less than 5% holdings 10.94% Various
Total 100%




The following table shows the distribution of shareholdings as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020.

2021 2020

% of total % of total
% of No. of No. of outstanding No. of No.of outstanding
shares held shares shareholders shares shares  shareholders shares
less than 1% 128,344,432 1320 41 128,344,432 1296 41

0,

1% up to 211,976,668 3 68 211976668 3 6.3
less than 5%
5% up to } ) } . B .
less than 10%
10% up to } } } . B .
less than 20%
20% up to
less than 50% 923,289,191 1 29.7 923,289,191 1 297
50% and above 1,846,389,709 1 59.4 1,846,389,709 1 594
Total 3,110,000,000 1325 100 3,110,000,000 1301 100

Bank ABC’s Corporate Governance Charter

In 2010, the CBB substantially updated its corporate governance requirements (particularly the CBB
Rulebook’s High Level Controls module) for financial institutions, which are incorporated in Bahrain (the “CBB
Corporate Governance Requirements”). Such regulatory requirements largely correspond with the Corporate
Governance Code of Bahrain of 2010, which the Ministry of Industry and Commerce of Bahrain issued for

the first time in March 2010 (and was later amended on 19th March 2018 when the Ministry of Industry

and Commerce of Bahrain issued the Decree No. (19) for 2018 concerning the issuance of the Corporate
Governance Code (the Code”), The Code is applicable to all joint stock companies incorporated in Bahrain,
including joint stock companies licensed by the Central Bank of Bahrain. The Board of Directors adopted the
Bank ABC Corporate Governance Charter in December 2010 (the “Corporate Governance Charter”), which
substantially reflects the CBB Corporate Governance Requirements and the Code as they have evolved.
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Bank ABC reviews on a reqular basis the Corporate Governance Charter and, whenever required, makes the
necessary and appropriate amendments. The Corporate Governance Charter is displayed on the Bank ABC
corporate website and deals with a number of corporate governance related matters, including:

the role and responsibilities of the Board and its committees;

the responsibilities of Directors to Bank ABC and the shareholders;

the appointment, training and evaluation of the Board;

remuneration of the Board and of Bank ABC employees;

Bank ABC's management structure;

communications with shareholders and the disclosure of information to relevant stakeholders; and

the detailed mandates of each of the committees of the Board.

Recent Corporate Governance Changes

In 2021, there were no significant changes to the Corporate Governance Charter. However, there were some
changes to the Group Audit Charter, Group Compliance Charter, and Group Risk Committee Charter.

The Group Risk Committee Charter was amended in May 2021 so as to reflect a number of changes to the
Board Risk Committee mandate, as recommended by the Board Risk Committee, which mainly aligns the
term of office of the members to coincide with the Board and enable the Group Risk Committee to conduct
its meetings by the way of telephone, video conference etc.

Additionally, in November 2021, and as part of the annual review of the Group Audit Committee Charter, the
Board Audit Committee Charter was updated to reflect the internal requirement of presenting the main
outstanding legal cases to the Board Audit Committee semiannually as recommended by the Board

Audit Committee.

Alsg, in December 2021, the Board Compliance Committee Charter was updated to provide that the
secretary of the committee shall be appointed by the Board Compliance Committee.

Compliance with CBB Corporate Governance Requirements and the Code

Bank ABC was compliant with the CBB Corporate Governance Requirements and the Code as at 31
December 2021, save that the Chairman of the Board was not an independent Director, and the Corporate
Governance Committee was comprised of less than three independent Directors (although the majority
of Directors were independent) which is contrary to the non-mandatory guidance included in the CBB
Corporate Governance Requirements and the Code.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities of the Board

Bank ABC has previously adopted both a corporate governance charter for the Board and charters for
the various Board committees (the “Bank ABC Board Mandates”). The Bank ABC Board Mandates are
displayed on the Bank ABC corporate website. The Board of Directors is responsible for the overall direction,
supervision and control of the Bank ABC Group. In particular, the Board's responsibilities include (but are not
limited to):

a) those responsibilities assigned to the Board by the Articles of Association of Bank ABC;

b) establishing Bank ABC's objectives;

) Bank ABC’s overall business performance;

d) monitoring management performance;

e) the adoption and annual review of strategy;

f] monitoring the implementation of strategy by management;

g) causing financial statements to be prepared which accurately disclose Bank ABC's financial position;

h) convening and preparing the agenda for shareholder meetings;

i) monitoring conflicts of interest and preventing abusive related-party transactions;

) assuring equitable treatment of shareholders, including minority shareholders;

k) the adoption and review of management structure and responsibilities;

[)  the adoption and review of the systems and controls framework; and

m) overseeing the design and operation of the remuneration systems of the Bank ABC Group and
ensuring that such systems are not primarily controlled by the executive management of the Bank
ABC Group.

The Board meets regularly to consider key aspects of the Group's affairs, strategy and operations.

The Board exercises its responsibilities for best practice management and risk oversight mainly through the
Board Risk Committee, which oversees the definition of risk/reward guidelines, risk appetite, risk tolerance
standards and risk policies.

The Board is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal controls as the Board
determines are necessary to enable the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that are free
from any material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Appointment of Directors

The shareholders appoint the Board for a term of three years, with the current term of the Board
commencing on 24th March 2019 and terminating in March 2022. At the 2021 year end, there were nine
Directors on the Board, with diverse and relevant skills, who worked well together as a team. Collectively,
they exercised independent and objective judgement in meeting their responsibilities.

In accordance with Bank ABC’s Articles of Association, a shareholder or group of shareholders holding 25%
or more of the share capital may nominate Directors proportionate to their respective shareholdings. Other
Directors are elected.
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In accordance with the Bank ABC Board Mandates, each proposal for the election or re-election of a Director
shall be accompanied by a recommendation of the Board, and a summary of the advice of the Remuneration
Committee (see the description of role of the Remuneration Committee in this report).

The Board also has the power under Bank ABC's Articles of Association to appoint new directors and fill any
Board vacancies that may arise, subject to such appointments being subsequently ratified by shareholders.

When a new Director is inducted, the Chairman, or Bank ABC's Legal Counsel or Compliance Officer, or other
individual delegated by the Chairman, reviews the Board's role and duties with that person. In particular,
they describe the legal and requlatory requirements of the Bank ABC Board Mandates, the Code and the
(BB Corporate Governance Requirements. The Chairman of the Board (or other individual delegated by the
Chairman of the Board) ensures that each new Director is provided with a comprehensive induction pack
providing requisite materials to ensure his contribution to the Board from the beginning of his term.

Bank ABC has a written appointment agreement with each Director. This describes the Director’s

powers, duties, responsibilities and accountabilities, as well as other matters relating to his appointment
including his term, the time commitment envisaged, the Board committee assignments (if any), Directors’
remuneration and expense reimbursement entitlement, and Directors’ access to independent professional
advice when needed.

Biographies of the Board of Directors are included in appendix 1.

Assessment of the Board

The Bank ABC Board Mandates require that the Board evaluates its own performance each year, as well as
the performance of each Board committee and individual Director. This evaluation includes:

a) assessing how the Board operates;

b) evaluating the performance of each Board committee in light of its specific purposes and
responsibilities, which shall include reviews of the self-evaluations undertaken by each Board
committee;

c) reviewing each Director’s work, his attendance at Board and Board committee meetings, and his
constructive involvement in discussions and decision making;

d) reviewing the Board's current composition against its desired composition in order to maintain an
appropriate balance of skills and experience, and to ensure planned and progressive refreshing of the
Board; and

e) recommendations for new Directors to replace long-standing Directors, or those Directors whose
contribution to Bank ABC or its Board committees (such as the Group Audit Committee) is not adequate.

The Board has conducted an evaluation and self-assessment of its performance, and the performance of each
Board committee and each individual Director in relation to the financial year ended on 31 December 2021.
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Independence of Directors

The Bank ABC Board Mandates include detailed criteria to determine whether a Director should be classified
as independent or not. The Bank ABC independence criteria are at least as restrictive as the formal criteria
specified in the CBB Corporate Governance Requirements.

Bank ABC had four independent, non-executive Directors and five non-independent, non-executive Directors
as at 31 December 2021. The CBB Corporate Governance Requirements require that at least a one-third of
Bank ABC's Board of Directors is independent and also require that certain Board committees (including

the Group Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, Group Compliance Committee, and Board Risk
Committee) be comprised of a certain number of Directors, a certain proportion of independent Directors
and/or that such Board committees be chaired by an independent Director. Bank ABC is now fully compliant
with such requirements. The CBB Corporate Governance Requirements also state that it is preferable for
the Chairman of the Board to be an independent Director, whereas the Chairman of the Board is, in fact,
classified as a non-executive, non-independent Director.

As a rule, Directors do not have any direct or indirect material interest in any contract of significance with
Bank ABC, or any of its subsidiaries, or any material conflicts of interest. This remained the case in 2021

The Bank ABC Board Mandates require that any transaction that causes a Director to have a material
conflict of interest must be unanimously approved by the Board (other than the relevant Director). Each
Director is required to inform the entire Board of any actual, or potential, conflicts of interest in their
activities with, or commitments to, other organisations as they arise, and to abstain from voting on these
matters. Disclosures shall include all material facts.

Each Director has a legal duty of loyalty to Bank ABC, and can be personally sued by Bank ABC or
shareholders for any violation.

Compensation & interests of Directors

The remuneration structure for the Board of Directors is determined in accordance with directors’
remuneration policy (the “Remuneration Policy”) of Bank ABC. The Remuneration Policy is adopted by the
Annual General Meeting on 21 March 2021 in accordance with Article 28 (b) of the Articles of Association of
Bank ABC, based on a proposal of the Board of Directors of Bank ABC. The Remuneration Policy is intended
to remain in force until 2025.

The objective of the Remuneration Policy, amongst others, is for Bank ABC to be able to (at all times)
to attract, retain, and motivate Directors of skills and expertise commensurate with the complexity and
diversification of its global business and be able at the same time to provide value to such Directors in
return of their value to Bank ABC.

The remuneration structure for the Board of Directors is composed of a flat fee (the “Flat Fee”), which is
easy to manage, but also competitive enough to motivate Directors’ behavior and attract and retain the
quality needed to run Bank ABC successfully. Such Flat Fee is composed of a monthly cash retainer (the
“Retainer”); attendance fees payable to Directors attending different Board and Board Committee meetings
(“Attendance Fees”); and allowances to cover travelling, accommaodation and subsistence costs incurred in
connection with attending Board and Board Committee meetings (“Allowances™).
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The aggregate remuneration paid to Board members in 2021 amounted to US$1,382,000 (2020:

US$1,479,240), which was divided between the three elements as follows:

Fixed remunerations

Total
allowance for
attending
Remunerations Board and
of the chairman committee Others
Name and BOD meetings Retainer (Allowances) Total
First: Independent Directors:
Dr. Anwar Al Mudhaf - 21,000 145,000 - 166,000
Mr. Bashir Omer - 22,500 140,000 - 162,500
Dr. Farouk El Okdah - 12,000 120,000 - 132,000
Dr. Yousef Al Awadi - 24,000 155,000 - 179,000
Second: Non-Executive Directors:
Mr. Saddek Omar El Kaber - 10,500 150,000 - 160,500
Mr. Mohammad Saleem - 16,500 140,000 156,500
Mr. Ali Al Ashhab - 18,000 115,000 - 133,000
Mr. Khaled Al Hassoun - 10,500 65,000 - 75,500
Dr. Tarik Yousef - 21,000 135,000 - 156,000
Ms. Huda Al Mousa - 6,000 55,000 - 61,000
Total - 162,000 1,220,000 - 1,382,000

Note:

The aggregate remuneration paid to the members of the Remuneration Committee with respect to their
membership of such committee for the year 2021 was US$20,000, which sum is included in the Retainer

fee (2020: US$20,000).
No Director owned or traded Bank ABC shares in 2021.
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Board Committees

The Board and its committees are supplied with full and timely information to enable them to discharge
their responsibilities. In this respect, the Board, its committees and all Directors have access to senior
management, external consultants and advisors. The Board Secretary is responsible for ensuring that the
Board procedures, and applicable rules and requlations, are observed.

The Board has delegated specific responsibilities to a number of Board committees. Each such committee
has its own formal written charter, which is set out in full in the Corporate Governance Charter. The main
Board committees are:

The Board Risk Committee, which is responsible for the review and approval of the Group's Credit
and Risk Policies. The Committee reviews and makes recommendations to the Board regarding the
annual risk strategy/appetite, within which business strategy, objectives and targets are formulated.
The Committee delegates authority to senior management to conduct day-to-day business within
the prescribed policy and strateqy parameters, while ensuring that processes and controls are
adequate to manage the Group's Risk Policies and Strategy. The Board Risk Committee meets not
less than three times a year.

The Corporate Governance Committee, which assists the Board in shaping and monitoring the
Group's Corporate Governance policies and practices, reviewing and assessing the adequacy of these
policies and practices, and evaluating the Group’s compliance with them. The Corporate Governance
Committee meets not less than once a year.

The Group Audit Committee, which is responsible to the Board for the integrity and effectiveness

of the Group’s system of financial and internal controls. This Committee also recommends the
appointment, compensation and oversight of the external auditors, as well as the appointment of the
Group Chief Internal Auditor. The Group Audit Committee meets not less than four times a year.

The Remuneration Committee, which is responsible for the formulation of the Group’s executive and
staff remuneration policy, as well as senior management appointments, ensuring that Bank ABC's
remuneration levels remain competitive so it can attract, develop and retain the skilled staff needed
to meet its strategic objectives. The Committee also ensures that the remuneration policy and
philosophy of Bank ABC and the ABC Group are aligned with Bank ABC's long-term business strategy,
business objectives, risk appetite, values and long-term interests, while recognising the interests of
relevant stakeholders. The Remuneration Committee meets not less than twice per year.

The Group Compliance Committee, which is responsible to the Board for monitoring compliance
of the Group in the various countries in which the Group operates. The Committee also assists
the Board in discharging its governance and oversight responsibilities for the Compliance risk
management framework of Bank ABC and of Bank ABC's compliance with applicable laws and
requlations on a group wide basis. The Group Compliance Committee meets not less than four
times a year.

The Board has also delegated specific responsibilities for reviewing and overseeing the implementation of
the strategy for Bank ABC and the Bank ABC Group to an ad-hoc Board Strategy Committee which shall
meet as required to be effective.
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As at 31 December 2021, the members of each of the Board committees were as set out in the

following table:

Board Committee

Member Name

Member Position

Classification of Director

The Board Risk Mr. Bashir Omer Chairman Independent
Committee Mr. Mohammad Saleem Member Non-Independent
Dr. Anwar Al Mudhaf Member Independent
Dr. Yousef Al Awadi Member Independent
Mr. Ali Al Ashhab Member Non-Independent
The Corporate Governance  Dr. Farouk EI Okdah Chairman Independent
Committee Mr. Mohammad Saleem Member Non-Independent
Dr. Tarik Yousef Member Non-Independent
Dr. Yousef Al Awadi Member Independent
The Group Audit Dr. Yousef Al Awadi Chairman Independent
Committee Dr. Anwar Al Mudhaf Member Independent
Mr. Bashir Omer Member Independent
Dr. Tarik Yousef Member Non-Independent
Ms. Huda Al Mousa Member Non-Independent
The Remuneration Dr. Anwar Al Mudhaf Chairman Independent
Committee Mr. Ali Al Ashhab Member Non-Independent
Mr. Bashir Omer Member Independent
The Group Compliance Dr. Yousef Al Awadi Chairman Independent
Committee Dr. Anwar Al Mudhaf Member Independent
Mr. Bashir Omer Member Independent
Dr. Tarik Yousef Member Non-Independent
Ms. Huda Al Mousa Member Non-Independent
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The details of Directors’ 2021 attendance at Board and Board committee meetings are set out in the

following table:

The
The Board Corporate  The Group The Remu- The
Board Risk Governance Audit neration Compliance

Board Members Meetings  Committee Committee Committee Committee Committee
Mr. Saddek Omar El Kaber
Chairman 8(8) N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
Non-Independent
Mr. Mohammad Saleem
Deputy Chairman 6(8) 4(6) 6(7) N/A N/A N/A
Non-Independent
Mr. Ali Al Ashhab
Director 8(8) 6(6) N/A N/A 1(4) N/A
Non-Independent
Dr. Anwar Al Mudhaf
Director 8(8) 4(6) N/A 6(6) 4(4) 2(6)
Independent
Mr. Bashir Omer
Director 8(8) 6(6) N/A 6(6) 4(4) 6(6)
Independent
Dr. Farouk El Okdah
Director 7(8) N/A 6(7) N/A N/A N/A
Independent
Mr. Khaled Al Hassoun
Director 3(8)° N/A N/A 5(6)° 2(4)" 2(6)°
Non-Independent
Dr. Tarik Yousef
Director 8(8) N/A 7(7) 6(6) N/A 6(6)
Non-Independent
Dr. Yousef Al Awadi
Director 8(8) 6(6) 7(7) 6(6) N/A 6(6)
Independent
Ms. Huda Al Mousa
Director 5(8)° N/A N/A 1(6Y N/A 2(6)°

Non-Independent

Figures in brackets indicate the maximum number of meetings during the period of membership. “N/A”
indicates that a Director was not @ member of the relevant Board committee during 2021.

* Appointed to the Remuneration Committee on 21 Novemnber 2021
2 Retired from the Board on 23 May 2021

3 Retired from the Audit Committee on 23 May 2021

“ Retired from the Remuneration Committee on 23 May 2021

° Retired from the Compliance Committee on 23 May 2021

® Appointed to the Board on 23 May 2021

7 Appointed to the Audit Committee on 21 November 2021

® Appointed to the Compliance Committee on 21 November 2021
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Meeting dates during 2021:

The Board and its committees meet as frequently as is necessary for them to discharge their respective
responsibilities, but the Board meets no less than four times a year. The Group Audit Committee meets no
less than four times a year, the Remuneration Committee meets no less than twice a year, the Board Risk
Committee meets no less than three times a year, the Corporate Governance Committee meet no less than
once a year, and the Group Compliance Committee meets no less than four times a year.

The Board Strategy Committee meets as required to be effective. In 2021, no meeting of the Board Strategy
Committee was held. However, the Board had a dedicated session on strategy during 2021.

The details of the dates of the Board and Board committee meetings in 2021 are set out below:

Dates of Meetings

Board 07 February 2021

21 March 2021

23 May 2021

25 July 2021

04 November 2021
20 November 2021
21 November 2021
20 December 2021

The Board Risk Committee 28 January 2021
07 April 2021
26 May 2021
23 June 2021
15 September 2021
10 November 2021

The Corporate Governance Committee 07 February 2021
18 March 2021
20 May 2021
25 July 2021
18 August 2021
18 November 2021
19 December 2021

The Group Audit Committee 31 January 2021
08 April 2021
24 June 2021
16 September 2021
11 November 2021
15 December 2021

The Remuneration Committee 06 February 2021
20 May 2021
18 November 2021
19 December 2021

The Group Compliance Committee 31 January 2021
08 April 2021
24 June 2021
16 September 2021
11 November 2021
15 December 2021
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INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board of Directors is responsible for establishing and reviewing the Group’s system of internal control.
The Board receives minutes and reports from the Board Risk Committee (“BRC") and the Group Audit
Committee, identifying any significant issues relating to the adequacy of the Group’s risk management
policies and procedures, as well as reports and recommendations from the Corporate Governance
Committee and the Remuneration Committee. The Board then decides what action to take.

Management informs the Board regularly about how the Group is performing versus budget, identifying
major business issues and examining the impact of the external business and economic environment.

Day-to-day responsibility for internal control rests with management. The key elements of the process for
identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by the Group can be summarised as:

a well-defined management structure - with clear authorities and delegation of responsibilities,
documented procedures and authority levels - to ensure that all material risks are properly assessed
and controlled

internal control policies that require management to identify major risks, and to monitor the
effectiveness of internal control procedures in controlling them and reporting on them

a robust compliance function including, but not limited to, anti-money laundering and anti-insider
trading policies

an internal audit function, exercised through Group Audit, which reports to the Group Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of key internal controls in relation to the major risks faced by
the Group, and conducts reviews of the efficacy of management oversight in regard to delegated
responsibilities, as part of its reqular audits of Group departments and business units

a comprehensive planning and budgeting process that delivers detailed annual financial forecasts
and targets for Board approval, and

a Group Risk Management function, comprising overarching Head Office risk management
committees and a dedicated risk management support group.

Management structure

The Group Chief Executive Officer, supported by Head Office management, is responsible for managing the
day-to-day operations of Bank ABC. There is a clear segregation of duties in the management structure at
Bank ABC.

Senior managers did not hold or trade any shares in Bank ABC during 2021.

The management organisation chart is included in appendix 2.

COMPLIANCE

Bank ABC is committed to maintaining the highest standards of ethical and professional conduct, including
complying with all applicable rules and regulations. The Group Compliance Officer (GCO), together with local
Heads of Compliance and Money Laundering Reporting Officers (MLRQOs), support the Board and Senior
Management in effectively managing the compliance risks faced by the Bank. The GCO reports directly to
the Group Board Compliance Committee (BCC) and the Group Chief Executive Officer (Group CEQ).

The Group Compliance Oversight Committee (GCOC) is a Senior Management committee overseeing
compliance risk management across the Bank. This year it has expanded its remit to oversee matters
related to business reputational risk while also adding additional focus around conduct related issues. To
support the GCOC, Compliance and Financial Crime Committees (CFCCs) are established in each business
unit group-wide. Chaired by the heads of the local units, the CFCCs meet on at least a quarterly basis.
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Reflecting the increasing requirements and expectations of requlators, correspondent banks and
stakeholders, the Bank continues to invest significantly in managing compliance risks through
enhancements in systems and Compliance Function capacity and capability.

The Bank's SWIFT message screening alert management is centralized within the Group Transaction
Monitoring Unit (TMU). Other key activities such as the management of screening lists, changes to good
guys, ongoing fine tuning of screening algorithms and system change management are also handled
centrally at Head Office as part of our global compliance model. We will continue to expand and leverage
this model to take advantage of the specialized skillsets and resources available at Head Office.

The Bank continues to review and finetune its financial crime compliance systems. As part of this
commitment a third-party review of the Bank’s screening systems was conducted during the year. The
systems were deemed effective and recommendations to further enhance efficiency were implemented.

The Bank is committed to ensuring that all staff are aware of and equipped to discharge their compliance
related responsibilities and to this end the Bank continues to invest in its group-wide training program.

In collaboration with external industry leading vendors e-learning training is provided to new joiners and
refresher courses to all staff in areas critical for compliance risk management such as conduct, financial
crime and anti-bribery and corruption. To provide more in-depth knowledge to relevant stakeholders, the
Bank also provides roles-based training to relevant staff.

Compliance issues are tracked via the Bank’s Governance, Risk, Compliance (GRC) system. GRC is an
integrated tool with operational risk and audit, providing the Bank with a holistic risk management
governance capability.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS
1. In 2021, the Bank ABC Group paid its external auditors US$1,414,612 in audit fees on a global basis.

2. Non-audit services were specifically pre-approved by the Audit Committee and provided by the
external auditors including, but not limited to, anti money laundering reviews, prudential information
reports reviews, quarterly reviews and tax related services amount to U5%$128,034 on a global basis.

3. Ernst & Young have expressed their willingness to continue as the auditors of the Group for the year
ending 31 December 2022. Bank ABC's management, based on evaluation of services provided by its
external auditors, has recommended the appointment of Ernst & Young and a resolution proposing
their reappointment will be presented at the annual general meeting to be held in March 2022.

POLICY ON THE EMPLOYMENT OF RELATIVES AND APPROVED PERSONS

Bank ABC has a Board approved Policy on Employment of Relatives and Connected Persons. This Policy
aims to ensure that Bank ABC has transparency in relation to the employment of relatives and Connected
Persons in order to prevent actual, or perceived, conflicts of interest.

The Policy sets out that no relatives or near relatives of any Bank ABC employee, Executive or Board
Member may enter into employment with Bank ABC. Exceptional approvals may be granted by an
independent panel following a full and fair selection process.
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REMUNERATION POLICIES OF BANK ABC IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE
REQUIREMENTS OF THE CBB

Senior management and staff receive compensation based on several fixed elements, covering: salary,
allowances and benefits, as well as variable, performance-related elements.

In January 2014, the Central Bank of Bahrain (CBB) issued new rules relating to the remuneration of
approved persons and material risk-takers and others, which were subsequently amended later during
2014 (the “CBB Sound Remuneration Practices”). Bank ABC has implemented remuneration policies

and procedures to cover both Bank ABC and Bank ABC Islamic, which are compliant with the CBB
Remuneration Rules.

Bank ABC reviewed its remuneration practices and redesigned its variable compensation scheme in order
to be fully compliant with the CBB's requirements. Key changes to Bank ABC's remuneration systems and
governance processes were made to comply with the CBB regulations and included:

i. Ensuring the risk framework is extensive and captured in decisions around variable pay, including
confirming risk-adjustments to any bonus pool.

ii. Separating control functions from the Group bonus pool and ensuring they are measured
independently from the businesses they oversee.

iii. Introducing an equity-linked vehicle in which to deliver the appropriate amount of variable
remuneration for covered persons.

iv. Introducing deferral arrangements that defer the appropriate amount of variable remuneration for
the Group Chief Executive Officer (GCEQ), deputies, top five most highly-paid business line employees,
material risk takers and approved persons.

v. Introducing clawback and malus policies that apply to variable remuneration.

While maintaining the same Variable Compensation Scheme (VCS) and bonus multiples tables, further
changes to the Employees’ Performance Management System were introduced in early 2016 to encourage
behaviours that will help fulfil the Group’s strategic goals. Variable pay now depends on a more extensive
matrix of factors, rather than just the income generated. These added factors facilitate measuring the
quality of the income rather than just its magnitude. In addition, other non-financial factors have also been
added as part of the performance matrix.

The Remuneration Committee (RemCo) reviews and approves Bank ABC's remuneration policy structure
on an annual basis. Where rules on compensation exist in other jurisdictions in which Bank ABC operates,
Bank ABC's Group policy is to take necessary steps to comply with local market requlations that are
applicable to our foreign subsidiaries and branches. Where no rules are applicable, ABC adopts best local
market practices.

A distinct and separate bonus pool has been created to reinforce the safeguarding role and independence
of staff in Control Functions, and is measured by the impact and quality of their safequarding role. These
measures are based on department-specific objectives and targets, which are independent of company
financial performance.
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Bank ABC conducts business within a set of overarching goals and limits that, together, define its risk
appetite and tolerance. This is approved by the Board Risk Committee as part of the Group Risk Strateqgy,
which complements the budgets and strateqgic plans proposed by the business. The Bank’s bonus pool is
subject to potential adjustments based on the review of the RemCo, in the respect of the approved risk
appetite, risk tolerance and risk policies during the fiscal year.

Variable compensation and performance management are linked. Performance expectations are clearly
articulated for revenue-generating, support and control functions. Individual bonus payments reflect Group,
business unit and individual performance.

Bank ABC has adopted a remuneration deferral palicy in line with the CBB Sound Remuneration Practices.
This defers a required amount of the variable remuneration for the GCEQ, deputies, top five most highly-
paid business line employees, defined material risk takers and approved persons.

Bank ABC has also adopted a malus policy, which allows any form of deferred variable remuneration to be
reduced or cancelled in specific and exceptional circumstances. Exceptional circumstances are defined as
material events. They may include a material restatement of the Bank’s financial statements, the discovery
of significant failures in risk management or exposure to material financial losses at Group, business unit or
individual level. In respect of unvested awards, and depending on each specific circumstance, malus may be
applied to either that portion of unvested awards linked to the performance year in question or the total
outstanding set of unvested awards.

A clawback policy has been introduced to allow Bank ABC to recover part, or all, of the awards already paid
to an employee or former employee if a material event is discovered. Clawback provisions may be enforced
upon the discovery of an employee’s, or former employee’s, accountability or responsibility for, or direct
implication in, material events that may bring the Bank into serious disrepute. Additionally, they may be
enforced in the event of individual criminal or other substantial misconduct.

The design of the Bank's reward structure aligns pay outcomes with prudent risk management and sound
governance practices. The mix of an individual employee’s pay, allowances and variable compensation is
dictated by the nature of the role he/she holds. Variable pay for the relevant employees is delivered using a
blend of cash and equity-linked instruments. It may be paid up-front in cash or deferred in accordance with
the Bank’s deferral policy. With Board approval, the variable pay multiples may be reviewed from time to
time to ensure competitiveness with the market.

The remuneration disclosures have been reviewed and approved by the RemCo, which has confirmed they
are aligned to the CBB rulebook requirements.

Bank ABC takes risk seriously. Reward practices embed and reinforce the Bank’s desired risk culture, and
risk behaviours directly impact variable pay, based on the following principles:

i. Financial performance is not the sole measure of performance; both quantitative and qualitative
approaches are used to measure risk; bonus pools are adjusted for all types of risk, both tangible
and intangible, reflecting both Group and business unit performance.

ii. Bonuses can be diminished (or nil) in light of excessive risk taking at Group, business or individual level.
ii. Bonus pools reflect the cost of capital required, and liquidity risk assumed, in the conduct of business.

In addition, Bank ABC has a process for assessing the performance of senior management against a set of
pre-agreed audit, risk & compliance (ARC) objectives, which are cascaded down in the organisation. Their
pay is linked to long-term profitability and sustainable value.
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Pay principles

The following ‘pay principles’ apply at Bank ABC and govern all current and future remuneration decisions.
These principles have been approved by the RemCo.

Summary

Principle Theme

Principle 1 We pay for performance

Principle 2 We take risk seriously

Principle 3 We think long-term

Principle 4 Pay decisions are governed effectively
Principle 5 Clear and simple

Principle 6 Competitive, sustainable and affordable

Principle 1 | We pay for performance

Approach

Performance expectations are clearly articulated for revenue-generating, support and
control functions.

Pay and performance management are linked.

Bank ABC rewards performance that delivers its strateqy, and that delivers the behaviours,
cultures and ways of working that underpin doing business with the Bank.

Delivery

Group and / or business unit underperformance can result in no bonus pool.

Bonuses can be diminished (or nil) in light of poor Group, business unit or individual performance.
Individual bonus payments reflect Group, business unit and individual performance.

Group and business units are expected to meet demanding but achievable performance targets.
Low performance ratings for any employee can result in no bonus.

High performing business units may pay bonuses, even if the Group underperforms.

Bank ABC differentiates high performance from average or low performance.

Bonuses can be paid for non-profitable business units in start-up or turn-around phases.

Bonus calculations reflect a measure of the appropriate behaviours which support doing business
with Bank ABC.

Control functions are measured on the impact and quality of their safequarding role.

Pay for employees engaged in control functions promotes impartiality and objectivity — it ensures
that all employees at Bank ABC take risk seriously.

Bonuses can be paid to control function employees who exercise their roles effectively, even in
light of poor Group or business unit performance.
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Principle 2 | We take risk seriously

Approach

Reward practices embed and reinforce Bank ABC's desired risk culture.

Risk behaviours directly impact variable pay.

Delivery

Financial performance is not the sole measure of performance.

Bonuses can be diminished (or nil) in light of excessive risk taking at Group, business or
individual level.

Bonus pools reflect the cost of capital required, and liquidity risk assumed, in the conduct of
business.

Bonus pools are adjusted for all types of risk, both tangible and intangible, which are reflected in
both Group and business unit performance.

Both quantitative and qualitative approaches are used to measure risk.
Pay for material risk takers is significantly weighted towards variable pay.

Material risk takers’ performance is rewarded using a mix of cash and equity (or an equity-linked
vehicle) to reflect their influence on the Bank’s risk profile.

Risk behaviours of material risk takers have a direct impact on variable pay outcomes.

Principle 3 | We think long-term

Approach

Pay is linked to long-term profitability and sustainable value.

Delivery

Deferral mechanisms are used for approved persons / material risk takers.
Deferral mechanisms include an equity-linked vehicle.
60% of variable pay for GCEQO and the most highly-paid employees is deferred for three years.

40% of variable pay for material risk takers and approved persons (paid over BHD100,000) is
deferred for three years.

No form of guaranteed variable remuneration can be granted, except in exceptional
circumstances, for a period of no more than one year following hire.

Unvested deferred bonuses can be recovered in light of discovering past failures in risk
management, or policy breaches, that led to the award originally being granted.

Participation in deferral is reviewed on an annual basis, subject to meeting the minimum
requirements under the CBB rules.
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Principle 4 | Pay decisions are governed effectively

Approach

- Variable pay schemes are owned and monitored by the RemCo.

- The RemCo oversees remuneration practices across the Bank.

Delivery

- The RemCo oversees the design and delivery of variable pay across the Bank.
- The RemCo reviews and approves the Bank’s remuneration policy on an annual basis.
«  The GCEO and senior management do not directly own or control remuneration systems.

- The RemCo reviews and approves bonus pools and payouts across the Bank, and reviews and
approves the pay proposals for material risk takers and approved persons.

- Risk and Compliance provide information to the RemCo before it determines the bonus pool and
Group performance.

« HR controls remuneration policies, while line managers have suitable discretion to apply them.

- HR develops compliance and monitoring practices to actively track global compliance with Group
remuneration policy.

Principle 5 | Clear and simple
Approach

- Reward communications are clear, user-friendly and written in plain language.

- The aims and objectives of the new VCS are clear and transparent.

Delivery

«  Clearly communicate what is meant by malus and clawback, and the instances in which these
provisions could be applied.

- Open and easy access to the variable pay policy, plan rules and relevant communications.

Principle 6 | Competitive, sustainable and affordable

Approach

- The VCS helps to attract and retain high-calibre talent.

- The VCS structure can be maintained over the long term, and its total cost is always affordable to
the Bank.

Delivery

- Bonus pools vary year-on-year, based on Group performance, external market conditions, the
internal climate and affordability.

- Individual pay opportunities are driven by the external market and internal positioning.
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Application of pay principles

Bank ABC will remunerate covered employees to attract, retain and motivate sufficient talent to safequard
the interests of the Bank and its shareholders, while ensuring the Bank avoids paying more than necessary.
The remuneration systems fairly reward performance delivered within the risk appetite of the Bank, over an
appropriate time horizon, to align with risk.

Variable remuneration is paid according to the scheme on the below categorisation:

Approved persons in business lines: For the GCEO and the five most highly-paid business line
employees, variable pay in 2019 was paid as 40% upfront cash, 10% in deferred cash and 50% in a
deferred equity-linked vehicle. For the others in the same cateqgory, the pay split was 50% upfront
cash, 10% upfront equity-linked vehicle, 40% deferred equity-linked vehicle.

Approved persons in control functions: The variable pay for employees in this category was paid as
50% upfront cash, 10% upfront equity-linked vehicle, 40% deferred equity-linked vehicle.

Other material risk takers: The variable pay for employees in this category was paid as 50% upfront
cash, 10% upfront equity-linked vehicle, 40% deferred equity-linked vehicle.

Other staff of Bahrain operations: The variable pay was paid fully in cash up front.

Remuneration arrangements are structured to promote sound risk behaviours. Their performance is
measured against a range of financial and non-financial factors related to risk. Employees categorised as
approved persons in control functions have their remuneration measured independently of the business
that they oversee, so ensuring sufficient independence and authority. All variable pay is subject to malus
and clawback.
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Ratification of the Appointment of
New Director

The Board of Directors of Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C) (the “Bank ABC”) wishes to provide
Shareholders with information regarding the ratification of the appointment of a new director at the annual
ordinary general meeting (the “AGM”]) to be held on 23 March 2022.

Ms. Huda Al Mousa
MBA degree in Business Management, Georgetown University.

Director of General Reserve - Asset Department at the Kuwait Investment Authority (KIA), which she joined
in 2018. Ms. Huda Al Mousa is a Committee Member at State of Kuwait Debt Management Committee since
2018, and on the Board of Directors at Kuwait Credit Bank since 2019. She previously was on the board of
directors at Kuwait Airways (2018-2020).

Ms. Huda joined the Board of Bank ABC in July 2021 and has more than 15 years of experience in banking,
investment, and finance.

Recommendation of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors of Bank ABC recommends to Shareholders that the appointment of Ms. Huda
Al Mousa as a director of Bank ABC pursuant to Articles 19 and 20 of the Company’s Articles of Association
respectively be ratified by Shareholders.
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Election of the
members of the
Board of Directors
for the 14th Term

To : The Shareholders of Bank ABC
Date : March 2022
Re : Election of the members of the Board of Directors for the 14th Term

1. On 16 January 2022, the Board of Directors of the Arab Banking Corporation (“Bank ABC”) announced
the call for nominations for election or re-election to the Board of Directors for its 14th term for a new
three-year (2022-2025) term pursuant to Article 19(a) of the Articles of Association of the Bank.

2. Nominations for election or re-election to the Board of Directors in the Kingdom of Bahrain require a
prior written approval from the Central Bank of Bahrain, which requires nominees to submit Application
for Approved Person Status “Form 3” and include in their applications certified copies of the relevant
documents. Accordingly, on 23 February 2022, the prior approval was obtained from the Central Bank
of Bahrain in accordance with all relevant applicable regulations. The candidates’ names and summary
of their CVs were also posted on the Bank ABC's website on 1 March 2022 and on the Bahrain Bourse
website on 1 March 2022, simultaneously with the publication of the general meeting agenda in line with
the date of posting the invitation for the Bank ABC's General Assembly meeting.

3. Accordingly, the principal shareholders have submitted the following nominations for appointment to the
Board of Directors for the upcoming term:

(@) The Central Bank of Libya (CBL) nominated Mr. Saddek Omar El Kaber, Dr. Tarik Yousef, and Mr.
Ashraf Mukhtar.

(b) The Kuwait Investment Authority nominated Ms. Huda Al Mousa, and Mr. Mohammad Abdulredha
Saleem.

(c) As for the nomineess of private shareholders subscribing to the Bank ABC's shares, Dr. Farouk El
Okdah, Mr. Khalil Nooruddin, Mr. Abdullah Al Humaidhi, and Dr. Ibrahim El Danfour were nominated
for election to the Board of Directors.



4. Pursuant to HC-4.4.1 of the Central Bank of Bahrain Rulebook, all listed companies undertaking board of
directors’ elections must comply with the board nomination requirements stipulated in HC 4.4 (Board
Nominations to Shareholders), which requires that each proposal by the board to the shareholders for
election or re-election of a director must include, amongst other things, a recommendation from the
board and a summary of the advice of Bank ABC's Corporate Governance Committee. In this regard, Bank
ABC would like to notify its shareholders of the following:

(@) The Corporate Governance Committee Recommendation:

1. Regarding the conditions for nominations to the Board of Directors of Bank ABC, the call for
nominations for election or re-election to the Board of Directors was announced on 16 January
2022, which included, inter alig, the term to be served and conditions for nomination..etc. The
candidates’ names and CVs were posted, as mentioned in paragraph 2 above, on Bank ABC's
website and on the Bahrain Bourse website.

2. With regard to the independence of directors, each of the nominees classified as independent
director are new candidates, except for Dr. Farouk El Okdah, who is proposed to continue office
on the Board of Directors for a third term, after it is proven to the Board of Directors that he is
fit to continue office and the impartance of his contribution to its activities. The four candidates
nominated were approved by the Central Bank of Bahrain, as they have met the criteria set out
in Section 4.1.1 (c) of Bank ABC's Corporate Governance Charter, in particular the definition of
Independent Director set out in Appendix A of the Corporate Governance Charter.

3. The requirements referred to in HC-4.4.1 of the CBB Rulebook have already been complied with
during the current term of office of the Board, and in particular, through the measures which
were adopted by the Corporate Governance Committee during its meeting of 10 February
2022 and also subsequently through the information disclosed in Form 3 by the nominees
(which included more details about their professional qualifications, other directorship held, and
particulars of other positions held by each one of them...etc)). Moreover, no other information
was revealed to prompt us to reconsider this conclusions and results.
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4. Accordingly, the Corporate Governance Committee recommended to the Board of Directors in
its meeting held on 10 February 2022 the approval of the names of the candidates to the Board
of Directors for the upcoming term, whose names are listed in paragraph (b) below.

(b) The Board of Directors Recommendation:

The Board of Directors resolved to approve the recommendation of the Corporate Governance
Committee at its meeting held on 13th of February 2022 regarding the approval of the names of
candidates for the Board of Directors for the upcoming term, whose names are listed below. It shall
be noted that the number of candidates running for election to the Board of Directors to occupy
nine seats does not exceed the number of the seats of the Board. This issue is not tabled before
the General Assembly to approve the election of the candidates for the Board's 14th term, namely:

1. Mr. Saddek Omar El Kaber

2. Dr. Tarik Yousef

3. Mr. Ashraf Mukhtar

4. Ms. Huda Al Mousa

5. Mr. Mohammad Abdulredha Saleem
6. Mr. Abdullah Al Humaidhi

7. Mr. Khalil Nooruddin

8. Dr. Farouk EI Okdah

9. Dr.lbrahim El Danfour
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Amending of the Articles of
Association of Bank ABC

To : The Shareholders of Bank ABC
Date March 2022
Re : Proposed changes to Bank ABC’s Articles of Association

1. Background

11 In 2018, the Bahrain Commercial Companies Law (the “CCL") has introduced a number of changes to
the provisions of CCL. One of these changes provides that the invitation to the general meeting of
the company shall be made at least 21 days before the meeting (instead of 15 days) (the “Invitation
Notice Period”). Since then, Bank ABC has observed the Invitation Notice Period.

1.2 Bank ABC's Articles of Association (the “Bank ABC Articles”) will, therefore, have to be amended to
reflect the Invitation Notice Period (as amended under the CCL) as opposed to the old 15 days’ notice
period currently prescribed for under Bank ABC Articles.

1.3 Additionally, the Ministry of Industry, Commerce and Tourism (“MOIC”) issued the Decree No. (63)
for 2021 (the “Resolution”) related to virtual meetings and requlating electronic voting at the AGM
of joint stock companies. The Resolution was issued on 27 April 2021 and came into force on the
28 April 2021

14 Article 3 of the Resolution states that in order for a company to use virtual voting, its articles of
association need to permit the same. This requires Bank ABC to amend its Articles to allow for
electronic voting in the future, should it be deemed appropriate.

15 Amending Bank ABC Articles to reflect the Invitation Notice Period and the Resolution requires
the Board of Directors to convene an Extraordinary General Meeting (an “EGM”] to obtain the
shareholders’ approval to make the proposed changes.

2. Proposed changes to the Articles

2.1 With regard to the Invitation Notice Period, it is proposed that Article 39 (a) of Bank ABC Articles be
amended as follows, subject to the approval of MOIC and the Central Bank of Bahrain (the “CBB™):

Article 39 (a)

Invitations to attend the ordinary and extraordinary general meetings shall be sent to shareholders
together with an agenda at least twenty-one (21) days before the date of any such meeting.

2.2 With regard to permitting the electronic voting, it is proposed that Article 42 (c) of Bank ABC Articles
be amended as follows, subject to the approval of MOIC and the CBB:

Article 42 (c)

General Meeting shall generally be held physically. General Meeting shall also be held by electronic
means, and participation in the meetings can be in person with the possibility of remote attendance,
except in cases where the General Meeting is held completely remotely and voting in the General
Meeting shall be electronically, taking into account the conditions and requirements issued by the
MOIC in this regard, or voting shall be in the manner determined by the chairman of the meeting
unless the General Meeting includes items which require some particular form of voting.
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3. Conclusion

In light of the above, the Board of Directors recommends that Articles 39 (a) and 42 (c) of Bank ABC’s
Articles of Association be amended to read as follows:

Article 39 (a)

Invitations to attend the ordinary and extraordinary general meetings shall be sent to shareholders
together with an agenda at least twenty-one (21) days before the date of any such meeting.

Article 42 (c)

General meetings shall generally be held physically. General meetings shall also be held by electronic means,
and participation in such meetings can be in person with the possibility of remote attendance, except in
cases where the general meeting is held completely remotely and voting in the general meeting shall be
electronically, taking into account the conditions and requirements issued by the Ministry of Industry,
Commerce and Tourism in this regard, or voting shall be in the manner determined by the chairman of the
meeting, unless the general meeting includes items which require some particular form of voting.
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To : The Shareholders of Bank ABC
Date : March 2022
Re : Issuance of convertible perpetual Tier 1 capital securities

1. Background

11 At the Annual General Meeting held on 21 March 2021, Bank ABC obtained the shareholders’ approval
for the issuance of Basel lll compliant Additional Tier 1 capital securities of up to US$500,000,000
(five hundred million), in one or more tranches (the “Shareholders Resolution”).

1.2 The Shareholders Resolution further approved the Board of Directors to determine the terms and
conditions of the Additional Tier 1 capital securities and the commercial terms of such issuance.

1.3 At the Board Meetings held on 25 July 2021 and 22 November 2021, the Board of Directors, using its
delegated powers under the Shareholders Resolution, approved the issuance of US$390,000,000
(three hundred and ninety million) Additional Tier 1 4.75% perpetual non-call six years capital
securities (the “AT1 Securities”) to be fully subscribed by the Central Bank of Libya.

14 Consistent with market practice and applicable laws, the terms and conditions of the AT1 Securities
include a feature that allows the AT1 Securities to be converted into ordinary shares of Bank ABC
in circumstances where Bank ABC might cease to remain a going concern (the “Loss Absorption
Conversion Feature”). In the event that the Loss Absorption Conversion Feature is triggered Bank
ABC will issue shares to the subscribers of the AT1 Securities.

1.5 The documentation for the AT1 Securities is in agreed form and the Central Bank of Bahrain (the
“CBB”) has confirmed its non-objection to it, clearing the issuance of the AT1 Securities.

16 To complete the issuance of the AT1 Securities, Bank ABC requires the shareholders:

(1) to approve the issuance of convertible perpetual tier 1 capital securities in accordance with CA-2.1
(requlatory capital) of the Capital Adequacy Module of Volume 1 of the CBB Rulebook (“Capital
Securities”) of up to three hundred and ninety million United States Dollars (USD390,000,000)
that will be fully subscribed by the Central Bank of Libya, and authorise the Board of Directors of
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Bank ABC to take the necessary decisions regarding the profit/interest/coupon rate and issuance
value, in addition to carrying out the procedures and requirements in this regard, subject to
Central Bank of Bahrain's approval;

(2] to approve: (a) the waiver of the shareholders’ pre-emptive rights to subscribe to the Capital
Securities pursuant to Article 150 of Law No. 21 of 2001 promulgating the commercial companies
law, as amended (“Companies Law”); and (b) in the event that the Capital Securities are to be
converted into shares of the Bank pursuant to the terms of such Capital Securities, the waiver of
the pre-emptive rights under Article 128 of the Companies Law to subscribe to such shares and to
approve the issuance of such shares to the subscribers of the Capital Securities.

(3) to approve, empower and authorise the Group Chief Executive Officer of Bank ABC (or his
delegates) to:

(a) take necessary actions related to the issuance of the Capital Securities on behalf of Bank ABC;
and

(b) to neqgotiate, approve and sign in the name of Bank ABC whenever requisite or expedient in
any such documents required to issue or authorise the issuance including signing and/or
notarising (as applicable) any documents relating to any issuance including but not limited to

(i) agency agreement;
(i) subscription agreement; and
(iii) global certificate,

and/or any powers of attorney and any documents whatsoever and generally to do each and
every such act, matter or thing as required to achieve all the above.

2. Recommendation

The Board of Directors deem the issuance of the Capital Securities to be advisable and in the best interest
of the Bank and the approval of the shareholders’ is hereby respectfully requested.
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To : The Shareholders of Bank ABC
Date : March 2022
Re : Increase the Authorised Share Capital of Bank ABC to US$4,500,000,000

1. Background

11 At the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 28 January 2010, the Shareholders approved an
increase in Bank ABC's authorised share capital from US$2,500,000,000 (two billion five hundred
million) to US%$3,500,000,000 (three billion five hundred million).

1.2 Bank ABC’s issued and fully paid-up capital currently stands at U5$3,110,000,000 (three billion one
hundred and ten million) leaving additional capacity of US$390,000,000 (three hundred and ninety
million) of authorised but unpaid share capital (the “Existing Buffer™).

1.3 The proposed issuance of US$390,000,000 (three hundred and ninety million) Additional Tier 1 475%
perpetual non-call six years capital securities (the “AT1 Securities”) will include a feature converting
the AT1 Securities into ordinary shares at the point of non-viability (the “Potential AT1 Securities
Conversion”). In accordance with applicable laws, the Existing Buffer will be maintained solely for the
purpose of the Potential AT1 Securities Conversion during the tenor of the AT1 Securities.

14 To support future business growth, Bank ABC may consider the issuance of Additional Tier 1
securities or other forms of capital. Furthermore, as part of Bank ABC's detailed Recovery and
Resolution Plan, Bank ABC includes a number of mitigating actions to support it in the event of a
prolonged period of severe stress. One of these actions is to raise up to U5$1,000,000,000 (one
billion) additional capital by way of a rights issue or the issuance of Additional Tier 1 securities which
may include the conversion to ordinary shares at the point of non-viability.

1.5 Given that Bank ABC's Existing Buffer will be fully allocated upon completion of the issuance of the
AT1 Securities, it is proposed that the authorised share capital be increased by US$1,000,000,000
(one billion) to US%$4,500,000,000 (four billion five hundred million) to support future growth and also
enable flexibility of action as envisioned within Bank ABC's Recovery and Resolution Plan.



2. Recommendation

2.1 The Board of Directors deem the increase in the authorised share capital of the Bank to be advisable
and in the best interest of the Bank.

2.2 The shareholders are respectfully requested:

(a) to approve the increase in the authorised capital of Bank ABC from three billion five hundred
million United States Dollars (“USD” or “Dollar(s)”) (USD3,500,000,000) to USD4,500,000,000,
subject to the approval of the Central Bank of Bahrain.

(b) to authorise and empower the Group Chief Executive Officer of Bank ABC or his delegates to take
the necessary action, to effect the amendment of the Memorandum and Articles of Association to
increase the authorised capital, subject to the approval of the Central Bank of Bahrain.

177









Appendix 1:
Board of Directors
Biographies



Board of Directors
Biographies

Mr. Saddek Omar El Kaber
Chairman

I >l<

MBA and MS in Public Accounting, University of
Hartford, Connecticut, USA.

Governor of the Central Bank of Libya and
Chairman of ABC International Bank plc, UK.
Previously, Mr. El Kaber was the Deputy Chief
Executive Officer of ABC International Bank plc,
UK., and Chairman and General Manager of
UMMA Bank, Libya. Mr. El Kaber has held past
key positions in a number of banks and financial
institutions including being the Deputy Chairman
of the Board of Arab Banking Corporation- Algeria,
Country Manager and CEQO of Arab Banking
Corporation-Tunisia and a Director of Arab
Financial Services Company B.S.C.(c). He joined
the Board of Arab Banking Corporation (B.S.C)

in December 2011. He has more than 35 years of
experience in international finance and banking.

Mr. Mohammad Abdulredha Saleem
Deputy Chairman
RC GC # >|<

Mr. Saleem holds a Bachelor of Business
Administration in Finance from Kuwait University
in 1985.

He has gained professional experience from

his service over 33 years at Kuwait Investment
Authority since 1986 where he held various
positions including the Treasury Department
Manager from 2006 to date. He has been a
member of Warba Bank’s Board of Directors

since March 2016 to date. He currently holds the
position of Vice Chairman in the Arab Banking
Corporation. He served previously in the State

of Kuwait as Chairman and Board Member of
audit and investment committees. He has been a
Chairman or @ member of the board of directors in
a number of companies such as Generations Fund
Holding Company, Kuwait Investment Company,

the Egyptian Kuwaiti Real Estate Development
Company, Gulf Custody Company, Kuwait Real
Estate Holding Company, Kuwait Flour Mill &
Bakeries Company. He also participated in many
theoretical and practical courses at leading banks
and global financial institutions in areas

of portfolios management, investment, and
capital markets.

Ms. Huda Al Mousa
Director
ACCC#>|<

MBA degree in Business Management,
Georgetown University.

Director of General Reserve Asset Department at
the Kuwait Investment Authority (KIA), which she
joined in 2018. Ms. Huda Al Mousa also serves on
the Board of Directors at Kuwait Credit Bank since
2019. She previously was on the Board of Directors
at Kuwait Airways (2018-2020). She also serves as
a Committee Member in the State of Kuwait Debt
Management Committee and various other State
level committees. Ms. Al Mousa joined the Board of
Bank ABC in 2021 and has more than 15 years of
experience in banking, asset management,

and finance.

Dr. Anwar Ali Al MudhaFf
Director
ACRemCoRCCC1§

PhD in Finance, Peter F. Drucker Graduate School
of Management, Claremont Graduate University,
California, USA.

Former Chairman and CEQ of Al-Razzi Holding
Company; Chairman of Banco ABC Brasil S.A,
Chairman of Ahli United Bank-Kuwait; Chairman

of Sama Educational Company; Director of the
Board of Governors of the Oxford Institute for
Energy Studies. Dr. Al Mudhaf has formerly served
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as a Lecturer in Corporate Finance, Investment
Management and Financial Institutions at
Kuwait University; Chairman of the International
Bank of Asia in Hong Kong; Director of the
Board of Directors of the Public Institution for
Social Security (PIFSS); Advisor to the Finance
and Economic Affairs Committee at Kuwait's
Parliament; Member of the Economic Task Force
dealing with the implications of the 2008 Global
Financial Crisis on Kuwait; Vice Chairman in Al
Mal Investment Company; and a Director of Al
Ahli Bank in Kuwait; and Member of the Board
of Directors of the Public Authority for Applied
Education. Dr. Al Mudhaf joined Arab Banking
Corporation in 1999 and has more than 21 years
of experience in banking and finance.

Dr. Yousef Abdullah Al Awadi KBE
Director
ACGCRCCCtS§

BA Economics, American University of Beirut,
Lebanon; Post Graduate Diploma in Financial
Planning, Arab Planning Institute, Kuwait; MA and
PhD Economics, University of Colorado, USA.

Chief Executive Officer of YAA Consultancy, Kuwait.

Previously he was the Chief Executive Officer of
Gulf Bank, Kuwait, and President and CEO of the
Kuwait Investment Office, London. Dr. Al Awadi is
also a Director of ABC International Bank plc, UK,
Chairman of Arab Banking Corporation Equpt,
and a Director of Fidelity International Funds.

Dr. Al Awadi has formerly served as a member
of the International Advisory Board of Goldman
Sachs and the Higher Planning Council in Kuwait,
in addition to board directorships of many
public and private sector entities regionally and

internationally. In January 2005 Dr. Al Awadi was
awarded the Honorary Knight Commander of the
Most Excellent Order of the British Empire KBE.
He joined the Board of Arab Banking Corporation
(B.S.C) in 2010 and has more than 40 years of
experience in banking, international finance and
investment management.

Dr. Tarik Yousef
Director
AC GC CC £ >|<

PhD in Economics, Harvard University, USA.

Senior Fellow in the Global Economy &
Development Program at the Brookings Institution
since 2006. Member of the Board of Directors of
the Central Bank of Libya since 2012. Former Chief
Executive Officer of Silatech between 2011 and
2015 and the Founding Dean of the Dubai School
of Government between 2006 and 2010. Dr. Yousef
worked at Georgetown University in Washington
DC between 1998 and 2006 as Professor of
Economics in the Edmund Walsh School of Foreign
Service and Sheikh Al-Sabah Chair of Arab Studies
at the Centre for Contemporary Arab Studies. His
policy experience includes working as Economist
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Bank ABC Code of Conduct

1. ABOUT THE CODE
1.1 Introduction

Bank ABC (the “Bank”, “Group” or “ABC") is committed to maintaining the highest standards of ethical and
professional conduct.

This Code sets out the minimum standards of behavior that are expected across the Group from our
employees, directors, senior management and contract and temporary workers (herein referred to
as “employees”).

This Code is supported by policies and standards that you are also expected to read and understand. It
should also be read in conjunction with any supporting procedures and your employment contract.

Where local laws or requlations applicable to your Unit set stricter requirements than those detailed in this
Code, you must follow them.

If you have any questions about the Code, seek advice from your line manager or Unit Head of Compliance.

1.2 Our Values

You should display behaviors that reflect our Values in your day to day activities performed on behalf of the
Bank. Our Values are:

Client Centric

We are committed to knowing our clients and developing long-term relationships with them, making sure we
provide them with superb services.

- Focused on building client relationships at every level

- Responding quickly to our clients, recognizing the importance of speed in today’s world

- Maintaining continuous and open dialogue to identify client needs

- ldentifying and delivering insights and tailored solutions

Collaborative
We work together as one team across our international network providing a superior client experience.

- Harnessing our international network footprint
« Focused on a cohesive team working across boundaries
- Putting our client’'s needs for cross-border service before our individual targets

« Finding new wauys to conduct our business and streamline operations
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Consistent
We are trusted to deliver every time in the right way, demonstrating integrity to all our stakeholders.

- Services are delivered to a high operational standard
- Reputation placed before short-term revenues
- Relentless focus on compliance with requlations and ensuring a sustainable business

- We consistently deliver on our promises to clients and to colleagues

1.3 Your Responsibilities
We rely on your personal integrity to protect our reputation.
Your responsibilities under this Code are to:

« Understand and comply with the Code

« Act fairly, honestly and with integrity when performing your duties on behalf of the Bank

« Avoid conflicts of interest

- Comply with all applicable laws and regulations

- Adhere to our policies, standards and procedures

- Observe your limits of authority when acting on behalf of the Bank

- Cooperate with any investigations, examination, litigation or inquiry related to our business
- Complete mandatory training when required

« Report any leqal or regulatory proceeding that involves you personally

- Report any concerns of misconduct
Managers have a greater level of responsibility. As a manager you should also:

«  Lead by example
« Promote equal opportunity and not favor or victimize any colleagues
- Help employees with ethical queries or direct them to someone who can help
«  Encourage employees to report misconduct
- Protect employees from any form of retaliation if they report misconduct in good faith
We promote a culture of personal responsibility and transparency which requires you to report and discuss

any actual or pending incident or risk event that you are aware of with your line manager, who may be
required to further escalate the information as per the Escalation Standard.

1.4 Compliance with the Code

On joining and annually thereafter, you must acknowledge in writing or electronically that you have read
and understood your obligations under the Code and the supporting policies and standards, and that you
agree to comply with them.

If a situation arises where you find that you have breached this Code or any supporting policies or
standards you should immediately consult your line manager and Unit Head of Compliance who will deal
with the matter in a sympathetic manner and help to ensure that the breach is remedied effectively.
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However, a willful breach or any failure to disclose a known breach of the Code or any supporting policies
or standards could result in consequences for you and/or the Bank and may result in disciplinary action
including dismissal, or in some circumstances, criminal prosecution.

1.5 Ethical Decision Making

Not every situation can be covered in the Code and our policies, standards and procedures. Here are some
basic questions you can apply to help you make ethical decisions:

- Isitlegal and in keeping with the spirit of the law?

« Isit consistent with our Code?

- Am | making an informed decision?

- Dol need to consult others?

- Who else could be affected by the decision?

- Could it reflect negatively on me or the Bank?

« How would it look in the media?

« Would | be embarrassed if others knew | had made this decision?

- Does it feel right?

2. OUR PEOPLE
2.1 Introduction

We recognize that our employees are our most valuable asset and essential for the success of our business.
We aim to provide a safe working environment in which you are treated fairly and with respect.

2.2 Performance Management

We develop, support and embed a culture of high performance where relevant objectives are agreed,
reviewed and assessed; where exceeding objectives is recognised; and where development is supported.

2.3 Equal Opportunities

We offer equal treatment to all job applicants and employees. We will not discriminate on the grounds of
race, religion, color, nationality, ethnic or national origin, gender, marital status, disability or any other basis.

Discrimination, harassment, violence or bullying of any kind will not be tolerated.

It is each employee’s responsibility to report any behavior that violates this Code. We take all reports seriously.

2.4 Fitness for Duty
You are responsible for ensuring you are fit and able to perform your duties when you report for work.
The use of alcohol or illegal drugs on our premises or during working hours is prohibited.

Showing signs of intoxication or consumption of illegal drugs may result in disciplinary action including
termination of employment.
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2.5 Safe Workplace

You have a personal responsibility while at work to take reasonable care of your own and others’ health
and safety.

In particular:

- Adhere to your local Fire, Health and Safety Procedures

- Ensure you understand the risks present in the daily work environment and take all reasonable
precautions to prevent workplace accidents and injuries

- Immediately report any unsafe work conditions, serious accidents or ‘near misses’ to your
line manager

- Know what to do in the event of an emergency
- Complete Health and Safety training as assigned by the Bank

- Participate in fire drills and building evacuation exercises

3. OUR CLIENTS AND THE MARKETPLACE
3.1 Introduction

The trust of our clients and the marketplace is the cornerstone of our success.

3.2 Treating Clients Fairly

Treating clients in a fair, ethical and non-discriminatory manner, throughout the life cycle of the relationship,
is an integral part of our working culture. This helps to build long-term relationships with our clients.

Always make sure:

- Communications with our clients are clear, fair and not misleading
«  Only to sell approved products and services that are suitable for a client

- To handle client complaints sensitively, professionally and efficiently
Never take advantage of our clients through:

«  Manipulation

- Concealment

- Abuse of privileged information

- Misrepresentation of material facts

« Any other unfair practice

3.3 Insider Trading

Insider trading undermines the integrity of the financial system by creating an unfair advantage. As an
employee, you may have access to non-public material information (“Inside Information”) about the Bank,
our clients or other companies that we do business with. Inside Information, if it were known to the public, is
likely to affect the market price of a company’s securities, or affect the decision of a reasonable investor to
buy or sell a company’s securities.
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It is a criminal offence to communicate unpublished price sensitive information to anyone who is not
authorised to have it, or to act on such information.

In particular do not:

- Trade securities for your own account or any account over which you exercise control when you have
Inside Information relating to those securities

- (Cause anyone else to trade securities by tipping them off or passing on Inside Information relating to
those securities

3.4 Confidentiality

All information that you obtain through your employment with us should be considered private and
confidential and for internal use only unless clearly stated otherwise by the Information Owner in writing.

You must not disclose Bank, client or any other parties’ information unless you are authorised to do so or
required by law. This obligation applies even after you have left employment with the Bank.

You should use the information obtained through your employment with us only to perform your
duties with the Bank. You should not use confidential information obtained while employed with
previous employers.

3.5 Supplier Relationships

You must ensure that all suppliers and contractors are treated fairly and that their selection is based on
price, quality of service and level of exposure to outsourcing risk. There should be no personal favoritism.

Alwauys follow our Outsourcing Standard and your local Procurement Procedures when dealing with
suppliers and contractors.

3.6 Conduct with Competitors

Any information gathered on the marketplace and our competitors must be obtained only through legal and
ethical channels.

You must not engage an employee of a competitor to gain proprietary information.

3.7 Public Communication

Only designated spokespersons are permitted to issue statements on behalf of the Bank. Refer to the
Media Policy for more guidance.

3.8 Political Neutrality

We are politically neutral. If you wish to participate in political activities such as campaigning or making
political donations, do so in your own personal capacity and not as a representative of the Bank. Such
activities should not be undertaken on our premises, using the Bank’s equipment or during working hours.
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4. FINANCIAL CRIME

4.1 Introduction

We are committed to promoting the highest ethical and professional standards and strive to prevent the
Bank from being used, intentionally or unintentionally, for financial crime.

We adhere to applicable laws, requlations and international standards. This includes the financial crime
regulations issued by the Central Bank of Bahrain and by local regulators of those jurisdictions in which we
operate. We also adhere to the recommendations of the Financial Action Task Force (FATF).

Financial crime includes, among others:

Money Laundering
Terrorist Financing
Breach of Sanctions
Fraud

Bribery and Corruption

Tax Evasion

4.2 Your Responsibilities in Combating Financial Crime

You are required to:

Act with due care and diligence in your job role, preventing the Bank from being used as a conduit for
financial crime activity

Understand and comply with our Financial Crime Policy, Standards and Procedures

Understand how to identify red flags indicating that a client may be seeking to engage in a
relationship or transaction for other than a lawful purpose or with the proceeds of illegal activity

Ensure sufficient customer due diligence has been conducted for new and existing client
relationships, in line with the Bank's policies, standards and procedures

Attend Financial Crime training as your job requires and achieve required pass rates
Understand and follow applicable Sanctions restrictions and the Sanctions Policy
Report suspicious activity immediately to your Unit MLRO

Not “tip off” a client if you have a suspicion or if you are reporting that suspicion.

4.3 Bribery and Corruption

We take a zero-tolerance approach to bribery and corruption. This includes giving or receiving qifts,
entertainment, facilitation payments or anything else of value if it is intended to obtain, or appears to give,
an improper business advantage.
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In many of the jurisdictions in which we operate or do business, it is a criminal offence to offer, promise, give,
request, or accept a bribe, and significant penalties can be imposed if found quilty.

All gifts, entertainment and hospitality given or received with a nominal or actual value of USD100 or above
should be reported in accordance with the Anti-Bribery and Corruption Standard.

4.4 Fraud

Fraud is an unlawful act — either an act or the omission of an act — that is performed by using intentionally
and personally, unfair means, and sometimes even lawful means, in order to obtain, directly or indirectly, an
undue tangible or intangible advantage, or a consent, or in order to escape an obligation of any nature, for
its own benefit or for the benefit of a third partu.

Fraud, whether attempted or realised, is unacceptable to the Bank and its employees because it is unlawful,
dishonest and threatens the Bank’s reputation.

You are required to immediately report any fraud event (suspected, attempted or realised) to your Unit
Head of Fraud Risk or through the available whistleblowing channels (refer to the ‘Raising Concerns’ section
of this document).

4.5 Expenses

You are responsible for the accurate and timely reporting of expenses. All expenditures must be business
related and approved in accordance with the Business Travel Standard and Business Entertainment
Standard. Further, you must not use your business credit card for any purpose other than appropriate
business expenses.

4.6 Charities and Non-Profit Organisations
When getting involved with a charity or non-profit organisation, remember to:

- Make sure it does not interfere with your responsibilities at the Bank

- Not solicit clients, suppliers or other employees for contributions or other participation

At times we may be asked by clients or suppliers to make a contribution to a charity or non-profit
organisation. All contributions must be pre-approved by the Unit Head of Compliance to ensure they do not
contravene any local laws or regulations and the Donations Policy.

5. DATA PRIVACY AND PROTECTION
5.1 Introduction

We build trust by collecting, storing, and using personal data responsibly and ethically as per the relevant
data protection laws and best practices. The protection of personal data is our responsibility and extends to
all third parties that process personal data on our behalf.
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5.2 Principles of Data Privacy and Protection

All employees are required to familiarise themselves with the Personal Data Protection Policy, and ensure
personal data is:

«  Processed lawfully, fairly and in a transparent manner in relation to the individuals

«  Processed in accordance with the purposes that it was originally identified for

- Collected only to what is necessary in relation to the purposes for which it is processed

- Correct, accurate and rectified where necessary

«  Kept for no longer than is necessary for the purposes for which it is processed

- Appropriately secured and protected to preserve its Confidentiality and Integrity

5.3 Personal Data Breaches

You are required to immediately report any personal data breaches (suspected, attempted or realised) to
your Local Data Protection Coordinator.

6. PROTECTING OUR ASSETS
6.1 Introduction

You are responsible for safequarding the Bank’s assets against theft, loss, waste or abuse. They should be
used for our legitimate business only.

Our assets include:

- Office furnishings, equipment and supplies
- Software, information systems and support systems either on premises or on The Cloud

« Records and data (including backup and portable media) whether stored electronically or in
paper form

- (Cash and securities
- Loans and other claims on clients and third parties
- Intellectual property

« Client relationships

6.2 Information Security

Information and information systems are vital to our business and operations. Incidents involving the loss of
confidentiality, integrity or availability of information can be costly and damaging to our reputation.

We may monitor, review and disclose data that you create, store, send or receive on our systems (including
approved cloud-based solutions). You should not have any expectation of personal privacy when you use
our systems or infrastructure.

You must adhere to our Information Security Policy. In particular, you must not:

- Use unapproved services, tools, software or cloud-based solutions to perform your job or share
information with external parties or unauthorised internal personnel
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- Send confidential information outside our network without using an approved encryption or
security program

- Send confidential or non-public information to your personal email account

- Copy information stored on Bank assets to external media or public cloud sites

- Share business information with external parties using unapproved communication channels
- Violate software licensing agreements or intellectual property rights

- Use the Bank's computer and network resources to commit illegal activities or use them in a manner
that could be embarrassing or harmful to the Bank or detrimental to its reputation or interests

- Share your username and password with anyone or have possession of anyone else’s username
and password

- Try to get access to or scan systems, shared folders or network areas you are not entitled to

- Make unauthorised changes on the functionality or configuration of assets under your management
or control

- Leave sensitive information unattended, including your company laptop and authorised
mobile devices

- Disclose or discuss sensitive matters or proprietary or confidential information in public places,
including the Internet (e.q. public email, file sharing sites, social media, etc.).

- Access approved IT services, including cloud-based solutions, from unmanaged computers or
portable devices.

6.3 Intellectual Property

We own all rights, title and interest in all intellectual property that you develop during your employment
with us.

Intellectual property includes strategy papers, business plans, internal policies, standards and procedures,
improvements, ideas, processes or work related to the Bank.

6.4 Record Keeping

You are responsible for keeping accurate and complete records in accordance with relevant laws
and regulations.

7. CONFLICT OF INTEREST
7.1 Introduction

It is important you avoid situations where personal interests conflict, or appear to conflict, with the interests
of the Bank or our clients.

A conflict of interest exists, or may be perceived to exist, where a personal circumstance impairs
professional judgment or the ability to act in the best interest of the Bank or our clients.
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7.2 Avoiding Conflicts

It is difficult to identify every situation where a conflict, or perception of a conflict, may arise. You should use
good judgment and seek advice from the Unit Head of Compliance if you are unsure of the proper course
of action.

Typical conflicts that may arise are:

- An outside business interest

- Hiring or working with relatives, near relatives or Connected Persons (as defined in the Employment
of Relatives and Connected Persons Standard)

- Dealing on your own account or using your position in the Bank to gain an unfair advantage

- Acting for the Bank in a transaction or business relationship that involves yourself, your relatives or
other people or organisations where you or your relatives have a significant personal connection or
financial interest

You have a responsibility to identify and disclose any conflicts or potential conflicts of interest to your
Division Head, Head of HR and Head of Compliance.

7.3 Personal Finances

Conduct your own financial affairs responsibly, with integrity and in compliance with the law, to avoid
situations that could reflect unfavorably on the Bank.

In general, you may not:
- Participate in personal transactions with colleagues, clients or supgliers, including investment
activities (unless part of a Bank sponsored investment plan)

- Borrow from or lend money to your colleagues, clients or suppliers (except nominal amounts e.q.
for lunch)

8. SOCIAL MEDIA GUIDELINES FOR STAFF

All employees are required to familiarise themselves with the Media Policy, and display utmost caution while
interacting with the media and external parties regarding all matters related to the Bank and its business.

You are required to follow the below guidelines:

- Do not share confidential information: Do not post anything confidential about the Bank or any
information that is not shared by the Bank in the public domain on your personal accounts or any
social media platform. You may re-share the Bank’s official news and posts on your
personal accounts.

- Do not speak on behalf of Bank ABC: Only official spokespeople may speak on behalf of the Bank.

- Do not open any new social media accounts on behalf of the Bank or any of its units, for internal or
external audiences, without obtaining prior written consent from Group Corporate Communications.

- Treat your audiences with respect: Do not post hate, violent, threat or racist comments that you
wouldn't make at the workplace.
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- Think about the repercussions of what you say: Using your public voice to tarnish or malign the
reputation of the Bank and that of its stakeholders may negatively impact the business of the
organization you work for.

«  Personal views: When posting personal views about a subject relevant to the Bank or that of its
competitors, make it clear that these views are your own.

- Association: Bear in mind that as an employee of Bank ABC you are associated with the Bank. Please
ensure that your social media image is consistent with how you wish to present yourself with clients
and colleagues.

9. RELATIONS WITH REGULATORS AND AUDITORS

It is our aim to achieve excellence in compliance when meeting all relevant requlatory obligations.
Maintaining a strong and positive relationship with the requlators and other government organisations is
essential for ensuring the continued success of our business.

You must be completely open, candid, co-operative and prompt with requlators and external and internal
auditors, keeping them fully informed about matters which should reasonably be disclosed to them.

You must:

- Refer all enquiries received from requlators to your Unit Head of Compliance

- Do not contact the regulators unless authorised to do so by your Head of Compliance?

10. RAISING CONCERNS
We are committed to integrity, honesty and transparency in everything we do.

You are often the first person to realise that your co-workers are participating in activities that are
inappropriate or contrary to the Bank’s palicies, standards and procedures.

If you are aware or suspect violations to the Code of Conduct, our policies, standards and procedures, applicable
laws or regulations, you are obliged to promptly report such violations using the resources described below.

We treat all reports confidentially, fairly and in a timely manner. As long as you make the report in good faith
you will be protected from suffering any detriment, loss of employment or victimization.

You can raise your concerns through the Bank’s Hotline, email address or mailing address as mentioned in
the Group Employee Whistleblowing Palicy:

Hotline: +973 1754 3710
Email: gco-wb@bank-abc.com
Mail: Group Head of Compliance, Bank ABC, PO. Box 5698, Manama, Bahrain

If you do not receive a satisfactory response you may report your concern to the Group Chief Auditor:

Telephone: +973 1754 3350

Email: ga-wb@bank-abc.com

1 This does not prejudice your rights under the Group Employee Whistleblowing Policy
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